

pubs.acs.org/CR

Quantum Plasmonic Sensors

Changhyoup Lee,* Benjamin Lawrie, Raphael Pooser, Kwang-Geol Lee, Carsten Rockstuhl, and Mark Tame

Cite This: Chem. Rev. 2021, 121, 4743–4804		🔇 Read C	Read Online	
ACCESS	III Metrics & More		E Article Recommendations	

ABSTRACT: The extraordinary sensitivity of plasmonic sensors is well-known in the optics and photonics community. These sensors exploit simultaneously the enhancement and the localization of electromagnetic fields close to the interface between a metal and a dielectric. This enables, for example, the design of integrated biochemical sensors at scales far below the diffraction limit. Despite their practical realization and successful commercialization, the sensitivity and associated precision of plasmonic sensors are starting to reach their fundamental classical limit given by quantum fluctuations of light—known as the shot-noise limit. To improve the sensing performance of these sensors beyond the classical limit, quantum resources are increasingly being employed. This area of research has become known as "quantum plasmonic sensing", and it has experienced substantial activity in recent



years for applications in chemical and biological sensing. This review aims to cover both plasmonic and quantum techniques for sensing, and it shows how they have been merged to enhance the performance of plasmonic sensors beyond traditional methods. We discuss the general framework developed for quantum plasmonic sensing in recent years, covering the basic theory behind the advancements made, and describe the important works that made these advancements. We also describe several key works in detail, highlighting their motivation, the working principles behind them, and their future impact. The intention of the review is to set a foundation for a burgeoning field of research that is currently being explored out of intellectual curiosity and for a wide range of practical applications in biochemistry, medicine, and pharmaceutical research.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	4744
2. Plasmonic Sensors	4744
2.1. Surface Plasmon Polaritons	4745
2.2. Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensing	4747
2.2.1. Angular Interrogation	4748
2.2.2. Spectral Interrogation	4749
2.2.3. Limit of Detection	4749
2.3. Intensity vs Phase Sensing	4749
2.4. Localized Surface Plasmon Resonance Sens-	
ing	4750
2.4.1. Sensitivity and Figure of Merit	4751
2.4.2. Metamaterials	4752
2.4.3. Miniaturization	4752
2.4.4. Plasmon-Enhanced Fluorescence and	
Raman Scattering	4752
2.5. Surface Plasmon Resonance Imaging	4754
3. Quantum Sensors	4755
3.1. Parameter Estimation Theory: Cramér–Rao	
Bound	4755
3.1.1. Single Parameter Estimation	4755
3.1.2. Multiparameter Estimation	4757
3.2. Shot-Noise Limited Sensing	4758
3.2.1. Shot-Noise Limited Intensity Sensing	4758
3.2.2. Shot-Noise Limited Phase Sensing	4759
3.3. Subshot-Noise Intensity Sensing	4759

3.3.1. Quantum-Enhanced Intensity Sensing	4759
3.3.2. Multiparameter or Multimode Intensity	
Sensing	4760
3.3.3. Quantum Noise Reduction in Intensity	
Measurements	4763
3.4. Subshot-Noise Phase Sensing	4765
3.4.1. Phase Sensing in Mach–Zehnder Inter-	
ferometers	4765
3.4.2. Phase Sensing with NOON States	4766
3.4.3. Single-Mode Phase Sensing	4768
3.4.4. Multiple-Phase Sensing	4768
3.4.5. Quantum Sensing with SU(1,1) Interfer-	
ometers	4770
3.5. Quantum Sensing beyond the Cramér-Rao	
Bound	4772
Quantum-Enhanced Plasmonic Sensors	4772
4.1. Quantum Plasmonic Intensity Sensing	4773
4.1.1. Intensity Sensing with Discrete Variable	
States	4773

Received: September 23, 2020 Published: March 31, 2021





4.

4.1.2. Intensity Sensing with Continuous Var-			
iable States	4777		
4.1.3. Intensity Sensing Robust to Thermal			
Noise	4782		
4.2. Quantum Plasmonic Phase Sensing			
4.2.1. Phase Sensing with Discrete Variable			
States	4783		
4.2.2. Phase Sensing with Continuous Varia-			
ble States	4785		
4.3. Quantum Plasmonic Sensing Based on			
Emitter–Plasmon Coupling	4786		
5. Perspective and Outlook			
Appendix A: Multiparameter QFIM			
Appendix B: Calculation of Multiparameter QFIM			
Appendix C: CR Bound in a Lossy MZI			
Author Information			
Corresponding Author	4789		
Authors	4789		
Notes	4789		
Biographies	4789		
Acknowledgments			
Abbreviations			
Glossary			
References			

1. INTRODUCTION

Optical sensors are used in many areas of science and technology-notable examples include gyroscopes for navigation,¹ accelerometers for monitoring structural deformations² and seismic wave activity,³ electrochemical devices for measuring renewable energy storage,⁴ and density sensors for analyzing seawater in climate change research.⁵ Of particular interest to the biological and chemical sciences are sensors that measure the presence and behavior of bacteria, viruses, and proteins.⁶⁻⁹ Here, highly sensitive optical sensors provide a deeper understanding of the biochemical processes involved in a given scenario in a noninvasive label-free manner, enabling, for example, drug development for improved health care. Plasmonic systems based on metal nanostructures have long been used as a basis for optical sensors in this context.¹¹⁻¹³ The surface of a metal supports a quasiparticle known as a surface plasmon (SP),^{16,17} which enables electromagnetic field confinement below the diffraction limit¹⁸⁻²⁰ and allows enhanced sensing compared to conventional optical sensors.²¹⁻²⁸ Indeed, since the 1990s, surface plasmon resonance (SPR) sensors have been commercialized by several companies;^{24,29-32} they are now a vital tool for studying biomolecular interactions for fundamental and applied sciences.^{33,34}

Despite their successful commercialization, the high sensitivity and precision of plasmonic sensors are beginning to reach a fundamental limit given by quantum fluctuations of light—known as *the shot-noise limit* (SNL).^{35,36} In the past few years, improved sensitivity and precision beyond the SNL has been shown to be achievable for practical optical sensors using concepts from quantum metrology.^{37–46} Several impressive experiments have demonstrated the basic working principles of quantum metrology using various types of quantum techniques in bulk optics,^{47–51} integrated optics,⁵² and biological systems.^{42,53} It is natural to ask whether these techniques can also be applied to plasmonic sensors to improve their performance. This question has been further motivated by

recent advances in our understanding of the fundamental theory underlying quantum plasmonic systems, which has recently been extensively developed and experimentally studied.^{54–67} Advances in quantum plasmonics have enabled research groups to pursue the application of quantum metrology principles to plasmonic sensors in just the past few years. This area of research has become known as "quantum plasmonic sensing". As the community moves further into this growing area, it is now an ideal time to look back to review and consolidate the past research achievements, as well as to look forward to identify future applications in the biochemical sciences and potential technologies beyond.

The interested reader can find a multitude of review articles on plasmonic sensors that have already been written from various perspectives over the last few decades.^{11–14,21,23–25,27,28,34,68} This review, on the other hand, aims to comprehensively introduce for the first time the general framework developed for quantum plasmonic sensors in recent years and covers the basic theory behind the framework. While the goal is to present a broad overview of the research landscape, we also focus on several key works, where we highlight the motivation, provide details of the working principles, and discuss the future impact. We have endeavored to include all relevant works in this exciting and growing multidisciplinary area of research.

This review is aimed at researchers working in the broad fields of plasmonics, biochemistry, photonics, quantum optics, and quantum information science. In order for it to be accessible and beneficial to readers from all these fields, the philosophy has been to structure the review into three distinct sections: In section 2, we introduce conventional plasmonic sensing, where we describe the different types of plasmonic sensors that exist in research and industry based on the principles of classical physics, along with their sensing performance. In section 3, we introduce quantum sensing, where we describe the tools and concepts that have taken conventional sensing from the classical to the quantum regime, which offers a significantly improved sensing performance. In section 4, we then bring the concepts of sections 2 and 3 together and review recent work that has focused on integrating quantum sensing techniques with conventional plasmonic sensors. We describe how this approach has opened up a new route for improving the performance of plasmonic sensors.

2. PLASMONIC SENSORS

The sensitivity of a sensor, including that of a plasmonic sensor, is generally defined as

$$S_{y} = \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}x} \right| \tag{1}$$

where *x* represents an implicit parameter to be estimated from a measurement of an explicit quantity y.²³ The sensitivity can thus be understood as the extent to which the explicit parameter *y* changes for a given change of the implicit parameter *x*. Such a relation between *x* and *y* strongly depends on the physical system used to encode the parameter to be estimated, but it also depends on the physical quantities that *x* and *y* represent. As will be shown in the following sections, in a chosen plasmonic setting, various physical parameters *y* can be measured to estimate an individual parameter *x* at stake. An appropriate sensor, therefore, needs to be considered in a way such that the sensitivity expressed in eq 1 takes rather large values. Plasmonic sensors, which exploit the interaction of light with the materials to be sensed at the interface between a metal and a dielectric in the sensing process, cope with this requirement very well. In addition to a high sensitivity, another appealing feature of plasmonic systems is the capability to confine the light to a spatial domain well below the diffraction limit, which is not possible with conventional photonic systems.^{18–20} Therefore, plasmonic sensors are known to enable compact subdiffraction-limited sensing with high sensitivity. This also allows the measurement of tiny quantities of analytes, which is a feature that has been prompting their development now for quite some time.

In this section, we explain the physical basis of plasmonic sensing with typical basic structures. We describe how plasmonic features can be designed to optimize the sensitivity. We also introduce a few plasmonic sensors that have attracted intensive interest from various scientific communities. The plasmonic sensors in this section are considered to be operated with classical light, but in the following sections we will consider how quantum states of light and quantum measurements can be combined with such plasmonic sensors to further improve their performance.

2.1. Surface Plasmon Polaritons

According to established notation, a plasmon is a charge density oscillation in a metal. A plasmon polariton is a hybrid excitation where an electromagnetic field is coupled to a plasmon. The additional term "surface" expresses that such an excitation is confined to the interface between a metal and a dielectric. To understand the appearance and the basic physical properties of surface plasmon polaritons (SPPs), we start by considering an interface between a bulk dielectric and a bulk metal, as shown in Figure 1(a). Here, "bulk" simply implies



Figure 1. (a) Electric field profile of surface plasma waves, the quanta of which are called SPPs, at the interface between a bulk dielectric and a bulk metal. (b) Dispersion relation for a SPP at the interface between the metal and dielectric—see eq 12—and a freely propagating field mode in the dielectric $[k_{\parallel,\text{max}} = \sqrt{\epsilon_{\rm d}} (\omega/c)]$. The frequency $\omega_{\rm sp}$ denotes the surface plasma frequency—the frequency at which surface electrons collectively oscillate.

that the size of the material is much larger than the wavelength of light in all directions. That is, we consider the dielectric and metal as semi-infinite half spaces.

For a given material distribution in space, various electromagnetic modes can be found by solving Maxwell's equations. The "macroscopic" Maxwell equations in the time domain are written as⁶⁹

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r}, t) = \rho_{\text{ext}}(\mathbf{r}, t)$$
⁽²⁾

$$\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{B}(\boldsymbol{r}, t) = 0 \tag{3}$$

$$\nabla \times E(\mathbf{r}, t) = -\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}, t)}{\partial t}$$
(4)

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}, t) = \mathbf{J}_{\text{macr}}(\mathbf{r}, t) + \frac{\partial \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r}, t)}{\partial t}$$
(5)

Note that the electric field E(r, t) and magnetic induction B(r, t) are experimentally observable fields, while the electric displacement field D(r, t) and magnetic field H(r, t) are auxiliary fields introduced to capture the response of the materials. $J_{macr}(r, t)$ is the macroscopic current density, and $\rho_{ext}(r, t)$ is the external (free) charge density, respectively. The latter, however, vanishes when considering optical problems, and it is assumed to be zero from now on. The macroscopic current density is separated into a conduction and a convection current. The conduction current will depend on the electric field while the convection current depends on the physical motion of matter. The latter is assumed to be vanishing in the systems we look at; there is only a conduction current.

To solve the Maxwell equations, the relationship between the observable and auxiliary fields needs to be specified. This is done by constitutive relations that are given for the electric and magnetic fields in the time domain by $D(r, t) = \epsilon_0 E(r, t) + P(r,$ t) and $H(r, t) = B(r, t)/\mu_0 - M(r, t)$. The electric polarization P(r, t) and the magnetization M(r, t) can depend, in general, on both the electric and magnetic field. In the time domain and while restricting ourselves to a linear system governed by response theory, the dependency of the polarization (magnetization) can usually be expressed by a convolution of the electric (magnetic) field with some material specific response function.

In the context of this review it is fully sufficient to consider isotropic, homogeneous, nonmagnetic materials $[\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{r}, t) = 0,$ i.e., $\mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}, t) = \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}, t)/\mu_0]$ without electromagnetic coupling. The latter property would lead to bianisotropic effects. This boils down to considering a polarization that depends only on the electric field.

While the expression of the material properties in the time domain based on a convolution is cumbersome, the usual approach in the linear regime is to Fourier-transform all the fields into the frequency domain by making a time-harmonic Ansatz according to $E(\mathbf{r}, t) = E(\mathbf{r}, \omega)e^{-i\omega t}$. The convolution in the time domain will be a product in the frequency domain, and the constitutive relations collapse to some algebraic equations. As the Fourier-transformed polarization and the Fourier-transformed conduction current density appear on an equal footing, these two terms are usually combined. The response of the individual bound charges (leading to a polarization) and the induced conduction currents in the bulk materials in response to an electromagnetic field are then characterized by the relative electric permittivity in the frequency domain, i.e., ϵ_{d} for the dielectric and $\epsilon_{\mathrm{m}}(\omega)$ for the metal, and we write $D(\mathbf{r}, \omega) = \epsilon_0 \epsilon_i(\omega) E(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$ in the respective material *j*. Note that the permittivity of any material (except the vacuum) depends on the frequency, sometimes very well pronounced. Only for dielectric materials in the transparency window can the permittivity ϵ_d be assumed to be nondispersive with a real positive value to a good approximation. For the metal, the electric permittivity can be described by the Drude model, written as¹

$$\epsilon_{\rm m}(\omega) = 1 - \frac{\omega_{\rm p}^2}{\omega^2 + i\gamma\omega} \tag{6}$$

where γ denotes a damping factor and $\omega_{\rm p}$ is the plasma frequency. We thus have $\epsilon_{\rm m}(\omega) = \epsilon'_{\rm m}(\omega) + i\epsilon''_{\rm m}(\omega)$. One can see that when $\gamma < \sqrt{\omega_{\rm p}^2 - \omega^2}$, the real part of the permittivity is negative, i.e., $\epsilon'_{\rm m}(\omega) < 0$, which applies to typical metals (e.g., gold and silver) at optical frequencies. An extended Drude model can also be found for the metal, for example in ref 70, which fits the empirically measured data for the dispersion in the case of gold in the range of wavelength between 500 nm and 1 μ m, as reported in ref 71.

In the structure considered above, various electromagnetic modes can be found by considering the wave equation in the frequency domain, $\nabla^2 E(\mathbf{r}, \omega) + \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \epsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega) E(\mathbf{r}, \omega) = 0$, that can be derived directly from the Maxwell equations.^{17,69} For a homogeneous space, i.e., $\epsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega) = \epsilon(\omega)$, propagating modes exist in the bulk dielectric and exhibit a dispersion relation linking the wavenumber |k| = k of the spatial part $E(\mathbf{r}, \omega) = \mathcal{E}(\mathbf{r})e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}$ to the frequency ω of the temporal part $e^{-i\omega t}$, given by $k = \frac{\omega}{c} \sqrt{\epsilon_d}$ [straight line in Figure 1(b) as the permittivity of the dielectric is assumed to be nondispersive], where *c* is the speed of light in a vacuum, $k = \sqrt{k_x^2 + k_v^2 + k_z^2}$ and the k_i are the components of the wavevector k for the mode. In Figure 1(b) we consider the particular case of the modes propagating in a direction set by the plane of the interface, i.e., the x-y plane, so that $k_z = 0$ and $k_{\parallel} = \sqrt{k_x^2 + k_y^2} = k$. In the metallic half space, evanescent plane waves exist as elementary solutions of the wave equation in free space.⁷²

To find the solution in the more complicated situation of the two semi-infinite half spaces, a usual approach would be to expand the solution in each of the half spaces into the elementary solutions in free space and to match the amplitudes at the interfaces. This requires the specification of the necessary interface conditions. They can be written in the frequency domain as⁶⁹

$$\boldsymbol{n} \times (\boldsymbol{E}_{\rm m} - \boldsymbol{E}_{\rm d}) = 0 \tag{7}$$

$$\boldsymbol{n} \cdot (\boldsymbol{B}_{\mathrm{m}} - \boldsymbol{B}_{\mathrm{d}}) = 0 \tag{8}$$

$$\boldsymbol{n} \cdot (\boldsymbol{D}_{\mathrm{m}} - \boldsymbol{D}_{\mathrm{d}}) = 0 \tag{9}$$

$$\boldsymbol{n} \times (\boldsymbol{H}_{\rm m} - \boldsymbol{H}_{\rm d}) = 0 \tag{10}$$

where n is the normal vector characterizing the interface. This implies that the tangential components of the electric and magnetic fields are continuous and the normal components of the electric displacement and magnetic induction are continuous.

From such a procedure, propagating modes bound to the metal-dielectric interface as solutions to the wave equation can be found as well.¹⁷ These are hybridized modes, in that they correspond to a coupling between the electromagnetic field and longitudinal plasma oscillations, i.e., density oscillations of electrons in the conduction band of the metal. The modes are called surface plasma waves [lower curve in Figure 1(b)]. In the limit of large k_{\parallel} , the modes have a corresponding small wavelength and an electrostatic approach can be used. The modes can thus be obtained for the electric potential Φ as a solution to the Laplace equation $\nabla^2 \Phi = 0$ for the single interface geometry, leading to the relation $\epsilon_{\rm m}(\omega)$ +

 $\epsilon_d = 0$. Substituting the Drude model of eq 6 into $\epsilon_m(\omega)$ with γ = 0 for simplicity, one finds the surface plasma frequency $\omega_{\rm sp} = \omega_{\rm p}/\sqrt{1 + \epsilon_{\rm d}}$. The quanta of these surface plasma waves are called SPs¹⁷ and were first predicted by Ritchie.⁷³ In the limit of small k_{\parallel} , the modes have a corresponding long wavelength, where charge is transported over a considerable distance during the plasma oscillation. The resulting current sets up additional electromagnetic fields that interact back again with the electrons during their oscillation, causing retardation. In this regime, the wave equation needs to be used to obtain solutions for the modes. The quanta of these surface plasma waves are called SPPs and contain SPs in the limit $k_{\parallel} \rightarrow$ ∞ . The word "polariton" emphasizes the joint interaction between the matter part of the excitation (the electron plasma oscillation or plasmon) and the light part of the excitation (the electromagnetic field or photon).⁵⁴ In this section, we will use a classical description of SPPs, i.e., surface plasma waves, and show how they enable classical plasmonic sensing, but we keep

This also has the benefit that it anticipates their use in the quantum regime, which we cover in detail in section 4. From the wave equation, the electric field of the confined SPP mode at the interface can be written as¹⁷

the quantized name, SPP, as is regularly done in the literature.

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{i}(\boldsymbol{r}, t) = \mathcal{E}_{i}(\boldsymbol{r})e^{i(k_{\parallel}\kappa - \omega t)}e^{-\kappa_{i}|\boldsymbol{z}|}$$
(11)

where $\mathcal{E}_j(\mathbf{r})$ represents a vectorial field profile for the mode, the subscript *j* denotes either dielectric (d) or metal (m), and we are considering propagation in the *x* direction, i.e., $k_x = k_{\parallel}$ and $k_y = 0$. The vectorial field profile, $\mathcal{E}_j(\mathbf{r})$, corresponds to a field with directionality in the *x* and *z* direction, i.e., a transverse magnetic field (in the *y* direction). This is due to the imaginary part of the conductivity associated with the Drude model being positive.⁷⁴ The dispersion relation for the parallelto-interface wavenumber is written as¹⁷

$$k_{\parallel}^{\text{SPP}}(\omega) = \frac{\omega}{c} \sqrt{\frac{\epsilon_{\text{d}} \epsilon_{\text{m}}(\omega)}{\epsilon_{\text{d}} + \epsilon_{\text{m}}(\omega)}}$$
(12)

This dispersion relation is valid for both real and complex $\epsilon_{\rm m}(\omega)$, i.e., for metals with and without attenuation. When ω approaches the surface plasma frequency $\omega_{\rm sp}$, the denominator $\epsilon_{\rm d} + \epsilon_{\rm m}(\omega)$ approaches zero, so the wavenumber $k_{\parallel}^{\rm SPP}(\omega)$ diverges. This is another indication that SPs can be understood as the limiting case of SPPs for large wavenumber.

In terms of field confinement, the electrons at the metal surface strongly bind the electromagnetic field of the SPP to the interface, resulting in a huge enhancement of the electromagnetic field near the surface. The field given in eq 11 in the z direction is generally "subwavelength" confined, as the field falls off as $e^{-\kappa_j |z|}$, where $\kappa_j = \sqrt{(k_{\parallel}^{\text{SPP}})^2 - k_0^2 \epsilon_j}$ and $k_0 = \frac{\omega}{1}$. On the other hand, the confinement of the field in the x-y plane is no longer limited as it would be in a bulk material, i.e., limited by the usual three-dimensional diffraction limit.^{18,19,54} The field given in eq 11 possesses a plane wave component with respect to a single wavevector k_{\parallel} and in the present discussion has an infinite spatial extent in the y direction. While convenient for mathematical modeling, an actual SPP field will be laterally confined in the y direction, and for a fixed frequency ω it must be made from a sum of plane waves via Fourier synthesis, each wave with different k_x and k_y



Figure 2. Kretschmann configuration for plasmonic sensing. (a) The system is composed of three layers, where a thin metallic film is sandwiched by a prism with permittivity ϵ_p and an analyte with permittivity ϵ_a . (b) Two examples of an analyte are shown. In (i) a ligand molecule binds to a receptor on the metal surface modifying the local permittivity ϵ_a . In (ii) a biomolecule is present near the surface resulting in a change of ϵ_a . (c) Dispersion relation for light and SPPs in the system. The labels "SPP(a)" and "SPP(p)" denote the SPP mode at the analyte-metal interface and the prism-metal interface, respectively. The corresponding surface plasma frequencies are given as $\omega_{sp}^{(a)}$ and $\omega_{sp}^{(p)}$. The incident light in the prism region (straight line) cannot cross the dispersion curve for "SPP(p)", whereas the evanescent field on the opposite side of the prism (the same straight line) can cross the dispersion curve for "SPP(a)".

components. The corresponding spatial extent of such a confined field can be smaller than that allowed in the bulk dielectric. This leads to a SPP to be described as "subdiffraction" confined on the surface, with the field obeying a more compact two-dimensional diffraction limit for the geometry.¹⁹ Such a confinement in space on the surface (subdiffraction) and perpendicular to the surface (subwavelength) is the inherent feature that enables SPP modes to be highly sensitive to the optical properties of the dielectric medium.

When the metal-dielectric interface is illuminated with light from the dielectric region, the dispersion curve of the radiation mode, k^{in} , does not cross the dispersion curve of the SPP, k_{\parallel}^{SPP} , for a given permittivity $\epsilon_{\rm d}$ in the dielectric for any frequency ω [see Figure 1(b) for the extreme case where $k_{\parallel}^{in} = k^{in} = \frac{\omega}{c} \sqrt{\epsilon_d}$]. In other words, the parallel-to-interface wavenumber $k_{\parallel}^{in}(\omega)$ of the incident light can never be equal to $k_{\parallel}^{\text{SPP}}(\omega)$ of eq 12 for a fixed frequency. This means that any light directly incident on the metal cannot excite SPPs. A novel scheme is therefore required to satisfy the excitation condition $k_{\parallel}^{in}(\omega) = k_{\parallel}^{SPP}(\omega)$. To this end, various schemes have been demonstrated for the excitation of SPPs at the interface between a bulk metal and a bulk dielectric, e.g., a prism,^{75,76} a grating,¹⁶ a randomly rough surface,^{77,78} or a scanning near-field probe with subwavelength aperture.⁷⁹ The most widely used scheme is the prism setup, with two typical configurations: the Otto configuration⁷⁵ and the Kretschmann configuration.⁷⁶ The former configuration requires dedicated techniques in practice, while the latter configuration has led to many successful applications in plasmonic sensing,¹⁰ including commercialized versions. Therefore, we will focus on the Kretschmann configuration as a plasmonic sensing platform and elaborate on various assessments of its sensing performance in the next section.

2.2. Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensing

SPPs at the metal-dielectric interface can only be excited when the excitation condition is satisfied, i.e., the mode matching condition $k_{\parallel}^{in}(\omega) = k_{\parallel}^{SPP}(\omega)$. However, realizing the excitation condition is practically not easy because the dispersion relation of eq 12 is sensitive to the optical properties of the interfaced medium, i.e., the permittivity of the dielectric ϵ_d . Thus, when the aforementioned schemes are used to excite SPPs for a given structure, the system parameters need to be finely tuned and carefully stabilized in a controlled manner to satisfy the resonance condition. This might be undesirable and impractical from a general point of view, but paradoxically it is the desired feature for sensing in general. This is the basic principle of SPR sensing.

We consider the most paradigmatic setup for the excitation of SPPs, the so-called Kretschmann configuration, that consists of three layers: the first layer is a prism $(\epsilon_1 = \epsilon_p)$, the second layer is a metal film $[\epsilon_2 = \epsilon_m(\omega)]$, and the third layer is a medium of an analyte ($\epsilon_3 = \epsilon_a$), as shown in Figure 2(a). Examples of the analyte medium are given in Figure 2(b). Suppose that light is injected toward the metal interface from the prism region below, with an incident angle θ_{in} . The parallelto-interface wavenumber of light impinging on the metal film is given as $k_{\parallel}(\omega) = \sqrt{\epsilon_{\rm p}} (\omega/c) \sin \theta_{\rm in}$ and as mentioned, it is always smaller than the wavenumber of a SPP at the interface between the prism and the metal film for a fixed frequency ω ; that is, SPPs cannot be excited via direct illumination. However, when the incident angle is greater than the critical angle, this leads to total internal reflection, and subsequently it causes the excitation of an evanescent field on the opposite side of the prism. The parallel-to-interface wavenumber of the evanescent field is still the same as the incident one, as it is a conserved quantity because of the translation invariance of the interface. When the thickness of the metal film is small, the decaying tale of the evanescent field can reach the interface between the metal film and the analyte region, where the wavenumber of the SPP is given by $k_{\parallel}^{\text{SPP}}(\omega)$ with $\epsilon_{d} = \epsilon_{a}$ being smaller than ϵ_{p} . Consequently, for a SPP at the metal-analyte interface, the resonant condition $k_{\parallel}(\omega) = k_{\parallel}^{\text{SPP}}(\omega)$ can be met for a specific incidence angle called the resonance angle $heta_{
m res}$. This is shown in Figure 2(c) as a crossing point (star) between the dispersion curves. The SPP at the metal-analyte interface is thus excited via so-called evanescent field coupling. For a full resonant excitation of SPPs, the spatial mode of the evanescent field should have a significant overlap with that of the SPP. Furthermore, a finite beam width of the incoming light and the



Figure 3. Angular sensitivity in (a) and the spectral sensitivity in (b) are investigated as a function of the wavelength injected into the prism coupler. Example setups consider glass (SF14 or BK7), metal (gold and silver), and analyte ($n_a = 1.32$), for which the sensitivities of eqs 15 and 16 are evaluated (see solid, dashed, dot-dashed curves, whose details are provided in the legend) in (a) and (b), respectively, together with an asymptotic sensitivity in the limit of long wavelengths (dotted line) and sensitivities calculated numerically via Fresnel equations (crosses) for a structure with SF14-prism and 50 nm thick gold film. Reprinted with permission from ref 22. Copyright 1999 Elsevier.

radiative and damped nature of the SPP mode need to be considered to include practical aspects involved in the conversion process. 80

When all the coupling conditions are fulfilled, the total internal reflection is attenuated, an effect known as attenuated total internal reflection (ATR). Observing that the reflectance drops down from near-unity to zero, one can indirectly certify that the incident light is converted into a SPP mode. To see this in theory, one can solve Maxwell's equations for the three-layer system and obtain the reflection coefficient written as¹⁶

$$r_{\rm spp} = \frac{e^{i2k_2d}r_{23} + r_{12}}{e^{i2k_2d}r_{23}r_{12} + 1}$$
(13)

where d is the thickness of the metal film, $r_{uv} = \left(\frac{k_u}{\epsilon_u} - \frac{k_v}{\epsilon_v}\right) / \left(\frac{k_u}{\epsilon_u} + \frac{k_v}{\epsilon_v}\right) \text{ for } u, v \in \{1, 2, 3\},$ $k_{\mu} = \sqrt{\epsilon_{\mu}} (\omega/c) [1 - (\epsilon_{1}/\epsilon_{\mu}) \sin^{2} \theta_{in}]^{1/2}$ denotes the normalto-surface component of the wave vector in the *u*th layer and ϵ_{μ} is the respective permittivity. The resonant excitation of SPPs can be identified by a dip in the reflectance $R_{spp} = |r_{spp}|^2$ measured in terms of the incident angle $\theta_{\rm in}$, the wavelength λ , or the frequency ω [see inset of Figure 2(a)]. The reflectance dip is highly sensitive to the permittivity ϵ_a of an analyte, so analysis of the reflected light enables the estimation of various kinds of implicit parameters that characterize the optical properties of an analyte or its relevant effects. For example, SPR sensors can be used to characterize kinetic parameters,⁸¹⁻⁸⁴ such as the equilibrium constant, dissociation constant, and association constant. They can also be used for sensing of structural or material parameters, 23,85,86 such as the thickness of adsorbed molecules and their refractive index. Interestingly, these examples can be understood by a single phenomenological and macroscopic parameter-a refractive index $(n_a = \sqrt{\epsilon_a})$ that changes. Therefore, for the sake of simplicity, but without loss of generality, we will focus on refractive index sensing. Furthermore, specificity, i.e. the response of the sensor to changes in a specific type of environment, can be achieved in SPR sensors by coating the

metal surface with an appropriate receptor,²⁴ as shown in Figure 2(b)(i). This means that a specific ligand that is desired to be sensed will bind to it and effectively change the refractive index of the medium above the metal.

2.2.1. Angular Interrogation. When light is converted to a SPP in a prism setup such as the Kretschmann configuration, the reflectance is minimized, which ensures the resonant excitation of a SPP. By varying the incidence angle θ_{in} for a fixed frequency ω of light in the prism setup, one can find the reflectance dip at the resonant incident angle θ_{res} , at which the parallel-to-interface wavenumber of the exciting evanescent field is equal to that of the SPP. Mathematically we have

$$k_0 n_{\rm p} \sin \theta_{\rm res} = k_0 \sqrt{\frac{n_{\rm a}^2 \epsilon_{\rm m}'(\omega)}{n_{\rm a}^2 + \epsilon_{\rm m}'(\omega)}}$$
(14)

where $n_{a(p)} = \sqrt{\epsilon_{a(p)}}$ denotes the refractive index of the analyte (prism). It is clear to see that the resonance angle θ_{res} changes with the refractive index n_a of the analyte; that is, the reflectance curve shifts when the refractive index n_a changes. The sensitivity of the resonance angle with respect to changes in n_a can be obtained from eq 14 and is written as²²

$$S_{\theta} = \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}\theta_{\mathrm{res}}}{\mathrm{d}n_{\mathrm{a}}} \right| = \frac{\epsilon'_{\mathrm{m}}(\omega)\sqrt{-\epsilon'_{\mathrm{m}}}}{[\epsilon'_{\mathrm{m}}(\omega) + n_{\mathrm{a}}^{2}]\sqrt{\epsilon'_{\mathrm{m}}(\omega)[n_{\mathrm{a}}^{2} - n_{\mathrm{p}}^{2}] - n_{\mathrm{p}}^{2}n_{\mathrm{a}}^{2}}}$$
(15)

The angular sensitivity S_{θ} is given in degrees per refractive index unit (RIU) and monotonically increases with decreasing wavelength [see Figure 3(a)]. On the other hand, it diverges in the short wavelength regime because the sensitivity S_{θ} becomes singular when $\epsilon'_m(\omega) = n_p^2 n_a^2 / [n_a^2 - n_p^2]$. This indicates that the sensitivity of the Kretschmann configuration using gold is better than that using silver in the typical range of wavelengths of interest in optics [see Figure 3(a)] because the plasma frequency of gold is smaller than that of silver. Furthermore, a smaller contrast between n_a and n_p is helpful for increasing the angular sensitivity, so for example, using BK7glass is better than using SF14-glass for a given analyte with n_a = 1.32. As can be seen from Figure 3(a), typical sensitivities of a Kretschmann plasmonic sensor using the angular interrogation method are in the range $10-10^3$ degrees/RIU.

2.2.2. Spectral Interrogation. The reflectance curve can also be measured as a function of wavelength (or frequency) of the incident light that is injected into the prism setup with a fixed incidence angle. In this scenario, the reflectance dip is obtained at a resonance wavelength λ_{res} , which satisfies the resonant condition of eq 14, and shifts with the change of the refractive index n_a of an analyte. The spectral sensitivity can be obtained in the same way as above and is written as²²

$$S_{\lambda} = \left| \frac{d\lambda_{\text{res}}}{dn_{\text{a}}} \right| = \frac{\left[\epsilon'_{\text{m}}(\omega) \right]^2}{\frac{n_{\text{a}}^3}{2} \left| \frac{d\epsilon'_{\text{m}}(\omega)}{d\lambda_{\text{res}}} \right| + \left[\epsilon'_{\text{m}}(\omega) + n_{\text{a}}^2 \right] \epsilon'_{\text{m}}(\omega) \frac{dn_{\text{p}}}{d\lambda_{\text{res}}} \frac{n_{\text{a}}}{n_{\text{p}}}$$
(16)

Like the angular sensitivity S_{θ} , the spectral sensitivity S_{λ} exhibits a singularity but in the limit of long wavelengths; that is, the spectral sensitivity S_{λ} monotonically increases with the wavelength [see Figure 3(b)]. However, the spectral sensitivity S_{λ} increases with $|\epsilon_{\rm m}'(\omega)|$, so the Kretschmann configuration using silver is more sensitive than one using gold, which is contrary to the angular sensitivity S_{θ} . Here again, using BK7-glass is better than using SF14-glass for a given analyte with $n_{\rm a} = 1.32$ since the smaller the contrast between $n_{\rm p}$ and $n_{\rm a}$ is, the more sensitive the Kretschmann configuration setup is to the change of $n_{\rm a}$. As can be seen from Figure 3(b), typical sensitivities of a Kretschmann plasmonic sensor using the spectral interrogation method are in the range 10^3-10^5 nm/ RIU.

2.2.3. Limit of Detection. The higher the sensitivity S_y of a sensor, the more sensitively an explicit observable parameter y changes with respect to the change of an implicit parameter x of an analyte. However, the noise inevitably involved in the measurement limits the minimum detectable range Δy_{\min} of the parameter y being measured, even though the sensor may be highly sensitive. An overall figure of merit for sensing quality needs to take into account both the sensitivity S_y and the minimum detectable range Δy_{\min} or equivalently the value of the noise level. This leads to the definition of a "limit of detection" (LOD),^{23,27} also known as the resolution³⁵ of the sensor, written as

$$LOD = \frac{\Delta y_{\min}}{S_y}$$
(17)

Current state-of-the-art classical plasmonic sensors can achieve a minimum LOD of $\sim 10^{-6} - 10^{-7}$ RIU, which covers a wide range of optical designs, interrogation methods, and operating wavelengths.³⁵ Examples include the detection of nucleic acids identifying specific bacterial pathogens⁸⁷ and the monitoring of protein multilayer systems.⁸⁸ Although we focus on the refractive index change for the sensitivity, the LOD may be given in other units better suited to the specific application, depending on the quantity x being measured. Other commonly used units for the LOD in biochemical plasmonic sensors are ng/mL and nM, which correspond to measuring concentrations of substances. For consistency we will continue to use RIU, as it covers these cases also up to a functional relation. More generally, the above formula in eq 17 clearly shows that a good sensor requires the LOD to be reduced via the enhancement of the sensitivity S_{y} and a reduction of the

noise Δy_{\min} . As will be discussed in section 4, the LOD can be significantly reduced when the quantum resources described in section 3 are exploited together with plasmonic systems. In general, the sensitivity and specificity of the plasmonic sensor are not modified in the quantum scenario as they depend mainly on the physical setup; it is the reduction of the noise Δy_{\min} for a given integration time and intensity that is the crucial feature quantum sensing provides. In the literature, LOD, resolution, and sensitivity have often been interchangeably used in the sense that a small LOD (or resolution) implies a large sensitivity for a fixed Δy_{\min} and vice versa. For a classical plasmonic sensor, the main and inevitable contribution to the noise stems from "shot noise", as will be discussed in detail in section 3. On the other hand, for a quantum plasmonic sensor, the noise can be reduced below that of the shot noise.

The noise reduction offered by the use of quantum resources opens up a route to reducing the LOD below what is possible classically, which enables the precision of a plasmonic sensor to be improved so that it can detect smaller changes in the implicit parameter x of an analyte. Such an improvement is beneficial in many applications of plasmonic sensors, for instance the detection of pathogens in small quantities in the early stages of a disease,³³ or the contamination of food and water by minute amounts of a substance.⁶

2.3. Intensity vs Phase Sensing

When SPPs are excited at the resonance angle in the Kretschmann configuration, the total internal reflection of light is maximally attenuated. Around the resonance a steep curve in the intensity of the reflected light is exhibited as the incident angle is varied, as shown in the inset to Figure 2(a). The change of the intensity is often analyzed to infer the refractive index of an analyte medium or other relevant properties. In angular interrogation, the shift in the resonance angle corresponding to the minimum of the reflected intensity is measured. Another intensity-based sensing approach, known as "intensity modulation", is to fix the incident angle at the steepest point of the reflection curve (off-resonance), i.e., the inflection point, and monitor the change in the reflected intensity as the entire resonance curve shifts. Similar LODs to angular interrogation can be achieved using this method.³⁵ On the other hand, the phase of the reflected light also changes across the resonance curve and abruptly at the resonance angle, which can be detected in an interferometric setup. This indicates that detecting the phase or phase change of the reflected light can be exploited as an alternative sensing method to intensity sensing. Such behavior has motivated the study of various phase-sensitive plasmonic or SPR sensors linked with an interferometric system to measure a relative phase shift,^{89–91} including multipass interferometers,⁹² imaging interferometers,^{93,94} Mach-Zehnder interferometers (MZIs),^{95–99} and heterodyne interferometers.^{100,101}

Aside from the issue of noise in the measurement, a natural question arises: Which one is more sensitive, intensity sensing or phase sensing? There have been many studies comparing these two canonical sensing schemes. A number of works have shown that the sensitivity of phase sensing schemes is a few orders of magnitude higher than schemes based on the detection of the intensity change.^{96,101–114} Although contradictory observations may be found in the literature, e.g., ref 115, their paradoxical conclusion has been rebutted by other studies, for instance those mentioned in the dedicated discussion by Kabashin et al.,¹¹⁶ who report a Kretschmann



Figure 4. MNP supporting a LSP excitation when illuminated with an external electric field. (a) The MNP supports a LSP which is damped by internal ohmic loss and external radiation into the far-field. (b) An analyte, consisting of a ligand binding to a receptor, changes the background permittivity of the MNP. This causes a change in the resonance position of the system with respect to the wavelength of the exciting field.

plasmonic sensor with a LOD of 10^{-8} using phase sensing with measurement noise included, representing an improvement in the LOD of 2 orders of magnitude compared to intensity sensing.

Regardless of which one is more sensitive, intensity and phase are the canonical conjugate variables for light. One can almost always decompose plasmonic sensors or, even more generally, photonic sensors into two types: phase sensors and intensity sensors (often called amplitude sensors). Each type of plasmonic sensor works differently and consequently offers distinct functionalities and respective advantages.¹¹⁶ Such a distinction is also used to categorize quantum optical sensors, where useful quantum properties are different depending on the type of sensing being performed, as will be discussed in section 3. Thus, for quantum plasmonic sensors, intensity and phase sensing will also be treated separately in section 4. One may wish to have a combined version, but again they are complementary variables, so both parameters cannot be precisely estimated simultaneously due to the Heisenberg principle. This is also discussed in section 3.

2.4. Localized Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensing

The SPPs discussed above are propagating surface waves and exist at a planar interface between a dielectric and a metal. On the other hand, nonpropagating SPs can also be found in spatially localized metallic structures with a size comparable to or smaller than the wavelength of light. In this case, the conduction electrons oscillate coherently with a frequency that depends on the size and the shape of the metallic structure, the density and the effective mass of the electrons, and the medium in which the structure is embedded.¹¹⁷ The oscillation of the electron density is called a localized surface plasmon (LSP).^{118,119} Typical examples include metallic nanoparticles (MNPs),^{120,121} where the excited LSPs with discrete resonance modes lead to sharp spectral absorption and scattering profiles but also strong electromagnetic near-field enhancement in the proximity of metallic structures. Since LSPs can be excited in metallic structures with a size smaller than the diffraction limit, they have often been used for super-resolution imaging.¹²²

As the simplest example, consider a single spherical MNP with a radius r_0 that is embedded in a medium with a dielectric constant $\epsilon_{d\nu}$ as shown in Figure 4(a). When the MNP is illuminated by a single-mode electromagnetic field whose wavelength is much longer than the size of the MNP, i.e., $\lambda \gg$ r_0 , the electrostatic (or nonretarded) approximation can be applied. This approximation allows the problem to be solved using Laplace's equation $\nabla^2 \Phi(r) = 0$ for the spatial dependent electric potential $\Phi(r)$. This is known as the quasi-static approximation as the spatial dependency of the field is governed by the same equation as in the electrostatic case but the fields continue to oscillate in time at the high frequencies corresponding to the visible part of the spectrum. The solution of Laplace's equation inside and outside the MNP reads

$$\Phi_{\rm in}(r,\,\theta,\,\phi) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} a_{lm} r^{l} Y_{l}^{m}(\theta,\,\phi), \quad 0 \le r \le r_{0}$$
(18)
$$\Phi_{\rm out}(r,\,\theta,\,\phi) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} b_{lm} r^{-(l+1)} Y_{l}^{m}(\theta,\,\phi), \quad r_{0} \le r$$
(19)

where θ (ϕ) represents the polar (azimuthal) angle in a spherical coordinate system, $Y_l^m(\theta,\phi)$ is a spherical harmonic function of degree l and order m, and a_{lm} and b_{lm} are amplitudes. The interface conditions of eqs 7 and 9 impose the continuities of $\partial \Phi / \partial r$ for the tangential components and $\epsilon_i \partial \Phi / \partial r$ for the normal components across the MNP's interface at $r = r_0$. They lead to the explicit expression for the resonance frequencies of the LSPs, written as

$$\frac{\epsilon'_{\rm m}(\omega)}{\epsilon_{\rm d}} + \frac{l+1}{l} = 0 \tag{20}$$

where *l* denotes the mode index of the angular momentum of the LSP.¹²⁷ Neglecting damping for simplicity, i.e., using the Drude permittivity of eq 6 with $\gamma = 0$, one can obtain the resonance frequencies of LSPs, written as

$$\omega_l = \omega_p \left[\frac{l}{\epsilon_d (l+1) + l} \right]^{1/2}$$
(21)

For small spheres, the dipolar excitation of LSPs is the most dominant, i.e., l = 1, so that eq 20 gives the resonant condition for the dipolar LSP excitation as $\epsilon'_{\rm m}(\omega) = -2\epsilon_{\rm d}$, leading to the resonant frequency $\omega_1 = \omega_{\rm p}(1 + 2\epsilon_{\rm d})^{-1/2}$ using eq 21, known as the Fröhlich condition. If the background permittivity $\epsilon_{\rm d}$ is modified, for instance by a ligand binding to a receptor, as shown in Figure 4(b), then the resonance position shifts by $\Delta\omega$ (correspondingly by $\Delta\lambda$ for wavelength). Thus, the resonance position can be used to sense a change in the environment of the MNP.

Such resonant features of the dipolar LSP excitation can also be seen in the expression of the scattering and absorption cross sections written as 128

$$\sigma_{\rm sca}(\omega) = \frac{2\omega^4 \epsilon_{\rm d}^2 V^2}{c^4} \frac{\left[\epsilon_{\rm m}'(\omega) - \epsilon_{\rm d}\right]^2 + \left[\epsilon_{\rm m}''(\omega)\right]^2}{\left[\epsilon_{\rm m}'(\omega) + 2\epsilon_{\rm d}\right]^2 + \left[\epsilon_{\rm m}''(\omega)\right]^2} \tag{22}$$

$$\sigma_{abs}(\omega) = \frac{9\omega\epsilon_d^{3/2}V}{c} \frac{\epsilon_m''(\omega)}{\left[\epsilon_m'(\omega) + 2\epsilon_d\right]^2 + \left[\epsilon_m''(\omega)\right]^2}$$
(23)

where V is the particle volume. Note that LSPs can be resonantly excited at the frequencies ω_l regardless of the wavevector; that is, the resonance is independent of the illumination direction due to the full spherical symmetry of the MNP.¹²⁸ This is in contrast to the excitation of SPPs, which are only excited when both the frequency and the wavenumber of the incident light equal those of the SPP for a given structure.

For larger spheres or in situations where the spheres are excited by some emitter in close proximity, higher-order modes with $l \ge 2$ need to be taken into account in the description. If the size of the spheres gets even larger, such that the quasistatic approximation no longer holds, i.e., if the phase retardation of the incident field across the MNP can no longer be neglected, the cross sections caused by multipolar LSP excitations can be calculated using Mie theory in an analytical manner.¹²¹ LSP excitations at elliptical particles can also be investigated using Gans theory,¹²⁹ providing an analytical solution where the aspect ratio of the ellipsoid plays a role. Of particular interest are spheroids, since they lead to a double resonance behavior, corresponding to electron oscillations along the major and minor axes.¹²⁸ Behaviors of LSP excitation at nanorods with thickness comparable to the skin depth of the metal can also be described and thus understood in an analytical way.¹³⁰ More complex structures, such as multilayered spheres or ellipsoids with different materials, or nonspherical/nonellipsoidal MNPs, can be considered, but one should use numerical electromagnetic methods such as finite-difference time-domain and finite-element methods to obtain approximate solutions, since an analytical solution for arbitrary structures cannot be found.¹³¹⁻¹³⁴ Complex structures are known to exhibit intriguing features and the potential for interesting optical applications in plasmonic sensing.^{135–142} In section 4.1.2 we will discuss quantum plasmonic sensing using LSPs at various types of nanostructures.

Interestingly, in the limit of a very large MNP, i.e., $l \rightarrow \infty$, with the electrostatic approximation $(r_0 \ll \lambda)$ holding, the dispersion relation of eq 20 and the resonant frequency of eq 21 lead to the relations $\epsilon'_{\rm m}(\omega) = -\epsilon_{\rm d}$ and $\omega_{l\to\infty} = \omega_{\rm p}(1 + \omega_{\rm p})$ $(\epsilon_{\rm d})^{-1/2}$, respectively. These are equal to those for SPs at the interface between a dielectric and a metal. Such a consideration clearly identifies the inherently different nature of LSPs compared to SPPs. SPPs are a hybrid mode comprised of an electromagnetic field and electron oscillations, while LSPs are the excitation of electron oscillations for a given illumination by an electromagnetic field. In other words, SPP modes are bound solutions to the wave equation, and once excited they exist without needing reference to the field that caused them, while LSP modes are responsive modes that are highly damped and can couple back into the far-field; therefore, they are inherently transient for a certain time scale when an external driving field is illuminating the MNP.

2.4.1. Sensitivity and Figure of Merit. The features of LSPs described above can be exploited for sensing. In particular, the spectral sensitivity can be defined as $S_{\lambda,\text{LSP}} = |d\lambda_{\text{res}}/dn_a|$ for refractive index sensing. Sensitivities of LSPs at single MNPs of various shapes are on the order of 10^2-10^3 nm/RIU.¹⁴³ However, due to the sharp resonance

pubs.acs.org/CR

$$FOM = \frac{S_{\lambda,LSP}}{\Gamma_{\lambda}}$$
(24)

where Γ_{λ} is the resonance line width (or full width at halfmaximum). The FOM is mainly used to compare the sensing potential of various sensing schemes. From eq 24, it can be seen that a good LSP sensor requires the FOM to be enhanced by reducing the line width and increasing the sensitivity.

When the resonance spectrum cannot be modeled by a simple Lorentzian shape, e.g., in complex plasmonic structures such as metamaterials,¹⁴⁶ the line width Γ_{λ} is ill defined and an alternative figure of merit needs to be defined. In this case, one can use the FOM* defined as¹⁴⁷

$$FOM^* = \max_{\lambda} \left(\frac{\left| \frac{dI}{dn_a} \right|}{I} \right) = \max_{\lambda} \left(\frac{S_{\lambda, LSP} \times \left| \frac{dI}{d\lambda} \right|}{I} \right)$$
(25)

The FOM* accommodates the relative intensity change $|dI/I| = |(I(\lambda + \Delta \lambda) - I(\lambda))/I(\lambda)|$ with respect to the change of the refractive index dn_a for the optimal wavelength λ that maximizes the quantity $|dI/dn_a|/I$, as illustrated in Figure 5.



Figure 5. (Top) The scattered light, i.e., the intensity *I*, from metallic nanostructures shifts with the refractive index change $\Delta n_{a\nu}$ consequently causing a shift of the resonance wavelength $\Delta \lambda_{res}$. A minute change of the resonance wavelength can only be resolved by a sensor offering a high sensitivity of $S_{\lambda,LSP}$. The FOM is defined as the ratio of $S_{\lambda,LSP}$ to the full width at half-maximum $\Gamma_{\lambda\nu}$ when the latter can be well-defined. When this is not the case, an alternative version needs to be used, the FOM*, which is defined as the ratio of the relative intensity change |dI/I| (bottom) to the refractive index change dn_a of the analyte.

LSP sensors are an interesting approach for measuring refractive index changes, as they provide an opportunity to directly measure molecular binding events.¹¹ However, the FOM for LSP sensors using spherical MNPs is lower than that of SPP sensors by about an order of magnitude,¹⁴³ with a corresponding difference in the LOD. For a comparable FOM (or FOM*), LSPs at nonspherical MNPs or as unit cells of metamaterials need to be considered.¹⁴⁸

2.4.2. Metamaterials. Plasmonic metamaterial sensors are a recent advancement of LSP-based sensors that can lead to an improvement in sensing performance. These sensors consist of a periodic array of unit cells made from metallic nanostructures supporting LSPs, where each unit cell is smaller than the wavelength of the incident light that is used as the sensing probe.¹⁴⁹ The collective action of the unit cells gives rise to a macroscopic response of the periodic array or "bulk" material. These artificially constructed materials are usually in the form of a 2d array, where they are called metasurfaces, ¹⁵⁰ or in a 3d array as metamaterials.¹⁵¹ Metamaterials can be made to have rather exotic properties that are not normally available in nature, e.g., negative refraction,^{152,153} optical cloaking,¹⁵⁴ and giant nonlinearity.¹⁵⁵⁻¹⁵⁷ Recent work has started to exploit such unusual properties of plasmonic metamaterials in order to gain improvements in optical sensing functionality.^{148,158} Advantages compared to traditional SPP sensors are similar to those of LSP sensors, in that they offer the potential for improving operational ranges, as well as the integration of sensing components and ultimately miniaturization.^{12,159}

Metamaterial sensors differ from ensemble-based LSP sensors in that for a given change in an analyte being sensed they aim to modify the macroscopic optical properties of the material. However, the distinction between the two is sometimes not well-defined. Generally, metamaterial sensors have more flexibility than ensemble LSP sensors in that they allow for the possibility of coupled nanostructures within the unit cells and even the coupling between unit cells in order to influence the bulk response.¹⁶⁰ This can give advantages in sensing performance, as we briefly mention below. In a study by Kabashin et al.,¹⁶¹ an array of gold nanorods

on a glass substrate was used to construct a plasmonic metamaterial biosensor. Surprisingly, the individual nanorod size deviations due to fabrication had little influence on the optical properties of the material, which was modeled well by effective medium theory. The robustness was due to the size of the nanorods and their spacing with respect to the wavelength of the incident probe field so that only average values of parameters are important. The overall function of the metamaterial sensor was essentially the same as a SPP sensor, with a prism excitation method used. A sensitivity of 32,000 nm/RIU was observed in the experiment, exceeding the sensitivity of LSP sensors by about 2 orders of magnitude. The associated FOM was found to be 330, 1 order of magnitude larger than that of SPP sensors and 2 orders larger than that of LSP sensors, leading to corresponding improvements in the LOD. The origin of the sensitivity improvement was found to be due to the increased surface area provided by the nanorods compared to a flat surface for SPP sensors, as well as plasmonplasmon interactions between the nanorods of the unit cells of the metamaterial.

A different approach to plasmonic metamaterial sensors is the so-called "thin film" approach, which does not require prism coupling but analyzes the transmitted/reflected field.¹⁴⁶ For example, in the work by Chang et al.¹⁶² the authors reported a thin film plasmonic metamaterial sensor based on unit cells made from split-ring resonators. They found that different resonances in the reflectance spectra could be used for the parallel sensing of biological interactions at different length scales. This work shows that not only can plasmonic metamaterials enhance the sensitivity, but they also provide novel capabilities in terms of parallel sensing. This strategy has recently been used for dual sensing of conformational and binding parameters. $^{163}\,$

The main challenges for further improving the sensitivity of plasmonic metamaterial sensors are in finding the optimal way to reduce the noise associated with the adsorption and desorption of analytes, as well as improving the fabrication of accurate small size features for the nanostructures of the unit cells. More information on the current state of metamaterial sensors can be found in the reviews by Chen et al.,¹⁴⁸ Wang et al.,¹⁶⁴ Tseng et al.,¹⁶⁵ and Hassan et al.,¹⁶⁶ with details on the use of core—shell coatings, nanotubes, and dielectric structures for the unit cells, in addition to hyperbolic metamaterials.

2.4.3. Miniaturization. While metamaterials provide a novel route for the miniaturization and integration of plasmonic sensors, several other methods exist. In this respect, it is important to note that the majority of current commercial plasmonic biosensors are still based on a traditional SPP sensing approach^{12,159} and their designs do not differ significantly from the Kretschmann configuration. Current research is focused on developing platforms that can provide a more integrated, low-cost, reusable, and sensitive biosensor. Fiber and wave-guide-based SPP sensors are one such promising platform, for which an LOD of 10⁻⁶ RIU has been achieved using a polarization maintaining fiber.¹⁶⁷ However, integrating fiber sensors with other necessary components, such as microfluidic channels, is challenging due to the need for precise alignment and complex assembly.¹⁶⁸ Alternatives here include the use of a planar optical waveguide,¹⁶⁹ distributed Bragg reflector,¹⁷⁰ MZI,¹⁷¹ or even gold coating the capillary tube used for the fluidics in order to enable it to operate as a waveguide itself.¹⁷⁷

Despite the obvious compactness of fiber and wave-guidebased plasmonic sensors, the sensitivity and LOD of these integrated sensors realized so far is at best comparable to that of traditional SPP sensors.¹² This has motivated researchers to also focus on the miniaturization of SPP sensing using low cost LEDs and diffractive mirrors,^{173,174} microprisms^{167,175} and metamaterials with fibers,¹⁷⁶ D-shaped fiber optic SPR sensors,¹⁵⁹ and photonic crystal fiber plasmonic sensors.¹⁷⁷

Progress in the miniaturization and integration of plasmonic sensors will benefit greatly from advancements in optoelectronics, integrated optics, surface functionalization, and microfluidic and nanofabrication techniques. Many of the sensors proposed in the literature have passed the proof-ofprinciple stage and are now being developed into commercial products. Further details of the current state-of-the-art and LOD values for compact plasmonic sensors can be found in the reviews by Hoa et al.¹² and Caucheteur et al.¹⁵⁹ and can be compared with state-of-the-art compact photonic sensors.^{178,179} All of these classical sensors have their LOD limited by various types of noise, with the ultimate one being the shot noise. As we will show in section 3, quantum techniques can reduce this noise and therefore could potentially improve the performance of more compact plasmonic sensors if they are designed in such a way that preserves the quantum effects being exploited.

2.4.4. Plasmon-Enhanced Fluorescence and Raman Scattering. For LSPs, in addition to the conventional colorimetric detection scheme, i.e., measuring the resonance shift due to the change of the refractive index, other sensing principles have widely been studied and used. Two representatives are plasmon-enhanced fluorescence (PEF) sensing/imaging^{180,181} and surface-enhanced Raman scattering



Figure 6. MNP enhancement of fluorescence. (a) Fluorophores are excited by an external field and emit into the far-field. (b) Fluorophores close to the surface of a MNP have their emission quenched by coupling to LSPs whose higher-order modes are strongly damped. (c) Fluorophores at a distance from the surface of a MNP couple their emission mainly into the dipolar LSP mode which is not as strongly damped and the fluorescence is therefore enhanced.

(SERS).¹⁸² Here, the plasmon merely enhances the the Raman or fluorescence signal but is itself not used for sensor transduction. Despite this, the enhancement of the signal by the plasmon can improve the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) which is basically proportional to the signal intensity and inversely proportional to the LOD. Moreover, the subdiffraction scale of the supporting metal nanostructure provides increased spatial resolution that can be used for imaging. A variety of biochemical sensing applications based on PEF and SERS can be found in relevant review papers.^{28,34,181,183} This section explores the state-of-the-art for classical PEF and SERS sensing modalities that are now being re-envisioned as quantum plasmonic sensors, as will be discussed in more detail in section 4.3.

Although fluorescence signals enable low-background detection by filtering the excitation beam, the fluorescence of nanometer sized fluorophores is inefficient due to the weak light-matter interactions that originate from a large mismatch between the physical size of the fluorophores and the wavelength of visible light, as shown in Figure 6(a). This can lead to photobleaching when a high excitation power is used to extract a measurable signal. In practice, the fluorescence of fluorophores can either be enhanced or quenched depending on the absorption and scattering characteristics of a MNP. A largely enhanced electric field can be formed at metallic nanostructures when the incident wavelength of light matches with their LSP resonance. This enhanced electric field can excite fluorophores placed within the evanescent decay depth of the LSP. This can be efficient when the absorption spectrum of the fluorophore matches with the LSP resonance. The enhancement in the excitation rate of a fluorophore with an absorption dipole moment *d* is given by $\kappa = |d \cdot E_{LSP}|^2 / |d \cdot E_{inc}|^2$, where $E_{\rm LSP}$ and $E_{\rm inc}$ are the electric field at the fluorophore position with and without the plasmonic structure, respectively.¹⁸⁴

In addition to the enhancement of the excitation of the fluorophore, LSPs can also modify the fluorophore emission dynamics. The typical fluorescence lifetime of an isolated and excited fluorophore is on the order of a few nanoseconds up to tens of nanoseconds. This has to be compared to the almost instantaneous decay of an excited LSP mode in metal nanostructures when the external driving field is switched off.^{185,186} When a fluorophore is coupled to a metallic nanostructure, the excited state of the fluorophore decays faster while transferring the excited energy to the metallic

nanostructure. This effect happens if the emission wavelength of the fluorophore is resonant with the LSP modes. When the fluorophore is less than \sim 5 nm away from the metallic nanostructure, the transferred energy is mostly dissipated into Ohmic losses due to the dominant presence of higher-order modes that do not radiate into the far-field, causing quenching instead of enhancing the fluorescence,¹⁸⁷ as shown in Figure 6(b). For moderate distances of approximately 10 to 30 nm, the dipolar LSP mode can have a stronger presence than the higher-order modes, possibly enhancing the fluorescence, as shown in Figure 6(c). The shortened fluorescence lifetime for the the moderate-distance case can be understood by the plasmonically enhanced local density of states, which is proportional to $|E_{LSP}|^2$. The dipolar mode of the LSP can radiate into the far-field ($\gamma_{r,LSP}$), but it also suffers from nonradiative Ohmic losses ($\gamma_{nr,LSP}$). In general, $\gamma_{r,LSP}$ and $\gamma_{nr,LSP}$ are much larger than the radiative decay rate (γ_r) and the nonradiative decay rate (γ_{nr}) of the bare fluorophore, without the plasmonic structure. Therefore, when the excited state of the fluorophore decays mostly into LSP modes, i.e., the fluorescence decay lifetime reduction is significant, the quantum efficiency (QE) of the fluorophore coupled to the LSP can be obtained in a simplified form of $\eta_{\text{coupled}} \sim \gamma_{\text{r,LSP}}/$ $(\gamma_{r,LSP} + \gamma_{nr,LSP})$. If the intrinsic QE of the fluorophore $[\eta_0 = \gamma_r/$ $(\gamma_r + \gamma_{nr})$ is high, the LSP will reduce the QE of the hybrid system. However, when the original fluorophore QE is very low (~a few percent), the QE can be highly enhanced by coupling to LSPs. This enhancement in the emission process, when combined with the excitation enhancement, leads to a huge fluorescence enhancement, over a thousand times, becoming possible.¹⁸⁹ The fluorescence enhancement, well below the saturation limit of the excited population of the fluorophore, is given by $\kappa \eta_{\text{coupled}} / \eta_0$. It has been shown that the fluorescence of a vertically aligned terrylene single molecule is enhanced by 30 times when coupled to a spherical gold nanoparticle with $\kappa \sim 80$, $\eta_{\text{coupled}} \sim 0.3$, and $\eta_0 \sim 0.8$,¹²⁴ as shown in Figure 7. It should be noted that, in addition to the excitation and the emission processes, the fluorescence emission pattern also can be strongly modified by the antenna modes of metallic structures.^{184,190,1}

For a spherical MNP, the absorption of light is proportional to the volume $V \sim r_0^3$ (see eq 23), while the scattering is proportional to $V \sim r_0^6$ (see eq 22), where r_0 is the diameter of the MNP.¹⁹² As a result, for a smaller MNP, the radiating power decreases faster than the absorption, thus reducing the



Figure 7. (a) Schematic of an experimental setup used to enhance the fluorescence of a single terrylene molecule using a gold nanoparticle (AuNP). Terrylene molecules are embedded in a thin crystalline pterphenyl film (20 nm) and are illuminated under total internal reflection. The same objective collects the fluorescence of individual molecules while a AuNP attached to a glass fiber tip is scanned across. (b) Near-field fluorescence image using a AuNP (80 nm in diameter) attached tip. (c) Cross-sectional profile of the white dashed line in (b). The inset shows a SEM image of the AuNP attached to the tapered-fiber tip. (d) Fluorescence decay lifetime of a terrylene molecule with (black) and without (red) employing a AuNP (80 nm in diameter). The inset shows a plasmon spectrum of a AuNP (black), the fluorescence spectrum of a single terrylene molecule (red), and the excitation laser line (green). Reproduced and adapted with permission from refs 124 and 188. Copyright 2009 American Chemical Society and Copyright 2015 The Optical Society.

QE. Therefore, small nanostructures (<20 nm) are usually used to quench fluorescence.¹⁹³ Larger particles can act as efficient scattering centers. In this case, the excited energy of the fluorophore can be radiated into the far-field more efficiently with the help of LSPs that act as an antenna at optical frequencies.^{194,195} When the diameter of a spherical MNP becomes too large (>100 nm), the dipolar field approximation does not hold anymore, and higher-order modes start to contribute significantly, reducing the QE and the radiation efficiency.¹⁹⁶⁻¹⁹⁸ In addition, the LSP mode volume becomes larger for a larger MNP, reducing the excitation field enhancement. Thus, in PEF-based imaging, the spatial resolution is better when a smaller nanostructure is used.¹²⁴ PEF can be more efficient for other shapes of metallic nanostructures, including rods,¹⁹⁹ stars,²⁰⁰ dimers,²⁰¹ and arrays.²⁰² Sharp structures can allow a higher field enhancement compared to single spheres, and nanogaps between MNPs can support even higher field enhancement together with a high QE.^{68,203} The enhanced detection sensitivity by PEF has been demonstrated for detecting many different biosamples.^{28,34,181,183} For example, silver-nanoparticle-assisted PEF has been applied for the detection of streptavidin and human IgE, reaching a LOD of 0.25 ng/mL.²⁰⁴ The hot-spots formed in a gold nanorod array have been employed for detecting single-strand DNA with a LOD of 10 pM.²⁰⁵ Although the modification of the fluorescence signal is significant in the given scenarios in this section, they can still be described in the weak-coupling regime. In the strongcoupling regime between the emitter and plasmonic modes of metallic systems, however, exotic functionalities of quantum plasmonic sensing schemes can be utilized, as will be described in section 4.3.

The LSP-induced local field enhancement can also contribute to SERS. The overall enhancement in the SERS signal is attributed to the combined effects of the enhanced field intensity as in PEF and the chemical enhancement due to the charge transfer between the metallic nanostructure and the target molecule.^{206,207} Here, the local field enhancement is frequently considered as the dominating factor for the enhanced SERS. In a back-of-the-envelope estimation, the enhancement of the SERS signal, thanks to the supporting plasmonic structure, is proportional to the fourth power of the electric field at the spatial location where the molecules are placed. Therefore, a major aim is frequently to tune the geometrical properties of the plasmonic structure such that a plasmon resonance is supported at the frequency used in the experiments. Also, the field enhancement has to occur in the spatial region where the molecules are placed.

2.5. Surface Plasmon Resonance Imaging

Improving the sensitivity of plasmonic sensors can enable the detection of smaller concentrations of materials of interest in the same integration time, or it can enable the detection of the same concentration of materials in a shorter integration time.



Figure 8. (a) Seminal spatially resolved SPR imaging of a dimyristoylphosphatidic acid monolayer utilizing a Kretschmann readout scheme at a fixed angle of incidence of 47.2°. (b) An early demonstration of spatially resolved biomolecular sensing with Kretschmann-based SPR imaging schemes demonstrating that only appropriately functionalized gold pads give a response to single strand DNA. (c) Schematic representation of SPR imaging with a smartphone camera. Reproduced with permission from refs 211, 215, and 216. Copyright 1989 Springer Nature, Copyright 2005 American Chemical Society, and Copyright 2015 Springer Nature.

Figure 9. Process for the estimation of a parameter in sensing divided into four key steps: preparation, interaction, measurement, and estimation.

However, when a sensor needs to detect many different molecules, most plasmonic sensors are operated in an iterative fashion, resulting in slow measurements. SPR imaging attempts to reduce measurement times by parallelizing SPR sensors on a single chip. Whereas conventional LSP and SPP sensors utilize angle-resolved or spectrally resolved measurements, SPR imaging systems utilize intensity-resolved measurements: they sit at the inflection point of a plasmonic resonance and monitor spatially resolved changes in intensity for an array of plasmonic sensors or for a continuous plasmonic sensor. This concept was first introduced in 1988 as SP microscopy.²⁰⁸ In general, the ability to spatially map variations in the index of refraction with SPR imaging is a powerful tool for fundamental materials science, chemistry, and biology. When arrays of sensors are functionalized to detect different molecules. SPR imaging can enable substantial scaling of SPR sensors for applied sensing of enzyme-substrate interactions, DNA hybridization, antibody-antigen binding, and protein interaction dynamics.²⁰⁹

Figure 8(a) illustrates early SPR imaging of monolayers of dimyristoylphosphatidic acid with a spatially resolved Kretschmann sensor.²¹⁵ This work, along with other early research,²⁰⁸ illustrates the potential of SPR imaging for subdiffractionlimited, high sensitivity imaging of low-contrast samples. Since then, substantial technical development has gone into the improvement of SPR imaging systems for parallelized detection of different molecular systems. As shown in Figure 8(b), SPR imaging of gold pads functionalized with appropriate probes allows for the spatially selective detection of target DNA that is complementary to the functionalization group.²¹¹ By functionalizing each element of the plasmonic sensor array differently, it is therefore possible to achieve highly beneficial scaling for the detection of large numbers of different molecules. Figure 8(c) illustrates the degree to which SPR imaging platforms can be deployed in the field through integration with ubiquitous imaging technologies such as smartphone cameras.²¹⁶ However, a common challenge in SPR imaging is that off-the-shelf imaging systems introduce substantial noise compared with single pixel detectors. While it is possible to reach the fundamental classical limit given by the shot noise with appropriate experimental designs, further improvements could be made possible with quantum imaging schemes, as will be discussed in section 4.

3. QUANTUM SENSORS

Photonic devices, such as the plasmonic sensors introduced in the previous section, exploit light as a probe for their operation. While plasmonic sensors offer an improved sensitivity compared to other types of photonic devices, they share a common problem—random fluctuations in the measured signal due to the statistical nature of light. The origin of these fluctuations can be derived using a classical theory to some extent by considering light to be made from discrete particles.²¹⁷ However, once the wave properties of light are included, the fluctuations can only be understood from a more fundamental quantum theory.²¹⁸ When a coherent state of light-thought of as the quantum state that most closely describes the light from a laser²¹⁹—is employed in a sensor, the noise in the signal arises from the fact that the coherent state consists of photon number states with a weighting that follows a Poisson distribution. This noise will obviously affect the LOD for a given plasmonic sensor, as mentioned in section 2.2.3, limiting its resolution. However, if the noise can be reduced, then the sensor can provide a better resolution, enabling more precise measurements to be made.²²⁰ Reducing this noise involves the use of quantum noise reduction or squeezing. To understand how the noise, commonly known as "shot noise", is present in plasmonic sensors and to see how it can be reduced by using specialized quantum techniques, we kick off this section by offering a brief overview of parameter estimation theory. This is a theory that has been widely considered in the field of quantum metrology,²²¹⁻²²³ and it is vital for determining fundamental bounds on how well parameters can be estimated in both the classical and quantum regimes. After an introduction to parameter estimation theory, we look at a few paradigmatic examples of classical optical sensors and corresponding quantum sensors, while leaving more extensive details to other review articles dedicated to quantum metrology and imaging.^{37-40,43,44,46,224}

3.1. Parameter Estimation Theory: Cramér-Rao Bound

3.1.1. Single Parameter Estimation. The complete process for the estimation of a parameter in sensing can be divided into four key steps: (i) input state preparation; (ii) interaction for parameter encoding; (iii) measurement; and (iv) estimation based on the measurement outcomes, as depicted in Figure 9. In the final step, the estimation of a parameter is made over multiple repetitions of a measurement or time-integration. The number of repeated measurements determines the finite size ν of a sample. Each sample with a size ν is used by an estimator \hat{x} to yield an estimate x_{est} of the parameter, and the quality of the estimator \hat{x} can be assessed by several statistical features. The expectation value of the estimate, $\langle x_{est} \rangle$, is compared with the parameter's true value x from the underlying population being sampled. Their difference indicates a bias of the estimator and can be interpreted as an estimation accuracy. When the difference is zero, i.e., $\langle x_{est} \rangle$ -x = 0, the estimator is said to be unbiased and equivalently the accuracy is perfect. Here, $\langle ... \rangle$ denotes the average over all possible configurations of the sample, which strictly speaking can only be theoretically considered, but it may be well approximated by an actual repetition of sampling in an experiment, i.e., collecting a large number of samples. Another quantity of great importance is the mean-squared-error (MSE) defined as $MSE[\hat{x}] = \langle (x_{est} - x)^2 \rangle = \langle (x_{est} - \langle x_{est} \rangle)^2 \rangle + (\langle x_{est} \rangle)^2 \rangle$ $(-x)^2$, where the first term is the variance Δx_{est}^2 of the estimator and the second term is the squared bias of the estimator. The MSE and the variance are equivalent when an estimator is

unbiased. The variance is often called an estimation uncertainty or interpreted as an estimation precision. The latter implies that the estimate x_{est} would vary over the repetition of an identical and independent sampling, or equivalently, over different configurations of the sample with a size ν . In this review, we take the square root of the variance, Δx_{est} , as the estimation uncertainty or estimation precision, as is often done in experiments. In the literature, Δx_{est} is sometimes called sensitivity/resolution with the interpretation that a large Δx_{est} limits the capability of a sensor to sense/ resolve a minute change of an observable quantity. In a qualitative sense, these terms can be used interchangeably according to their close relation, but in a quantitative sense, $\Delta x_{\rm est}$ is the uncertainty of an estimator according to parameter estimation theory, which we introduce in this section. The LOD is then simply given by Δx_{est} divided by the sensitivity.

Let us consider a simple example of the above definitions, where one aims to estimate the parameter given by the population mean, whose true value is μ , by using the sample mean as an estimator, i.e., $\hat{x} = \overline{x} = \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} x_j / \nu$. The value obtained by a sample with a size ν is then x_{est} and because the sample mean is an unbiased estimator for any population,²²⁵ we have $\langle x_{est} \rangle = \mu$. However, x_{est} for each sample will vary and the variance of the sample mean is given by $\Delta x_{est}^2 = \sigma_x^2/\nu$, where σ_x^2 is the population variance, which holds for any size ν without requiring the approximation imposed by the central limit theorem.²²³ It is clear that the standard deviation Δx_{est} is inversely proportional to $\sqrt{\nu}$ when the sample mean is taken to estimate the population mean; that is, the estimation becomes more precise as the sample size ν increases. Besides the statistical scaling with ν , the population variance, σ_x^2 , also plays an important role in reducing the standard deviation Δx_{est} which is related to the role of the quantum resource in quantum metrology, as we will see in this section.

Now consider a more general estimation scenario where an unbiased estimator \hat{x} is used to estimate a true value *x*. In this case, the MSE is simply equal to the variance Δx_{est}^2 and it is known that a lower bound to the standard deviation Δx_{est} exists and is given by

$$\Delta x_{\rm est} \ge \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu F(x)}} \tag{26}$$

which is called the Cramér–Rao (CR) inequality.^{221,225} Here F(x) denotes the Fisher information (FI) defined as²²⁶

$$F(x) = \int dy \frac{1}{p(y|x)} \left(\frac{\partial p(y|x)}{\partial x}\right)^2$$
(27)

with p(y|x) being an underlying conditional probability density of obtaining the measurement outcome within the interval yand y + dy when the true value is x (for a finite distribution we have $\int dy \rightarrow \sum_{y}$). The FI represents a sort of measure of the amount of information that a measurement outcome y carries on average about the true value x. A higher value of the FI is obviously more advantageous for obtaining a better estimation precision. The lower bound of eq 26, called the CR bound, is asymptotically saturable in the limit $\nu \rightarrow \infty$ when the maximum-likelihood estimator is employed.^{225,226}

Importantly, the FI of eq 27 depends on the physical scenario, i.e., the probe state, the parameter encoding, and the measurement for a fixed true value x. This implies that the FI may be increased further by changing the physical scenario, for

instance, by going from a classical scenario to a quantum scenario. Thus, a further lower bound to eq 26 can exist and be achieved when a more optimal scenario is chosen. The CR inequality can be developed to^{227,228}

$$\Delta x_{\text{est}} \ge \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu F(x)}} \ge \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu H}}$$
(28)

where H represents the quantum Fisher information (QFI), defined as

$$H = \max_{\{\hat{\Pi}_{y}\}} F(x)$$
(29)

The QFI is essentially the maximized FI over all possible quantum measurements or, put more formally, over all positive-operator valued measures (POVMs) $\{\hat{\Pi}_{\nu}\}$, such that $\hat{\Pi}_{v} \geq 0$ (positivity) and $\int dy \hat{\Pi}_{v} = 1$ (completeness). Here, the y correspond to the possible outcomes from the quantum measurement, similar to the outcomes y in the classical case in eq 27, with $p(y|x) = \text{Tr}(\hat{\rho}_x \hat{\Pi}_y)$ and $\hat{\rho}_x$ as the parameter encoded state. When the parameter encoding is caused by a unitary process, the QFI is independent of the value x (see examples discussed in section 3.4), since the same type of unitary process could be implicitly included as part of the optimal measurement,²²⁹ such that the value x can be tuned to a certain value for which F is fully maximized to be H. This is not the case when the parameter is encoded through a nonunitary process; that is, the QFI is given as a function of x (see examples discussed in section 3.3). In either case, the QFI still depends on the probe state and the encoding process of the parameter, implying that the QFI can be maximized by using an optimal probe state for a given encoding process. The lowest bound given by the maximized QFI over all input states is often called the ultimate quantum limit. In this sense, a number of studies have investigated the optimal probe states in various sensing or estimation scenarios. 38,39,41,4

The lower bound of eq 28 is called the quantum Cramér– Rao (QCR) bound, and it is regarded as the fundamental limit in the estimation precision for a given input state and encoding process. It can be shown that for a probe state with the parameter *x* encoded, given by the state $\hat{\rho}_{xy}$ the optimal measurement with the POVM { $\hat{\Pi}_y$ } that reaches the QCR bound has to satisfy the following two conditions:^{38,227}

$$\operatorname{Im}[\operatorname{Tr}(\hat{\rho}_{x}\hat{\Pi}_{y}\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{x})]=0$$
(30)

$$\frac{\hat{\Pi}_{y}^{1/2}\hat{\rho}_{x}^{1/2}}{\text{Tr}(\hat{\rho}_{x}\hat{\Pi}_{y})} = \frac{\hat{\Pi}_{y}^{1/2}\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{x}\hat{\rho}_{x}^{1/2}}{\text{Tr}(\hat{\rho}_{x}\hat{\Pi}_{y}\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{x})}$$
(31)

where $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_x$ is the symplectic logarithmic derivative (SLD) operator defined such that

$$\frac{\partial \hat{\rho}_x}{\partial x} = \frac{1}{2} (\hat{\rho}_x \hat{\mathcal{L}}_x + \hat{\mathcal{L}}_x \hat{\rho}_x)$$
(32)

The above two conditions are rather cryptic; however, they can be fulfilled if a measurement setup with $\{\hat{\Pi}_{y}\}$ is constructed by a set of projection operators over the eigenbasis of the SLD operator $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{x}$.^{38,227} This is a necessary and sufficient condition to reach the QCR bound for a full-rank state of $\hat{\rho}_{xy}$ for which the SLD operator is unique. On the other hand, for a rankdeficient state the optimal measurement satisfying the above two conditions is not unique.²²⁷ The QFI, H, of eq 29 can be written in terms of the SLD operator by

$$H = \mathrm{Tr}(\hat{\rho}_x \hat{\mathcal{L}}_x^2) \tag{33}$$

For a parameter-encoded state with a given spectral decomposition, i.e., $\hat{\rho}_x = \sum_n p_n |\psi_n\rangle \langle \psi_n|$ with $\langle \psi_n |\psi_m\rangle = \delta_{n,m\nu}$ the SLD operator can be written as^{38,227,230}

$$\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{x} = 2 \sum_{n,m} \frac{\langle \psi_{m} | \partial_{x} \hat{\rho}_{x} | \psi_{n} \rangle}{p_{n} + p_{m}} | \psi_{m} \rangle \langle \psi_{n} |$$
(34)

where the summation is taken over *n*, *m* for which $p_n + p_m \neq 0$. When the state $\hat{\rho}_x$ is pure, i.e., $\hat{\rho}_x = |\psi_x\rangle\langle\psi_x|$ for some $|\psi_x\rangle$, the SLD operator is given by $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_x = 2\partial_x \hat{\rho}_x$, which simplifies eq 33 to

$$H = 4[\langle \partial_x \psi_x | \partial_x \psi_x \rangle + \langle \partial_x \psi_x | \psi_x \rangle^2]$$
(35)

where $|\partial_x \psi_x\rangle \equiv \partial_x |\psi_x\rangle$. When the parameter is encoded through a unitary process, i.e., $\hat{\rho}_x = e^{ix\hat{G}}\hat{\rho}_0 e^{-ix\hat{G}}$, where $\hat{\rho}_0$ is the initial probe state and \hat{G} is a generator of the parameter x, one can show that $H = 4\langle (\Delta \hat{G})^2 \rangle$, where $\langle (\Delta \hat{G})^2 \rangle = \langle \hat{G}^2 \rangle - \langle \hat{G} \rangle^2$ is the variance of the generator with respect to the probe state that undergoes parameter encoding.

The evaluation of the QFI determines the lowest estimation uncertainty $\Delta x_{\rm est}$ (or the highest precision) for a given parameter encoding and probe state. As we shall show in section 3.2, when a random feature obeying the Poisson distribution with a mean of N dominates the estimation uncertainty, the lower bound is called the SNL, where $\Delta x_{\rm est}$ scales with $N^{-1/2}$.

In interferometric sensing, the minimum estimation uncertainty achievable by a coherent probe state (the quantum state that represents light from a laser) is called the *standard quantum limit* (SQL), where N represents the mean photon number of the state. We will show in section 3.2 that Δx_{est} scales with $N^{-1/2}$.^{39,41,43} The term SQL was introduced by Caves in his early papers in the sense that it is the limit of standard interferometers made of standard devices without quantum squeezing.^{220,231,232} In the literature, the terms SNL and SQL have mostly been used in intensity sensing and phase sensing, respectively. However, they can sometimes be considered as synonymous because of the same fundamental process that causes them.

On the other hand, when an optimal quantum probe state is used that maximizes the QFI for a given parameter encoding, we will show in section 3.4 that the estimation uncertainty is reduced so that it scales with N^{-1} .^{39,41,43} The associated minimum is called the *Heisenberg limit* (HL) or ultimate quantum limit, and scaling of N^{-1} is often called *Heisenberg* scaling.

An important note is due about the above-mentioned scalings and their comparison. The size of the sample is assumed to be fixed in both the classical and quantum cases; that is, ν corresponds to a constant number of repetitions, or probes, and therefore the integration time of the measurement is fixed. One could consider increasing ν for the classical case in order to achieve a similar scaling in precision to the quantum case. However, this may not be practical due to time constraints of the system being sensed, which is especially relevant for a dynamic biological or biochemical system.

Furthermore, the scaling of the precision for the SNL is $N^{-1/2}$ using a classical probe state, but for a quantum probe state, for example in the interferometric setting, the precision is

the HL with scaling N^{-1} . This means that one could obtain the same precision of a quantum probe state with mean photon number N using a classical probe state with the mean photon number N increased to N^2 . However, this second approach to leveling the classical and quantum scaling may also not be feasible in a given sensor. First, the sensor may be at its physical limit in terms of the power being used to achieve a high precision, due to the type of materials the sensor is made from and its construction. Any higher power may cause structural changes and distort the response of the sensor

structural changes and distort the response of the sensor, introducing additional sources of noise proportional to the intensity.³⁵ Second, and perhaps more importantly from the context of noninvasive sensing, is that the analyte itself may have a damage threshold for the power it can tolerate. This is particularly the case when monitoring small quantities of biological systems,⁴² for which plasmonic sensors are regularly used and a high precision is required with a limited optical power.

The above considerations apply to any case where there is a gap between the scaling of the precision for the classical SNL and the quantum case, which may or may not have Heisenberg scaling. Thus, there is a clear benefit to using a quantum approach to improve the precision of a plasmonic sensor.

3.1.2. Multiparameter Estimation. The formulation introduced above applies when a single parameter is estimated, but estimation of multiple parameters is often of interest in diverse areas of science and technology such as phase-contrast imaging²³³ and gravitational wave astronomy.²³⁴ An extended theory for multiparameter estimation is thus required.^{235,236} Consider the problem of estimating a set of multiple parameters $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, x_2, ..., x_M)^T$ from the measurement results \mathbf{y} that have been drawn from a conditional probability density $p(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{x})$. The $M \times M$ covariance matrix $\text{Cov}(\mathbf{x}_{est}) = \langle (\mathbf{x}_{est} - \langle \mathbf{x}_{est} \rangle)^T \rangle$ of any unbiased estimator $\hat{\mathbf{x}}$ is found to be bounded by the so-called Fisher information matrix (FIM),^{38,222} written as

$$\operatorname{Cov}(\boldsymbol{x}_{est}) \ge \frac{\boldsymbol{F}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{x})}{\nu}$$
(36)

where the FIM, F(x), is defined by

$$[\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x})]_{jk} = \int d\mathbf{y} \frac{1}{p(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{x})} \frac{\partial p(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{x})}{\partial x_j} \frac{\partial p(\mathbf{y}|\mathbf{x})}{\partial x_k}$$
(37)

The multiparameter CR inequality of eq 36 is satisfied when $\text{Cov}(\mathbf{x}_{\text{est}}) - F^{-1}(\mathbf{x})/\nu$ is a positive semidefinite matrix.^{38,222,237} The CR bound can always be saturated by a maximum likelihood method in the limit of large ν .²³⁸ As in single parameter estimation, the CR inequality of eq 36 for multiparameter estimation can be further reduced in the quantum regime, leading to the multiparameter QCR inequality written as^{38,222}

$$\operatorname{Cov}(\mathbf{x}_{est}) \ge \frac{F^{-1}(\mathbf{x})}{\nu} \ge \frac{H^{-1}}{\nu}$$
(38)

where the details of the quantum Fisher information matrix (QFIM), H, are given in Appendix A. The inequality in eq 38 means that in the matrix sense

$$\boldsymbol{n}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathrm{Cov}(\boldsymbol{x}_{\mathrm{est}})\boldsymbol{n} \geq \frac{\boldsymbol{n}^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{F}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{x})\boldsymbol{n}}{\nu} \geq \frac{\boldsymbol{n}^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{H}^{-1}\boldsymbol{n}}{\nu}$$
(39)

for arbitrary *M*-dimensional real vectors \mathbf{n}^{239} . This can be exploited in the case when a global parameter $\tilde{x} = \sum_{j} n_{j} x_{j}$, defined as a linear combination of multiple parameters, is of interest. We then have $\tilde{x}_{est} = \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{x}_{est}$ and $(\Delta \tilde{x}_{est})^{2} = \operatorname{Var}(\tilde{x}_{est}) = \mathbf{n}^{\mathrm{T}} \operatorname{Cov}(\mathbf{x}_{est})\mathbf{n}$, which is of interest in distributed sensing and will be discussed further in section 3.4.4. Examples include relative phase estimation in a two-mode interferometer, where $\mathbf{n} = (1, -1)$,²⁴⁰ or the average phase estimation in an *M*-mode interferometer, where $\mathbf{n} = (1, ..., 1)/M$.

In the next sections, we use the introduced framework of the CR and QCR bound for single and multiparameter estimations to give some basic examples of the SNL and SQL in optical probing schemes, distinguishing between intensity and phase sensing. The individual types of quantum sensor we discuss here will be connected to the corresponding types of plasmonic sensor already discussed in section 2, eventually leading to the advances that will be discussed in section 4.

3.2. Shot-Noise Limited Sensing

To understand where and how the shot noise appears, we focus on the two most canonical types of photonic sensing:^{243–245} intensity sensing and phase sensing, as discussed for plasmonic sensors in section 2.3. They are distinguished by the physical quantity that is being monitored and analyzed to identify the optical properties of an analyte. The goal of intensity sensing is to measure a change of the intensity of light when it passes through an analyte, whose properties under inspection are encoded in the change of intensity. On the other hand, the goal of phase sensing is to read out a change of the phase of the outgoing light from an analyte. These two kinds of sensing schemes lead to different sensitivities in plasmonic sensors, as described in section 2.3. Here, we focus on how the estimation precision is determined according to the sensing type.

3.2.1. Shot-Noise Limited Intensity Sensing. Intensity sensing can be modeled as the estimation of the transmittance T of a beam splitter (BS), as shown in Figure 10(a). A typical scheme to estimate the transmittance of the BS is to inject light with an intensity I_i and then to measure the intensity I_t of the transmitted light. The ratio of the incident intensity to the



Figure 10. (a) Single-mode intensity sensing, where the transmittance of a BS models a transmissive object and is estimated by the ratio of the intensity of the transmitted light to that of the incident light. (b) Two-mode phase sensing, where a relative phase between two arms is estimated from a measurement analyzing the interference at the output ports.

Review

transmitted intensity can be used to estimate the transmittance; for example, the estimated transmittance can be obtained by $T_{\text{est}} = \overline{I_t}/I_{i\nu}$ where $\overline{I_t} = \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} I_{t,j}/\nu$ for ν repetitions of the measurement, with each measurement yielding $I_{t,j}$. To take into account the effect of losses that further decrease the measured value $I_{t,j}$ on top of the transmission, one needs to replace the divisor I_i by $\eta I_{i\nu}$ with the transmission efficiency $\eta \in [0, 1]$, i.e., $T_{\text{est}} = \overline{I_t} / \eta I_i$. The estimation uncertainty is thus given by

pubs.acs.org/CR

$$\Delta T_{\rm est} = \frac{\Delta \overline{I}_{\rm t}}{\eta I_i} = \frac{\Delta I_{\rm t}}{\sqrt{\nu} \eta I_i} \tag{40}$$

where ΔI_t denotes the standard deviation of the transmitted intensity based on the underlying distribution,²²³ which depends on the type of light being injected.

As mentioned, the classical source of light that has most widely been considered and employed in standard photonic sensing is modeled quantum mechanically by the coherent state.²¹⁸ It is also used for setting the classical benchmark or SQL ^{37,39} The coherent state is formally given as the displaced vacuum state $|\alpha\rangle = \hat{D}(\alpha)|0\rangle$, where $\hat{D}(\alpha) = \exp[\alpha \hat{a}^{\dagger} - \alpha^{*}\hat{a}]$, with a displacement parameter $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ and the operators \hat{a} and \hat{a}^{\dagger} representing the annihilation and creation operators for the optical mode.²¹⁸ The displaced vacuum state can be projected into the Hilbert space spanned by the Fock states and is written as a superposition of photon number states, $|n\rangle$, weighted by a Poisson distribution, p(n). When the coherent state is used as an input state in Figure 10(a), i.e., $|\Psi\rangle_{in} = |\alpha\rangle$, and it passes through the BS with transmittance *T*, whose value is unknown and is to be estimated, the outgoing state remains as a coherent state and is written as $|\Psi(T)\rangle_{out} = |\sqrt{T\eta} \alpha\rangle$, with η characterizing the effect of loss.²¹⁸ An intensity measurement is described quantum mechanically by the projectors onto the photon number state, i.e., $|n\rangle\langle n|$, where we omit any geometric factors associated with photonic modes and detection for simplicity. The underlying conditional probability of finding the output state $|\Psi(T)\rangle_{out}$ in the state $|n\rangle$ is then $p(n|T) = _{out}\langle \Psi|n\rangle\langle n|\Psi\rangle_{out} = e^{-T\eta N}(T\eta N)^n/n!$, where N is the average photon number of the input probe state, i.e., $N = \langle \hat{n} \rangle_{\rm in} = I_{\rm i} = \langle \alpha | \hat{n} | \alpha \rangle = |\alpha|^2 = \sum_n np(n),$ with $\hat{n} = \hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{a} = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} n |n\rangle \langle n|$. This leads to the standard deviation of the transmitted intensity ΔI_t = $\langle (\Delta \hat{n})^2 \rangle_{\text{out}}^{1/2} = (\langle \hat{n}^2 \rangle_{\text{out}} - \langle \hat{n} \rangle_{\text{out}}^2)^{1/2} = \sqrt{T\eta N}$, finally giving the estimation uncertainty of eq 40 for the specific case of the coherent state input as

$$\Delta T_{\rm est} = \sqrt{\frac{T}{\nu \eta N}} \tag{41}$$

This equation is the result of using the sample mean (\overline{I}_t) as an estimator. One can also show that the CR bound, ΔT_{CR} , defined in eq 26 for the intensity measurement in the above scenario is the same as eq 41.²⁴⁶ This implies that the sample mean chosen above is an optimal estimator when the intensity is measured. It is interesting to note that the QCR bound, ΔT_{QCR} , defined in eq 28 is also the same as eq 41, meaning that the measurement of the intensity is the optimal measurement in this scenario, even if quantum measurements were allowed. One more relevant observation is that the

uncertainty analyzed by a linear error propagation model,

$$\Delta T_{\text{est}} = \left| \frac{\partial \langle \hat{n} \rangle_{\text{out}}}{\partial T} \right|^{-1} \langle (\Delta \hat{n})^2 \rangle_{\text{out}}^{1/2}, \text{ turns out to be the same as eq 41.}$$

From eq 41 it is clear that the estimation uncertainty scales with the inverse square root of the intensity, i.e., $N^{-1/2}$, where N is the mean of the underlying Poisson photon number distribution of the input coherent state. The right-hand side of eq 41 is the SNL, and it can also be called the SQL in intensity sensing. Therefore, the estimation uncertainty or precision for intensity sensing using a coherent state of light is shot-noise limited.

3.2.2. Shot-Noise Limited Phase Sensing. The paradigmatic scenario for phase sensing is in the form of an MZI, as shown in Figure 10(b). Here, the goal is the estimation of the relative phase difference between the two paths. Consider that a coherent state $|\alpha\rangle$ is fed into mode *a* of the first BS, and the vacuum is assumed to be in mode *b*; that is, the input state is $|\Psi\rangle_{in} = |\alpha\rangle_{a}|0\rangle_{b}$. The BS operator can be written as $\hat{B}(\tau,\theta) =$ $\exp[\tau e^{i\theta} \hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{b} - \tau e^{-i\theta} \hat{a} \hat{b}^{\dagger}]$ and transforms the operators \hat{a} and \hat{b} as²⁴⁷⁻²⁴⁹

$$\hat{B}\hat{a}\hat{B}^{\dagger} = \sqrt{T}\,\hat{a} - e^{i\theta}\sqrt{1-T}\,\hat{b}$$
(42)

$$\hat{B}\hat{b}\hat{B}^{\dagger} = e^{-i\theta}\sqrt{1-T}\hat{a} + \sqrt{T}\hat{b}$$
(43)

where $T = \cos^2 \tau$ represents the transmittance of the BS and θ is an associated phase shift which we choose to be $\theta = \pi/2$ without loss of generality, so that the BS becomes symmetric between the two input ports. After the first BS with transmission *T*, the outgoing state undergoes a relative phase shift that is induced by the operator $\hat{U}(\phi) =$ $\exp\left[i\frac{\phi}{2}(\hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a} - \hat{b}^{\dagger}\hat{b})\right]$, which transforms the operators as $\hat{U}\hat{a}\hat{U}^{\dagger}$ $= e^{-i\phi/2}\hat{a}$ and $\hat{U}\hat{b}\hat{U}^{\dagger} = e^{i\phi/2}\hat{b}$. The state finally exits out of the second BS with transmission *T*. For generality, we also include optical loss occurring between the two BSs, with the amount of loss characterized by channel transmission efficiencies η_a and η_b for the two modes. The output state is then written by²¹⁸

$$|\Psi(\phi)\rangle_{\rm out} = |\alpha_{\rm out}(\phi)\rangle_{\rm a}|\beta_{\rm out}(\phi)\rangle_{\rm b}$$
(44)

where $\alpha_{out}(\phi) = T\sqrt{\eta_a} \alpha e^{i\phi/2} - (1-T)\sqrt{\eta_b} \alpha e^{-i\phi/2}$ and $\beta_{out}(\phi) = i\sqrt{T(1-T)}\sqrt{\eta_a} \alpha e^{i\phi/2} + i\sqrt{T(1-T)}\sqrt{\eta_b} \alpha e^{-i\phi/2}$. Suppose that we perform an intensity measurement at the two outputs and analyze the measurement results to estimate the relative phase ϕ . When the optimal estimator is chosen among many kinds of unbiased estimators, the estimation uncertainty is given by the CR bound, asymptotically saturable by the maximum likelihood method in the limit of a large sample size. It can be minimized by optimizing the transmittance T of the BSs, which can be shown to be $T_{opt} = \sqrt{\eta_b} / (\sqrt{\eta_a} + \sqrt{\eta_b})$ in the vicinity of $\phi = 0$, for which the CR bound reads

$$\Delta\phi_{\rm CR} \approx \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \frac{\sqrt{\eta_{\rm a}} + \sqrt{\eta_{\rm b}}}{2\sqrt{\eta_{\rm a}}\eta_{\rm b}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}}$$
(45)

where $N = |\alpha|^2$ and $\Delta \phi_{\rm CR}$ is independent of the phase of the coherent state input. This is known as the standard interferometric limit (SIL) $\Delta \phi_{\rm SIL}$,^{250,251} which applies when an intensity measurement is used at the output of the second BS. It is clear that $\Delta \phi_{\rm CR}$ of eq 45 scales with $N^{-1/2}$, also called the SQL. When ϕ increases and approaches $\pi/2$, the above optimal value of $T_{\rm opt}$ deviates, but the scaling with N is still

kept. When $\eta_a = \eta_b = \eta$, $T_{opt} = 1/2$; that is, a 50:50 BS is the optimal choice in the above classical scenario, for which the CR bound reads $\Delta \phi_{CR} = (\nu \eta N)^{-1/2}$, regardless of ϕ . The QCR bound of eq 28 can also be calculated using eq 35 for the probe state which we take as the state just before the parameter encoding, i.e., the state present in between the first BS and the phase shifter in the MZI, which is written as $|\Psi\rangle_{\text{prob}} = |\alpha_{\text{prob}}\rangle|\beta_{\text{prob}}\rangle$, with $\alpha_{\text{prob}} = \sqrt{T\eta_a} \alpha$ and $\beta_{\text{prob}} = i\sqrt{(1-T)\eta_b} \alpha$. The QFI is given by $H = |\alpha_{\text{prob}}|^2 + |\beta_{\text{prob}}|^2 = [T\eta_a + (1-T)\eta_b]$ *N*, clearly showing that the QCR bound, $\Delta \phi_{\text{QCR}} \ge (\nu H)^{1/2}$, is shot-noise-limited regardless of the value of *T* and the type of measurement.

3.3. Subshot-Noise Intensity Sensing

Probing an analyte with a coherent state leads to the SQL (or SNL), where the estimation uncertainty scales with $N^{-1/2}$. This is because a coherent state consists of discretized quantum particles (photons) that populate the energy levels of a spatial mode with a certain distribution, resulting in Poissonian photon number statistics on average over finite temporal intervals. As discussed in section 3.1, the QCR bound on the estimation uncertainty is dependent on the probe state that becomes encoded with the information on a parameter to be estimated. An important question naturally arises: Can we further reduce the QCR bound below the SQL by optimizing the probe state? If this is possible, then we can also ask: What would be the optimal state to achieve the ultimate uncertainty bound? To address these questions, we now briefly show how intensity sensing and phase sensing can be further improved with the help of quantum states of light within the framework of the QCR bound. For more details, the latest review articles devoted to quantum metrology can be consulted.^{41,43,44} The techniques introduced here will then be used in section 4, where we describe recent work on improving plasmonic sensors using quantum resources.

3.3.1. Quantum-Enhanced Intensity Sensing. When a sample mean is used in intensity sensing as described above, the crucial quantity that affects the estimation uncertainty is ΔI_t . Is there a state that minimizes ΔI_t ? To answer this, we need to look at photon number distributions. Individual photons undergo a Bernoulli process when passing through a BS; that is, each photon is either transmitted with a probability T or reflected with a probability (1 - T). Given the incident photon number distribution $p_{in}(m)$, the output photon distribution $p_{out}(n|T)$ can be written as

$$p_{\text{out}}(n|T) = \sum_{m=n}^{\infty} {m \choose n} (\eta T)^n (1 - \eta T)^{m-n} p_{\text{in}}(m)$$
(46)

This leads to the variance of the transmitted intensity given as

$$(\Delta I_{t})^{2} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} n^{2} p_{\text{out}}(n|T) - \left(\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} n p_{\text{out}}(n|T)\right)^{2}$$
$$= T\eta (1 - T\eta) \langle \hat{n} \rangle + (T\eta)^{2} \langle (\Delta \hat{n})^{2} \rangle$$
(47)

where $\langle \hat{n} \rangle$ and $\langle (\Delta \hat{n})^2 \rangle$ are the average and the variance of the photon number of the incident state, respectively. For a fixed average photon number $\langle \hat{n} \rangle = N$, and given η and T, we then have that the smaller the photon number variance $\langle (\Delta \hat{n})^2 \rangle$ of the probe state, the smaller the variance $(\Delta I_t)^2$, thus reducing the estimation uncertainty. The state with the smallest photon



Figure 11. Intensity sensing using classical and quantum states. (a) A coherent state is used to measure the transmission *T*. The measured population distribution is Poissonian. (b) The photon number state is used to measure the transmission *T*. The measured population distribution is binomial, with a smaller standard deviation, σ_{B} , than the coherent state, σ_{P} .

number variance is the Fock state $|N\rangle = (N!)^{-1/2} (\hat{a}^{\dagger})^N |0\rangle$, for which $\langle (\Delta \hat{n})^2 \rangle = 0$ and thus

$$\Delta T_{\rm est} = \sqrt{\frac{T(1 - \eta T)}{\nu \eta N}} \tag{48}$$

This clearly shows a quantum enhancement by a factor of $(1 - \eta T)$ in comparison with eq 41 obtained using a coherent state as a probe, although it still scales with $N^{-1/2}$. Substituting the probability $p_{out}(n|T)$ of eq 46 with $p_{in}(m) = \delta_{m,N}$ into the discretized form for the FI of eq 27, one can show that the CR bound is the same as eq 48. For the outgoing state written as $\hat{\rho}_T = \sum_n p_{out}(n|T) \ln \langle n|$, the QCR bound can also be calculated, consequently showing that the QCR bound is the same as the CR bound because $\partial_T \ln \rangle = 0$,³⁸ as in the classical case discussed in section 3.2.

The above quantum enhancement is achieved due to the fact that the photon number state has the least uncertainty, indeed no uncertainty, in photon number, whereas the coherent state has an uncertainty associated with the Poisson distribution in photon number. The probe states $|\alpha\rangle$ and $|N\rangle$ lead to Poisson and binomial photon number statistics in the transmitted light, respectively, as shown in Figures 11(a) and (b). The variance of the binomial distribution, $\sigma_B^2 = \eta T(1 - \eta T)N$, is smaller than that of the Poisson distribution, $\sigma_P^2 = \eta TN$, while their mean values are equal, i.e., $\mu_B = \mu_P = \eta TN$. As can be seen from the above simple formulation, it is known that the photon number state is the optimal state that minimizes the QCR bound, i.e., attaining the ultimate quantum limit in intensity sensing.^{252,253}

Intensity, or equivalently loss parameter sensing, has been considered with various probe states.⁴⁵ The optimal strategies of estimating a general one-parameter quantum process were studied in terms of the Kraus representation,²⁵⁶ and later the ultimate quantum bound on the estimation uncertainty in loss parameter sensing was derived,²⁵³ which is eq 48. Gaussian probe states (a special class of quantum states whose Wigner function is a Gaussian function⁴⁶) were considered in intensity parameter sensing,²⁵³ and their sensing performances were shown to be improved by the use of a Kerr nonlinearity.²⁵⁷ It was shown that the ultimate bound is achievable only by the Fock state probe among all single-mode quantum probe states, including non-Gaussian probe states.²⁵² The optimality of a Fock state probe in intensity sensing has been exploited in various types of sensing, such as in absorption spectroscopy to analyze the organic dye molecule dibenzanthanthrene²⁵⁸ or hemoglobin [see Figure 12(a)].²⁵⁴ Other relevant studies



Figure 12. (a) Precision ratio of an absorption spectroscopy measurement using single photons $(\Delta T_{ ext{est}, ext{q}})$ to the SNL $(\Delta T_{ ext{est}, ext{c}})$ for different types of hemoglobin: (left) oxyhemoglobin (HbO2) and (right) carboxyhemoglobin (HbCO). The absorption parameter is experimentally estimated at individual wavelengths ranging from 790 to 808 nm. Adapted from ref 254 (CC BY License). (b) Precision ratio of a quantum polarimetry measurement using single photons to the SNL for sucrose solution. The optical activity of a sucrose solution with concentration C = 0.5 g/mL is experimentally estimated at input polarization angles in a range from -100° to 100° in steps of 10° . Reproduced with permission from ref 246. Copyright 2020 IOP Publishing. (c) (inset) The absorbance $a \in [0, \infty)$ of a medium is experimentally measured in the presence of other losses, such as surface losses γ and copropagation loss β . The FI is analyzed, as a function of the length of a Pockels cell modulator, for an absorbance measurement with a two-mode squeezed vacuum state input and a coincidence counting scheme (upper). The latter is compared to the case using a single-mode thermal state of light with and without dark counts (lower). Adapted from ref 255 (CC BY 4.0 License).

include quantum polarimetry to measure the optical rotation occurring in chiral media [see Figure 12(b)]²⁴⁶ and an experiment to measure the absorbance of a lossy medium [see Figure 12(c)].²⁵⁵ Of particular interest to this review is that the Fock state probe has recently been used in plasmonic sensing,²⁵⁹ whose details will be discussed in section 4.1.

3.3.2. Multiparameter or Multimode Intensity Sensing. Single-mode intensity sensing can be improved by using

Review



Figure 13. Multiple intensity parameter sensing. (a) General ancilla-assisted strategy: Each signal mode (red) is sent to a fictitious BS with unknown transmittivity T_j in the *j*th mode, while an ancilla (yellow) is kept lossless. The composite output state of the signal modes and the ancilla mode is measured to estimate the vector T consisting of all transmittivities. Virtual environment modes (green) are also considered and assumed to be in the vacuum state before entering the BSs. Adapted with permission from ref 271. Copyright 2018 the American Physical Society. (b) Left: Circular dichroism (CD) is experimentally observed by measuring the intensity-difference of the transmitted left-circularly polarized (LCP) light and right-circularly polarized (RCP) light upon propagation through a chiral medium. Right: General ancilla-assisted CD sensing scheme, similar to (a), but with additional losses η_L and η_R for the respective LCP and RCP modes. The transmittivities T_L and T_R represent the transmittivities of the LCP and RCP modes through a chiral medium, respectively. Reproduced from ref 272.

ancillary modes.²⁶⁰ It has been shown that entanglement can further improve the estimation of an unknown damping constant in an interferometric setup with specific probe states and measurements considered.²⁶¹ Entangled Gaussian probes were shown to lead to a better strategy for discriminating lossy bosonic channels in the presence of a thermal environment.²⁶² The estimation of a loss parameter can also be made simultaneously with the estimation of temperature²⁶³ or phase.²⁶⁴ More generally, the estimation of multiple loss parameters needs to be considered with regard to several applications, such as in image sensing,²⁶⁵ where the precise measurement of an image at individual pixels of an amplitude mask corresponds to the problem of the precise estimation of multiple loss parameters. Increasing the resolution of thermal electromagnetic sources can also be formulated as loss parameter estimation.^{266–270} Other examples of importance are to probe the change of intensity parameters over different frequencies²⁵⁴ or temporal modes.⁴

A recent study has derived the ultimate quantum bound to the estimation uncertainty of multiple intensity parameters and identified the optimal schemes reaching the ultimate quantum bound.²⁷¹ Consider the problem of the estimation of K transmittivities $\{T_k\}_{k=1}^K$ of K transmissive channels using what is called an "ancilla-assisted entangled parallel" strategy, as illustrated in Figure 13(a). The probe states are sent through signal modes (S) representing the K transmissive channels modeled by K BSs, whereas ancillary modes (A) are used to transmit states entangled with the probe states and are kept lossless. To make the scenario more general, multimode features at individual channels are taken into account, so that M_k modes are assumed to be used for probing the kth transmittance. The overall probe state can thus be written as a joint pure state $|\Psi\rangle_{\text{SA}}$ with energy constraints on the individual channels, i.e., $\langle \Psi | \hat{n}_k | \Psi \rangle_{SA} = N_k$ for k = 1, ..., K, where $\hat{n}_k = \sum_{m=1}^{M_k} \hat{a}_{k,m}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{k,m}$. It was shown that the maximum QFIM H can be written as²⁷²

pubs.acs.org/CR



Figure 14. (a) (Left) A twin beam (i.e., the TMSV state of eq 53) is generated via a SPDC process. One mode of the twin beam passes through a weakly absorbing object and arrives at a CCD camera array, while the other mode is directly sent to another area of the CCD array. A subtraction is performed between the two noisy images, realizing the intensity-difference measurement scheme, whereby an image of the object is constructed. (Right) For two example sets (upper and lower row) of the objects, three kinds of schemes are used: (left) differential-intensity measurement using a TMSV state, (middle) differential-intensity measurement using a PC state, and (right) direct-intensity measurement using single-mode coherent state. Adapted with permission from ref 265. Copyright 2010 Springer Nature. (b) (Bottom) The parametric process in the double-lambda scheme converts two pump (P) photons into one probe (Pr) photon and one conjugate (C) photon, generating a bright twin beam, i.e., the TMSD state of eq 54. In the experiment, a bright pump beam couples with the probe and conjugate fields through a hot ⁸⁵Rb vapor cell involving the double-lambda scheme. The spatially correlated bright twin beams are generated with cylindrical symmetry over a range of angles $\Delta\theta$ around the axis of the probe and conjugate outgoing field. (Left) Image of the probe seed entering a hot ⁸⁵Rb vapor cell. (Middle) Image of the outgoing probe beam. (Right) Image of the outgoing conjugate beam, clearly showing antispatial correlation with the image of the probe beam. Reproduced with permission from ref 312. Copyright 2008 AAAS.

$$\boldsymbol{H} = \text{diag}\left(\frac{\eta_1 N_1}{T_1 (1 - \eta_1 T_1)}, \ \dots, \ \frac{N_K}{\eta_K T_K (1 - \eta_K T_K)}\right)$$
(49)

where η_k is an additional but unwanted loss rate for the *k*th channel. Such an ultimate quantum bound exhibits a quantum enhancement in comparison with the QFIM for a product coherent (PC) state probe written as

$$\boldsymbol{H} = \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{\eta_1 N_1}{T_1}, \ \cdots, \ \frac{\eta_K N_K}{T_K}\right)$$
(50)

It has been shown that the above maximum QFIM of eq 49 can be achieved by the product probe $|\Psi\rangle = \bigotimes_{k=1}^{K} |\text{NDS}\rangle_k^{271}$ where $|\text{NDS}\rangle_k$ is the so-called number-diagonal-signal (NDS) state with the energy constraint of N_k on the signal mode, ^{273,274} defined as

$$|\text{NDS}\rangle_{k} = \sum_{\boldsymbol{n}_{k} \geq 0} \sqrt{p(\boldsymbol{n}_{k})} |\boldsymbol{n}_{k}\rangle_{S} |\boldsymbol{\phi}_{\boldsymbol{n}_{k}}\rangle_{A}$$
(51)

where $|\mathbf{n}_k\rangle_{\rm S} = |n_1\rangle_k \cdots |n_{M_k}\rangle_k$ is an M_k -mode number state basis at the *k*th signal channel, $\{|\phi_{\mathbf{n}_k}\rangle_{\rm A}\}$ is an orthonormal basis at the *k*th ancillary channel, and $p(\mathbf{n}_k)$ is the probability distribution of \mathbf{n}_k . The signal energy constraint on the *k*th signal mode then

reads as
$$N_k = \sum_{m_k=0}^{\infty} m_k p(m_k)$$
 with $p(m_k) = \sum_{n_1+\dots+n_{M_k}=m_k} p(n_k)$.

According to the formulation introduced in section 3.1, one can find the optimal measurement setting that reaches the ultimate multiparameter quantum bound. It has been shown that the optimal setting is the joint measurement with the Schmidt bases, i.e., the basis $|\phi_{n_k}\rangle$ on the ancillary modes and the number basis $|n_k\rangle_S$ on the signal modes.²⁷¹ This leads the FIM to be equal to the QFIM of eq 49 for any $\{T_k\}$. Note that the multiparameter QCR bounds given by eq 49 can be simultaneously achieved since the associated SLDs commute.²²²

The above formulation has recently been applied to one notable example, called circular dichrosim (CD) sensing, which is shown in Figure 13(b). Typical CD sensing schemes aim to estimate the difference of the transmittivities between left- and right-circular polarization through a chiral medium composed of either chiral molecules^{275,276} or chiral nanophotonic structures.^{277–279} By modeling CD sensing quantum mechanically [see Figure 13(b)] and using eq 39, Ioannou et al. identified the ultimate quantum limit on the estimation uncertainty of an estimate ($T_{\rm L} - T_{\rm R}$) and investigated the

optimality in terms of various quantum state inputs and quantum measurements.²⁷²

3.3.3. Quantum Noise Reduction in Intensity Measurements. The most widely exploited scheme for measuring intensity changes in both the classical and quantum regimes is reference-assisted transmission or absorption spectroscopy. Here, the signal mode encodes a single intensity parameter of an object, and a reference mode is kept unchanged. Examples include quantum imaging,²⁸⁰ quantum illumination,^{281,282} and quantum sensing.²⁸³ In particular, an intensity-difference measurement between the signal and reference output modes has often been performed in order to remove common excess noise between the two modes.²⁸⁴ This is a technique that has recently been used in classical plasmonic sensing to reach the SNL.^{35,36,96}

The ultimate aim of using quantum probe states is to reduce the noise below the SNL. The noise reduction of the intensitydifference measurement of two modes *a* and *b* can be quantified by the so-called noise reduction factor (NRF),^{285–288} defined by the ratio of the variance of the photon number difference between the signal and reference mode to that of coherent states with matching average photon number, written as

$$\sigma = \frac{\langle [\Delta(\hat{n}_{\rm b} - \hat{n}_{\rm a})]^2 \rangle}{\langle \hat{n}_{\rm a} \rangle + \langle \hat{n}_{\rm b} \rangle}$$
(52)

It can be shown that $\sigma \geq 1$ for all classical light, and thus the light is nonclassical when $\sigma < 1$ is measured. The NRF is minimized by light whose uncertainty in the photon number difference is minimal, i.e., the optimal probe state generally written in the form of the photon-number-correlated state $|\Psi\rangle_{\rm ab} = \sum_n w_n |n, n\rangle$ with any weights $\{w_n\}$, for which $\sigma = 0$. An example is the twin Fock (TF) state $|\text{TF}\rangle = |N,N\rangle$ with $\sigma^{(\text{TF})} = 0$. For a PC state $|\alpha,\beta\rangle$, on the other hand, $\sigma^{(\text{PC})} = 1$, which sets the SNL.

Another useful photon-number-correlated state leading to σ = 0 is the two-mode squeezed vacuum (TMSV) state, often referred to as a twin beam. It has been widely used in experiments over the last few decades.²⁸³ The TMSV state can be generated from a spontaneous parametric down conversion (SPDC) process.^{289–291} It is formally written as the outcome of a two-mode squeezing operation applied to a two-mode vacuum state and is written in the photon number basis as

$$|\text{TMSV}\rangle = \hat{S}_2(\xi)|0, 0\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n |n, n\rangle$$
(53)

where $\hat{S}_2(\xi) = \exp[\xi^* \hat{a}\hat{b} - \xi \hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{b}^{\dagger}]$ denotes the two-mode squeezing operator with $\xi \in \mathbb{C}$ and $c_n = (-e^{i\theta_s} \tanh r)^n/\cosh r$ for $\xi = re^{i\theta_s}$. It is clear from eq 53 that the TMSV state exhibits a strong quantum correlation in the photon number between the two modes, leading to $\sigma^{(\text{TMSV})} = 0$, whereas the individual modes follow thermal statistics, i.e., $\langle (\Delta \hat{n})^2 \rangle / \langle \hat{n} \rangle = N + 1$ with $N = \sinh^2 r$. This strong photon number correlation has been used in various applications such as quantum ellipsometry,^{292,293} absorption/transmission measurements,^{294–298} quantum sensing,²⁹⁹ quantum illumination,²⁸² quantum radiometry,^{300,301} and quantum gravity tests.³⁰² Figure 14(a) presents an experimental demonstration of a quantum imaging technique using the nonclassical spatial correlation of TMSV states for a weakly absorbing object, in direct comparison with the experimental images obtained using classical light.²⁶⁵ The TMSV state is normally regarded as a weak-field probe since the average photon number N is small, i.e., small r, due to the weak nonlinearity of the material used for realizing the twomode squeezing operation.³⁰³

When sensors operating in the high-intensity regime are more preferable or favorable, one can employ a brighter entangled state at the expense of decreasing the quantum correlation, e.g., the state produced by performing the twomode squeezing operation on a vacuum state in one mode and a coherent state in another (whose intensity can be high). This state is formally called a two-mode squeezed displaced (TMSD) state and has been investigated from various perspectives.^{304–306} The TMSD state can be written as

$$|\text{TMSD}\rangle = \hat{S}_2(\xi)|\alpha\rangle|0\rangle \tag{54}$$

for which $\langle \hat{n}_{a} \rangle = \sinh^{2} r + |\alpha|^{2} \cosh^{2} r$ and $\langle \hat{n}_{b} \rangle = \sinh^{2} r + |\alpha|^{2} \sinh^{2} r$ and

$$\sigma^{(\text{TMSD})} = \frac{|\alpha|^2}{|\alpha|^2 + 2(1+|\alpha|^2)\sinh^2 r}$$
(55)

It is clear that for a given small *r*, the intensity of the individual modes can be increased by cranking up the pump laser power (i.e., $|\alpha|^2$) incident to the nonlinear medium that produces the TMSD state. A large $|\alpha|^2$ increases the NRF, but the NRF is always less than unity, implying that the quantum correlation of the TMSD state is always stronger than that of the classical case and can thus be exploited in quantum imaging or sensing. In an experiment, the TMSD state can be generated via a fourwave mixing (FWM) process in a double-lambda configuration provided by a ^{85}Rb vapor cell, $^{307-309}$ where a NRF $\approx 87\%$, i.e., about $-9 \text{ dB} [\approx 10 \log_{10}(1-0.87)]$, has been measured. Such an intense quantum correlation with tens of μW of optical power has been exploited in quantum sensing,^{310,311} imaging,^{312,313} and quantum plasmonics.⁵⁵ The application to quantum plasmonic sensing, in particular, will be described in more detail in section 4.1.2. Figure 14(b) presents a demonstration of entangling spatial information on the probe beam with the conjugate beam by a FWM scheme that generates a TMSD state.³¹²

An interesting comparison can be made among the aforementioned quantum states of light in quantum imaging or intensity parameter sensing scenarios. Consider a setup where the object with transmittance *T* is placed in the signal mode *a*, and the signal and reference modes undergo inefficient transmission channels with factors η_a and η_b , respectively, which include the detection efficiencies of the two detectors.³¹⁴ The intensity-difference measurement operators $\hat{n}_{-} = \hat{b}_{out}^{\dagger} \hat{b}_{out} - \hat{a}_{out}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{out}$ can be written in terms of input operators using the Heisenberg picture.²¹⁸ Here, states are static and operators contain the relevant dynamics. In this case, we can model the change of the transmittance and losses in the modes as fictitious BSs. This enables the output NRF to be calculated for the respective probe states.²¹⁸ For example, the input—output relation given by

$$\hat{a}_{out} = \sqrt{G\eta_{a}T} \hat{a}_{in} + \sqrt{(G-1)\eta_{a}T} \hat{b}_{in}^{\dagger} + \sqrt{(1-\eta_{a})T} \hat{a}_{bath} + \sqrt{(1-T)} \hat{a}_{obj}$$
(56)

$$\hat{b}_{\text{out}} = \sqrt{G\eta_{\text{b}}} \hat{b}_{\text{in}} + \sqrt{(G-1)\eta_{\text{b}}} \hat{a}_{\text{in}}^{\dagger} + \sqrt{(1-\eta_{\text{b}})} \hat{b}_{\text{bath}}$$
(57)

can be applied to \hat{n}_{-} and the expectation value taken with respect to the initial vacuum state $|0\rangle|0\rangle$ for the TMSV state



Figure 15. Comparison of the noise reduction for different quantum states: TF, TMSV, and TMSD. The parameters chosen are G = 4.5, $|a|^2 = 10$, and $\eta_a = \eta_b = 0.8$. The starred versions (TF*, TMSV*, and TMSD*) correspond to the case when $T\eta_a = \eta_b$. Inset: General two-mode scheme using an input state that consists of the signal and reference mode to estimate the intensity parameter *T* in the presence of losses $\eta_{a,b}$ for each mode. Here, the transmissive object with *T* and linear losses are described by fictitious BSs.

probe or the initial displaced state $|\alpha\rangle|0\rangle$ for the TMSD state probe. Here, $\hat{a}_{\rm bath}$ ($\hat{b}_{\rm bath}$) is the input operator of a fictitious BS describing a lossy channel of the signal (reference) mode,²¹⁸ $\hat{a}_{\rm obj}$ denotes the virtual input operator of the object, and $G = \cosh^2 r$ with r being the squeezing parameter and $\theta_{\rm s} = \pi$ assumed. The bath and object modes are taken to be in the vacuum initially.

The NRFs of the respective output states can thus be written as

$$\sigma_{\rm out}^{\rm (TF)} = 1 - \frac{T^2 \eta_{\rm a}^2 + \eta_{\rm b}^2}{T \eta_{\rm a} + \eta_{\rm b}}$$
(58)

$$\sigma_{\text{out}}^{(\text{TMSV})} = 1 + \frac{G |\alpha|^2 (T \eta_{\text{a}} - \eta_{\text{b}})^2 - (T^2 \eta_{\text{a}}^2 + \eta_{\text{b}}^2)}{T \eta_{\text{a}} + \eta_{\text{b}}}$$
(59)

$$\sigma_{\text{out}}^{(\text{TMSD})} \approx 1 + \frac{2(G-1)[G(T\eta_{\text{a}} - \eta_{\text{b}})^2 - \eta_{\text{b}}^2]}{GT\eta_{\text{a}} + (G-1)\eta_{\text{b}}}$$
(60)

where the limit $|\alpha|^2 \gg 1$ has been taken into account for the TMSD state probe.³¹⁵ An example of them is shown in Figure 15.

The quantum enhancement in noise reduction, i.e., a subshot-noise measurement, can be identified by the condition $\sigma_{out} < 1$. The latter holds for $\sigma_{out}^{(TF)}$ at any value of *T*, implying that the use of the TF state always achieves the subshot-noise measurement. The other two states, on the other hand, reach the noise level below the SNL when $G(T\eta_a - \eta_b)^2$ is less than $T^2\eta_a^2 + \eta_b^2$ and η_{b}^2 , respectively. These conditions can be simply satisfied when $T\eta_a$ is close to η_b , motivating a consideration of the ideal case that $T\eta_a = \eta_b = \eta$, for which the NRFs of eqs 58 to 60 become

$$\sigma_{\rm out}^{\rm (TF)} = 1 - \eta \tag{61}$$

$$\sigma_{\rm out}^{\rm (TMSV)} = 1 - \eta \tag{62}$$

$$\sigma_{\text{out}}^{(\text{TMSD})} \approx 1 - \frac{2\eta(G-1)}{2G-1}$$
(63)

These NRFs are shown in Figure 15 as the starred versions. As expected, a subshot-noise measurement can be achieved with all the considered states at any value of *T*. This has been experimentally demonstrated in various studies, ^{308,316,317} including the imaging of a weakly absorbing object, for which $\eta_{\rm b} = \eta_{\rm a}$ and $T \approx 1$ are of interest. ^{265,318} The behaviors of the TF and TMSV state exhibit the maximal noise reduction in intensity sensing, as predicted from the previous discussion where the NSD state has been shown to lead to the optimal results. ^{271,319}

Another useful and practical figure of merit that has often been used in the two-mode scheme is the SNR with respect to an intensity-difference measurement,²⁶⁵ defined by

$$SNR = \frac{|\langle \hat{n}_{b} \rangle - \langle \hat{n}_{a} \rangle|}{\langle [\Delta(\hat{n}_{b} - \hat{n}_{a})]^{2} \rangle^{1/2}}$$
(64)

When symmetric probes are used (such as the TF and TMSV states), i.e., $\langle \hat{n}_{\rm a} \rangle_{\rm in} = \langle \hat{n}_{\rm b} \rangle_{\rm in} = N$ and $\langle (\Delta \hat{n}_{\rm a})^2 \rangle_{\rm in} = \langle (\Delta \hat{n}_{\rm b})^2 \rangle_{\rm in}$, the SNR can be rewritten as

SNR =

$$\frac{(\eta_{\rm b} - \eta_{\rm a}T)N}{\sqrt{N[(T\eta_{\rm a} - \eta_{\rm b})^2 Q_{\rm M} + 2T\eta_{\rm a}\eta_{\rm b}(\sigma_{\rm in} - 1) + (T\eta_{\rm a} + \eta_{\rm b})]}}(65)}$$

where $Q_M = \langle (\Delta \hat{n})^2 \rangle_{\rm in} / \langle \hat{n} \rangle_{\rm in} - 1$ is the Mandel Q-parameter³²⁰ and $\sigma_{\rm in}$ is the NRF for the input state.^{285–288} The Mandel Qparameter is equal to or greater than zero for all classical light, so nonclassical light can be identified by $Q_M < 0$. As mentioned previously, the NRF $\sigma_{\rm in} \geq 1$ for all classical light, and thus light is nonclassical when $\sigma_{\rm in} < 1$ is observed. It is clear to see that the SNR of eq 65 increases with decreasing QM and $\sigma_{\rm in}$. One finds that the minimum values of QM and $\sigma_{\rm in}$ are -1 and 0, respectively, which are obtained for the TF state $|\Psi\rangle_{in}$ = $|N\rangle_a|$ $N\rangle_b.$

The quantum enhancement in the SNR can be quantified by the ratio of the SNR for the particular quantum state probe to that for the balanced PC probe state, written by

$$R_{\rm SNR} = \frac{{\rm SNR}_{\rm q}}{{\rm SNR}_{\rm c}}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{T\eta_{\rm a} + \eta_{\rm b}}{(T\eta_{\rm a} - \eta_{\rm b})^2 Q_{\rm M} + 2T\eta_{\rm a}\eta_{\rm b}(\sigma_{\rm in} - 1) + (T\eta_{\rm a} + \eta_{\rm b})}$$
(66)

Note that quantum enhancement with $R_{\rm SNR} > 1$ is observed when $(T\eta_a - \eta_b)^2 Q_{\rm M} + 2T\eta_a\eta_b(\sigma_{\rm in} - 1) < 0$, so a quantum probe with $-1 \leq Q_{\rm M} < 0$ or $0 \leq \sigma_{\rm in} < 1$ can be shown to be advantageous. The optimal state that maximizes the quantum enhancement is the TF state, for which $Q_{\rm M} = -1$ and $\sigma_{\rm in} = 0$, which are the minimum bounds for the respective parameters. In this optimal case, $R_{\rm SNR} > 1$ regardless of T and $\eta_{\rm a,b}$.

The use of the TMSV state of eq 53, for which $Q_{\rm M} = N$ and $\sigma_{\rm in} = 0$, provides a quantum enhancement only when $(T\eta_{\rm a} - \eta_{\rm b})^2 N < 2T\eta_{\rm a}\eta_{\rm b}$ with respect to the balanced PC state with $Q_{\rm M} = 0$ and $\sigma_{\rm in} = 1$. This indicates that probing with a TMSV state is more advantageous as N decreases. When $\eta_{\rm a} \approx \eta_{\rm b}$ and $T \approx 1$, or $\eta_{\rm a}T \approx \eta_{\rm b}$, the use of a TMSV state becomes more useful even with high N. Such an enhancement has been observed in quantum imaging experiments.^{265,283} One can also find other useful states with $\sigma_{\rm in} = 0$ and $Q_{\rm M} < 0$, for example, pair coherent states³²¹ or finite-dimensional photon-number entangled states.³²² These states have all been considered in quantum plasmonic sensing, as we will discuss in detail in section 4.1.

3.4. Subshot-Noise Phase Sensing

3.4.1. Phase Sensing in Mach-Zehnder Interferometers. The shot-noise limited interferometric phase sensor described in section 3.2 can be improved by making use of quantum resources. The original idea proposed by Caves, who largely contributed to the advent of the field of quantum metrology, is to inject a squeezed vacuum state $|\xi\rangle$ into the input mode b of the first BS in the MZI shown in Figure 10(b), where previously the input state in mode b was assumed to be the vacuum in the shot-noise limited classical sensor.²²⁰ The squeezed vacuum state is defined as $|\xi\rangle = S_1(\xi)|0\rangle$, where the single-mode squeezing operator is represented by $\hat{S}_1(\xi) = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\xi^*\hat{a}^2 - \frac{1}{2}\xi\hat{a}^{\dagger 2}\right)$ and $\xi = re^{i\theta_s}$, with $r \ge 0$ manifesting a squeezing magnitude in the variance of the corresponding quadrature variable, $x_{\theta_{s/2}} = \langle \hat{x}_{\theta_{s/2}} \rangle$, with $\hat{x}_{\theta/2} = (e^{-i\theta_s/2}\hat{a} + e^{i\theta_s/2}\hat{a}^{\dagger})/\sqrt{2}$. Here, $\theta_s/2$ represents the angle of the axis along which squeezing takes place.³²³ The total input state is then $|\Psi\rangle_{in} = |\alpha\rangle_a |\xi\rangle_b$, with the total average photon number of the two modes being $N = |\alpha|^2 + \sinh^2 r$. In the absence of loss ($\eta_a = \eta_b = 1$), this input state is transformed by the first BS into a nonseparable state $|\Psi\rangle_{\text{prob}} = \hat{B}(\pi/4, \pi/4)$ 2) $|\Psi\rangle_{in}$ that probes the phase information, resulting in $|\Psi(\phi)\rangle = \hat{U}(\phi)|\Psi\rangle_{\text{prob}}$ before the measurement. For such a lossless case, Pezzé and Smerzi showed that the QCR bound to the estimation uncertainty of the relative phase ϕ is written by^{324}

$$\Delta\phi_{\rm QCR} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 e^{2r} + \sinh^2 r}} \tag{67}$$

where the optimal phase condition between the displacement and squeezing parameters is set, i.e., $\cos(2\theta_c - \theta_s) = 1$. Note that the QCR bound $\Delta \phi_{\rm QCR}$ is the same for any true value of ϕ , and it can reach Heisenberg scaling $\Delta \phi_{\rm QCR} \propto N^{-1}$ for $N \gg$ 1, when $|\alpha|^2 \simeq \sinh^2 r \simeq N/2$. It can be shown that $\Delta \phi_{\rm QCR} \approx e^{-r}/\sqrt{\nu N}$ when $|\alpha|^2 \gg \sinh^2 r^{22.0}$ and $\Delta \phi_{\rm QCR} \approx e^{-r}/\sqrt{\nu N(4|\alpha|^2 + 1)}$ when $|\alpha|^2 \ll \sinh^2 r^{.324}$ These cases show that too small or too large amounts of squeezing cannot achieve Heisenberg scaling, but they do provide subshot-noise sensing due to the additional factor that multiplies $N^{-1/2}$.

Interestingly, the squeezed vacuum state considered above has been shown to be the optimal state that can be inserted into mode *b* of the lossless MZI when the coherent state is inserted into mode *a*, as it minimizes the estimation uncertainty of the relative phase ϕ .³²⁵ This indicates that the initial idea proposed by Caves turns out to be a good choice as a modification for better phase sensing in an MZI setup. The original goal here was to improve classical gravitational wave detectors, where a strong classical field is used in one mode of the interferometric setup.³²⁶ This has now led to the latest improvements to the LIGO detector³²⁷ and the Virgo detector.³²⁸ Furthermore, the QCR bound of eq 67 is not only theoretical but practically attainable by photon-numbercounting detectors at the two output ports of the MZI³²⁴ or a parity detection scheme at the output port *a* of the MZI.³²⁹

When a coherent state does not need to be used in mode *a* of the MZI, the optimal input state for phase estimation using the MZI setup is two single-mode squeezed vacuum states with antiphases, i.e., $|\Psi\rangle_{opt} = \hat{S}_a(-r)\hat{S}_b(r)|0,0\rangle$ with $r \in \mathcal{R}$,³³⁰ for which the QCR bound reads $\Delta\phi_{QCR} = 1/\sqrt{\nu N(N+1)}$ with $N = 2 \sinh^2 r$ being the total average photon number.

The MZI phase sensing setup has sometimes been considered with a single phase shift in mode *a*, i.e., $\hat{U}(\phi) = e^{i\phi\hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a}.331,332}$ However, in this setting particular care must be made in quantifying the extent to which the estimation uncertainty is reduced, since an optical phase can only be defined in a relative sense with respect to a reference phase.³³³ Hence, a sensing analysis with a single phase shift is valid only when a reference beam with a certain phase is assumed, whose resource also needs to be counted when determining the dependence of the uncertainty on *N*.

In the case of loss in both arms of the MZI, the calculation of the QCR bound becomes complicated due to the probabilistic nature of photon loss that needs to be taken into account. In this case, it is more convenient to use the relation between the QFIM H and the Bures distance $\mathcal{D}_{\rm B}^2$ for the infinitesimally close states $\hat{\rho}_{\phi}$ and $\hat{\rho}_{\phi+{\rm d}\phi}$.^{227,334,335} Using the relevant formulation introduced in Appendix B, one can thus derive the QCR bound for the case $\eta_{\rm a} = \eta_{\rm b} = \eta$, written as^{336,337}

$$\Delta\phi_{\rm QCR} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 \frac{\eta}{(1-\eta) + e^{-2r_\eta}} + \eta \sinh^2 r}}$$
(68)

It is clear that $\Delta \phi_{\text{QCR}}$ increases with loss, i.e., as η decreases, whereas the lossless QCR bound of eq 67 is recovered when $\eta = 1$. It can also be shown that the Heisenberg scaling $\Delta \phi_{\text{OCR}} \propto$

pubs.acs.org/CR



Figure 16. (a) (left) Linear optical network to demonstrate optimal phase estimation in the presence of loss. Initial BSs prepare the optimal probe state depending on the amount of loss measured via a loss monitor in a proof-of-principle demonstration. (right) Phase estimation uncertainties measured using two-photon optimal states (blue circles), NOON (red squares) states, and weak-coherent states to set the SIL regime (gray diamonds), for five phase values $\phi = 0, \pm 0.2$, and ± 0.4 rad under several lossy conditions, given by different transmittivities η . Horizontal lines represent the theoretical CR bounds for individual input states in the presence of loss. Reproduced with permission from ref 353. Copyright 2010 Springer Nature. (b) (left) The two-photon NOON state undergoes a phase rotation in a collinear interferometer. The signal and idler photons are separated via a PBS and measured by superconducting nanowire detectors. The high efficiency and visibility in the experiment meant that postselection was not needed, leading to the demonstration of unconditional quantum enhancement. (right) Experimentally measured standard deviation of the estimated phases with error bars determined via the standard bootstrapping technique. The theoretical SNL (purple line) and CR bound for phase sensing with NOON states (orange line) are shown with 95% confidence regions. Reproduced with permission from ref 354. Copyright 2017 Springer Nature.

 N^{-1} promised for the lossless cases starts to deteriorate as η decreases.

The QCR bound $\Delta \phi_{\rm QCR}$ of eq 68 has been shown to be achievable by a linear optical setup using a weak local oscillator field and photon counting.³³⁷ Other types of measurement schemes have been investigated, for example, homodyne detection with a measurement operator $\hat{M} = \hat{x}_{\phi_{\rm HD}}$, a singlemode intensity measurement with $\hat{M} = \hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a}$, an intensitydifference measurement with $\hat{M} = \hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a}$, and a parity measurement with $\hat{M} = (-1)\hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a}$.^{336,338} In the case of homodyne detection (see Appendix C), it was shown that this offers a nearly optimal measurement scheme and approaches the QCR bound of eq 68 in the large power regime. Alternatively, the robustness of the TMSV state against photon loss enables one to achieve subshot-noise limited phase sensing for a wide range of the phase parameter space without pre- or postselection.³³⁹

3.4.2. Phase Sensing with NOON States. In addition to exploiting continuous variable states such as the squeezed vacuum state in phase sensing, discrete variable states or definite-photon-number states have also been considered as probe states for phase sensing.³⁴⁰ The most famous state is the s o - c a ll e d NOON s t a t e, d e fin e d a s $|NOON\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|N, 0\rangle + |0, N\rangle)$, where N photons are found in either mode a or b,^{341–343} exhibiting N-particle maximal entanglement.³⁴⁴ The generation of NOON states is very difficult with current technology, and they have been

limited to N = 5 in photonic systems.^{345,346} The NOON state possesses a very useful feature that the variance $\langle (\Delta \hat{n}_{-})^2 \rangle$ of the photon number difference between the two modes is maximal among the states with N photons in total, consequently maximizing the QFI written by $H = 4\langle (\Delta G)^2 \rangle$, where $G = \hat{n}_{-}/2$ is the generator of the relative phase shift. When the NOON state is employed as a probe state, the QCR bound is found to be $\Delta \phi_{\rm OCR} = 1/\sqrt{\nu} N$, clearly manifesting a Heisenberg scaling enabled by the maximal variance of the photon number difference of the probe state. It is interesting to note that injecting a coherent state and a squeezed vacuum state into the two input ports of the first BS in a MZI generates an effective NOON state, as the output state has a large overlap with the NOON state, i.e., $\hat{B}(\pi/4,\pi/2)|\alpha,\xi\rangle \approx |$ NOON for sinh² $r = |\alpha|^2 = N/2$ and $N \gg 1$.^{324,345} In the MZI setup, the coherent state and squeezed vacuum state thus exploit a large variance $\langle (\Delta \hat{n}_{-})^2 \rangle$, similar to the NOON state probe, in order to achieve subshot-noise sensing.

The QCR bound for the NOON state has been shown to be achievable by the measurement of the observable $\hat{A}_N = | 0,N \rangle \langle N,0| + |N,0 \rangle \langle 0,N|^{50}$ or parity detection.³⁴¹ One major obstacle in using the NOON state for phase sensing from a practical perspective is that it is extremely sensitive to photon loss, since the loss of a single or a few photons drastically changes the state's photon number distribution and its variance $\langle (\Delta \hat{n}_{-})^2 \rangle$ quickly decreases. The estimation uncertainty associated with the NOON state thus becomes large even



Figure 17. Single-mode phase sensing. (a) A coherent state or a squeezed vacuum state are used to measure the phase ϕ . (b) The phase space representation for the states. The coherent state has an estimation precision of $\Delta \phi_{coh}$ for the phase ϕ , whereas the squeezed vacuum state has a smaller estimation precision of $\Delta \phi_{sq}$. The initial phase of the squeezed state, $|\xi\rangle$, is $\theta_s = \pi$ and the phase affected squeezed state $|\xi e^{2i\phi}\rangle$ rotates in phase space counterclockwise by the angle ϕ .

with a moderate amount of photon loss.³⁴⁷⁻³⁵⁰ Such an extreme sensitivity to photon loss can be alleviated by exploiting partial entanglement at the expense of a degraded performance, while still achieving subshot-noise limited behavior.³⁵¹ Hence, adding other photon-number components (e.g., $|k, N - k\rangle$ for k < N) into the NOON state helps phase sensing with NOON states become more robust to loss and provide subshot-noise sensing even in the presence of loss. In particular, in phase sensing with the definite-photon-number state $|\Psi\rangle_{\text{prob}} = \sum_{k=0}^{N} c_k |k, N - k\rangle$ with N particles distributed over the two modes, one can find the optimal distribution $\{c_k\}$ that maximizes the QFI and consequently enables one to beat the SQL or SNL at any loss level.^{250,352} The latter has been experimentally demonstrated with optimally engineered definite-photon-number states 353 [see Figure 16(a)] and has been considered theoretically for quantum plasmonic sensing, as will be discussed in more detail in section 4.2.1. The unconditional quantum enhancement in phase estimation precision with the NOON state has also been experimentally demonstrated in a nearly lossless scenario with significantly increased efficiency and visibility³⁵⁴ [see Figure 16(b)].

The most commonly used detection scheme for phase sensing with NOON states is the *N*-fold coincidence detection scheme that counts the number of events when *N* photons are detected simultaneously.³⁵⁵ This allows one to investigate the *N*-fold detection modulation with the phase ϕ , leading to the probability of a coincidence detection given by

$$p_{\text{coin}}(\phi) = \frac{f_N [1 + \mathcal{V}_N \cos(N\phi)]}{2}$$
(69)

where f_N is the proportion of the input state that causes an *N*-fold coincidence detection event, and \mathcal{V}_N is the *N*-photon visibility. The CR bound for this scheme can be calculated with the underlying probabilities $p_{\text{coin}}(\phi)$ for the detection event and $1 - p_{\text{coin}}(\phi)$ for the no detection event and is written as

$$\Delta \phi_{\text{coin}} = \frac{2\sqrt{p_{\text{coin}}(\phi)[1 - p_{\text{coin}}(\phi)]}}{f_N \mathcal{V}_N N |\sin(N\phi)|} \le \frac{1}{f_N \mathcal{V}_N N |\sin(N\phi)|}$$
(70)

where the upper bound takes into account the worst case of the probability $p_{\text{coin}}(\phi) = 1/2$. For comparison with the classical benchmark, the CR bound $\Delta\phi_{\text{coin}}$ in eq 70 can be

compared with $\Delta \phi_{\text{SIL}}$ of eq 45, leading to an inequality $\Delta \phi_{\text{coin}} < \Delta \phi_{\text{SIL}}$ for a sensor to be so-called supersensitive.^{356,357} The inequality can be specified, when $|\sin(N\phi)| = 1$, as

$$1 < \frac{f_N^2 \mathcal{V}_N^2 N}{\tilde{\eta}} \tag{71}$$

where $\tilde{\eta} = [2\sqrt{\eta_a \eta_b}/(\sqrt{\eta_a} + \sqrt{\eta_b})]^2$. For the threshold visibility defined as $\mathcal{V}_N^{(\text{th})} = \sqrt{\tilde{\eta}/f_N^2}N$, the above inequality can be written as $\mathcal{V}_N > \mathcal{V}_N^{(\text{th})}$; that is, only a measured visibility higher than the threshold visibility demonstrates "supersensitivity".³⁵⁶ The latter can be considered as a genuine criterion for the quantum enhancement of the precision in sensing experiments with NOON states instead of "super-resolution", which has sometimes been misinterpreted, since it can also be produced by only classical light and projective measurements.³⁵⁶ The above theory will be used in section 4.2 when describing quantum plasmonic sensors that have considered the use of NOON states.

A simple example of NOON state phase sensing uses the two-photon NOON state $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|2, 0\rangle + |0, 2\rangle)$. It can be readily created by exploiting Hong-Ou-Mandel (HOM) interference.358 The HOM interference occurs when two single photons are injected into a lossless 50/50 BS; that is, the output state is written as $\hat{B}(\pi/4,\pi/2)|1,1\rangle =$ $(|2, 0\rangle + |0, 2\rangle)/\sqrt{2}$ up to a global phase, where the component $|1,1\rangle$ is absent due to destructive interference caused by the indistinguishable paths leading to the same output state $|1,1\rangle$. When the two-photon NOON state undergoes a relative phase shift described by the operator $\hat{U}(\phi)$, the outgoing state can be written up to a global phase as $(|2, 0\rangle + e^{-2i\phi}|0, 2\rangle)/\sqrt{2}$ before the measurement. The superresolution with ϕ -modulation is observed due to the multiplied constant factor of N = 2 in the exponential factor.³⁵⁵ For twophoton NOON states, one way to realize the required 2-fold modulation measurement is by sending the two modes of the NOON state (now with the phase encoded) into a lossless 50/ 50 BS and detecting the coincidence of single photons at the output using single-photon detectors. The visibility of the twophoton measurement signal (as ϕ is modulated) is then $V_2 = 2\eta_a \eta_b / (\eta_a^2 + \eta_b^2)$, which enables the supersensitivity inequality to be reduced to approximately $(\eta_a + \eta_b)/2 > 0.8$; that is, supersensitive phase sensing with the two-photon NOON state can be achieved when the total loss is less than 20% on average.³⁵⁹ This is an important point when using a plasmonic sensor with NOON states, as will be discussed in more detail in section 4.2.

Interferometric phase sensing has been studied with various quantum states and measurements that beat the SQL and achieve the HL, including the twin-Fock state $|N\rangle|N\rangle$ incident into a MZI,³⁶⁰ the photon-number correlated state,^{350,361–366} the TMSV state with parity detection,³⁶⁷ Schrödinger's cat states,³⁶⁸ and multiheaded coherent states.^{369,370} More details of these states and their performance can be found in ref 340.

3.4.3. Single-Mode Phase Sensing. Instead of two-mode phase sensing, single-mode phase sensing has also been investigated for the sake of simplicity. Here, the implicit assumption is that the phase of a reference mode is set. The latter is enabled by employing phase-sensitive detection schemes, e.g., homodyne detection,^{371,372} or general-dyne measurement.³⁷³ Thus, the phase information in single-mode phase sensing cannot be extracted from a probe state by phase-insensitive detection schemes, such as photon-number counting, i.e., $\partial_{\phi}p(n|\phi) = 0$.

Consider that a single-mode state of light $|\Psi\rangle_{in}$ undergoes a phase shift described by the operator $\hat{U}(\phi) = e^{i\phi \hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a}}$, as shown in Figure 17(a). As in the intensity sensing case, one may consider states having a small uncertainty in their phase for single-mode phase sensing. One typical quantum state whose phase uncertainty can be reduced below the SNL is the squeezed vacuum state, $|\xi\rangle$. The phase shift operator $\hat{U}(\phi)$ rotates a state in phase space about the origin, and the output state is $|\Psi\rangle_{out} = \hat{U}(\phi)|\xi\rangle = |\xi e^{2i\phi}\rangle$, for which the QCR bound is obtained as^{374,375}

$$\Delta \phi_{\rm QCR} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu} \sqrt{8(N+N^2)}} \tag{72}$$

where $N = \sinh^2 r$ represents the average photon number of the initial squeezed vacuum state. It is clear that the QCR bound of eq 72 scales with N^{-1} , not only reaching Heisenberg scaling^{374,375} but also beating the SQL of $\Delta \phi = 1/\sqrt{\nu 4N}$ that is obtained for a single-mode coherent state input. Such a quantum enhancement in phase sensing is enabled by the smaller phase uncertainty of the squeezed vacuum state as compared to the coherent state with the same energy, as shown in Figure 17(b). One also finds that the photon number state that is the optimal state for single-mode intensity sensing cannot encode any phase information since the photon number state exhibits a full phase uncertainty.²¹⁸

Generally speaking, to measure the change of a particular physical quantity being induced by a parameter x with better precision (or lower estimation uncertainty), the probe state showing the least uncertainty in that particular parameter is the most useful. A more analytical understanding can be made through the relation between the QFI and the fidelity \mathcal{F} between two infinitesimally close states $\hat{\rho}(x)$ and $\hat{\rho}(x + dx)$ for a given parameter x, i.e., $H(x) = \lim_{dx \to 0} 8\{1 - \mathcal{F}[\hat{\rho}(x), \hat{\rho}(x + dx)]\}/(dx)^{2} \frac{376,377}{6}$ (see also Appendix B). That is, the estimation capability is related to the ability to distinguish two infinitesimally close states $\hat{\rho}(x)$ and $\hat{\rho}(x + dx)$, and a better distinction can be made with the least uncertainty in x of the probe state.

One can show that the QCR bound of eq 72 is reached by homodyne detection, which measures the quadrature variable of $\hat{x}_{\theta_{\rm HD}} = (e^{-i\theta_{\rm HD}}\hat{a} + e^{i\theta_{\rm HD}}\hat{a}^{\dagger})/\sqrt{2}^{374,378,379}$ by setting the optimal homodyne angle $\theta_{\rm HD}$ depending on the values of r, $\theta_{s'}$ and ϕ .³⁷⁹ The optimality of homodyne detection holds in the absence of loss, i.e., probing with a pure squeezed vacuum state, whereas a realistic squeezed state of light involves an inevitable thermal photon contribution,³⁸⁰ for which the QCR bound can only be obtained by performing an exotic measurement with projectors over the eigenstates of the SLD operator.^{376,379}

3.4.4. Multiple-Phase Sensing. Single-phase estimation can be extended to estimating multiple phases, $\theta = (\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_{n-1})$ $(\theta_d)^T$. This is relevant to applications such as phase imaging, which measure phase contrast, and interference or gravitational wave detectors,²³⁴ which measure multiple parameters. It is also relevant to quantum plasmonic imaging, which will be discussed in more detail in section 4.1.2. The estimation uncertainty of the total of all phases is governed by the covariance matrix $Cov(\theta)$ and lower bounded by the QCR bound, as given in eq 38. The uncertainty of the total of all phases estimated can be quantified by the sum of the individual uncertainties: $|\Delta \theta|^2 = \sum_i (\Delta \theta_i)^2 = \text{Tr}[\text{Cov}(\theta)]$. This quantity is often compared using three typical cases: (i) a scheme using optimal classical state inputs, setting the classical benchmark or SQL, (ii) a scheme that estimates the phases individually by using optimal separable quantum state inputs, which is called "individual estimation" or a "local strategy", and (iii) a scheme that estimates all the phases simultaneously by using optimal entangled state inputs and a collective measurement (when necessary), which is called "simultaneous estimation" or a 'global strategy". The comparison of these three cases aims to address the following questions: Can schemes using quantum resources beat the SQL in multiparameter estimation? Is a simultaneous estimation approach beneficial as compared to an optimal (maybe quantum) individual estimation approach? Relevant studies attempting to answer these questions have recently been started from various points of view, arising from the fact that multiparameter estimation is nontrivial and depends on the kind of parameters estimated, as well as the type of sensing scenario.²³⁶

In one of the earliest works on this topic, Humphreys et al. showed that the quantum enhancement in the precision of simultaneous estimation of multiple phases can be obtained by a coherent superposition of N photons among d modes, in which individual phases $\theta_{j=1,\dots,d}$ are encoded.³⁸¹ It has been shown that the considered entangled state is optimal among the class of definite-photon-number states, with N being the total number of photons, and the advantage over individual estimation scaling with O(d). The particular optimal measurements identified in ref 381 have recently been generalized in ref 239, which derived the necessary and sufficient conditions for projective measurements to saturate the multiparameter QCR bound in the case of pure probe states.

Among *N*-particle photonic states, Holland–Burnett states³⁶⁰ and NOON states have been shown to be the optimal states for simultaneous multiple-phase estimation when d = 2 in the absence of loss and decoherence.³⁸² Such non-Gaussian states achieve a factor of d improvement over individual estimation, as shown in ref 381, but the use of Gaussian states offers no more than a factor of 2 improvement.³⁸³ Furthermore, when both definite-photon-number



Figure 18. (a) (left) An experimental setup for distributed phase sensing with M = 4. A displaced squeezed state input is split into four identical and entangled probes through a BS network (BSN). The multiple-phase-encoded probe state is measured with homodyne detection (HD) set-ups, from which the average phase of multiple phases is estimated. (right) The precision of the estimated average phase for different average numbers N of photons per sample is compared between the entangled scheme (σ_e) and the separable scheme (σ_s). Their theoretical precision (solid lines) as well as the SQL (dashed line) are also presented. Reproduced with permission from 241. Copyright 2020 Springer Nature. (b) (left) A phase-squeezed state injected into two variable BSs configures the continuous-variable multipartite entangled probe to estimate the average displacement. An individual displacement on the squeezed phase quadrature variable is induced by an electro-optic modulator (EOM) driven by radiofrequency (RF) fields. The output state is measured by homodyne detection, leading to the estimate of the average displacement. (right) The variance of the estimated values as a function of the transmittivity of the second BS (VBS2) is compared among different cases: entangled sensors (circles and black curves for experiment and theory), classical separable sensors (triangles and green curves for experiment and theory), and the SQL (black orizontal dotted line). Reproduced and adapted with permission from ref 392. Copyright 2020 the American Physical Society.

states and indefinite-photon-number states are all considered together, the precision given by the QCR bound for simultaneous estimation can be obtained or even further enhanced through an individual estimation strategy using proper mode-separable input states. $^{\rm 240}$ It was found that a large particle-number variance within each mode plays a crucial role in improving the OCR bound of multiple-phase estimation. This comparable or even better sensing performance provided by individual schemes suggests experimentally more favorable settings for multiple-phase estimation. Moreover, the ultimate quantum limit for simultaneous multiple-phase estimation is only achievable by an optimal state that manipulates entanglement among both particles and modes.³⁸⁴ Å more conclusive mathematical proof has been provided by Proctor et al., showing that entanglement in simultaneous estimation leads to no fundamental precision enhancement over individual estimation when the generators of the multiple parameters commute and yields no more than a factor of 2 enhancement even when the generators do not commute.³⁸⁵

Another interesting but more challenging scenario is to estimate multiple phases that are governed by noncommuting generators, e.g., the three components of a magnetic field in terms of the spatial coordinates.³⁸⁶ For this scenario, a 3-fold improvement over individual estimation strategies has been shown to be achievable by simultaneous estimation schemes using permutationally invariant quantum states,³⁸⁷ including

the superposition of three Greenberger–Horne–Zeilinger-type states, each of which is known to attain the QCR bound of estimating a magnetic field aligned along one of the specific axes.³⁸⁸ The work in ref 387 also showed that too much entanglement is detrimental for achieving a Heisenberg scaling in terms of the total number of particles *N*. In general, for noncommuting generators, there exits a trade-off for the precisions among the individual estimators; that is, more precise estimation of one parameter leads to less precise estimation of the others.^{264,389,390} Hou et al. have recently derived the minimal trade-off for the precision of simultaneous estimation of a three-dimensional magnetic field, finally leading to the identification of the ultimate quantum limit.³⁹¹

Entanglement appears to lie at the heart of multiparameter estimation and has been studied from several perspectives, but here again, in the estimation of multiple phases, entanglement does not always guarantee a quantum enhancement.^{240,384} However, entanglement becomes a more significant factor in estimating a global parameter that is composed of multiple parameters to be encoded across multiple modes or locations, e.g., distributed sensing or networked sensing. The global phase parameter that is often considered is a linear combination of multiple phases, written as $\tilde{\theta} = \sum_{j} n_{j} \theta_{j}$, with positive n_{j} and normalization $\sum_{j} n_{j} = 1$. For this, eq 39 needs to be used. The effect of quantum entanglement in the



Figure 19. (a–c) SU(1,1) nonlinear interferometers with direct intensity readout, with dual homodyne readout, and with a truncated layout including dual homodyne readout after a single nonlinear amplifier. A pump laser is illustrated in green, probe and conjugate fields are represented in red and blue, and BSs are illustrated to represent loss in the interferometer, with transmission η . A transducer is shown inside the interferometer that imparts the sensors phase ϕ onto the probe. Reproduced with permission from ref 404. Copyright 2017 the American Physical Society. (d) Precision (normalized here by the mean photon number $|\alpha|^2$ and presented as the variance rather than the standard deviation of ϕ) as a function of the gain of the second nonlinear amplifier in a nonlinear interferometer with direct intensity readout. The gain of the first nonlinear amplifier is set to G = 2, and the internal transmissions are set to $\eta_{ai} = \eta_{bi} = \eta_i = 1$. The blue, yellow, green, and orange lines represent $\eta_{ae} = \eta_{be} = \eta_e = 0.5, 0.75, 0.9$, and 0.99, respectively. Reproduced and adapted with permission from ref 404. Copyright 2017 the American Physical Society. (e) Optimal phase precision normalized to the SNL as a function of η_e for a nonlinear interferometer with asymmetric gain between the two nonlinear amplifiers. Increased gain r_2 in the second nonlinear amplifier reduces the sensitivity to external losses $1 - \eta_e$. Reproduced with permission from ref 405. Copyright 2017 the American Physical Society. (f) Example of a sensor based on a truncated nonlinear interferometer. The Rb vapor cell serves as a nonlinear amplifier, and the transducer imparts the sensor's phase onto the probe or the probe's local oscillator. Reproduced with permission from ref 400. Copyright 2020 the American Physical Society.

uncertainty $\Delta \hat{\theta}$ of distributed sensing has sparked some interest. Recent work suggests useful schemes using quantum entanglement to gain an enhancement over schemes that measure the $\{\theta_j\}$ individually and then compute a global parameter $\tilde{\theta}$ via classical communication.

Along the lines mentioned above, Proctor et al. have shown that entanglement can significantly enhance the precision only when global parameters are of interest in estimation.³⁸⁵ Ge et al. considered a linear optical network and separable quantum inputs to show that injecting separable quantum states into only a few modes out of all the modes achieves a quantum enhancement,³⁹³ resulting in the Heisenberg scaling 1/Nd in terms of both the constrained photon number N and the number of parameters d. Particularly, TF states have been shown to be useful quantum states achieving the Heisenberg scaling $\propto 1/Nd$, showing a quantum improvement over an individual estimation approach with the precision scaled as $1/N\sqrt{d}$. Zhuang et al. have proposed theoretical schemes that use a squeezed vacuum input being injected into a BS array to estimate a linear combination of displacement parameters or that of multiple phases.³⁹⁴ The proposed schemes were shown to achieve Heisenberg scaling in the absence of loss and have recently been experimentally demonstrated for phase parameters²⁴¹ [see Figure 18(a)] and for displacement parameters³⁹² [see Figure 18(b)]. These proposed schemes can be enhanced by continuous-variable error correction to reinstate the

Heisenberg scaling, at least up to moderate values of d, even in the presence of loss or decoherence.³⁹⁵ The schemes have all used homodyne detectors, but single-photon detectors can also be used with an antisqueezing operation that transforms the initial squeezed vacuum state into the vacuum, which achieves Heisenberg scaling in distributed phase sensing.³⁹⁶

In the special case that Gaussian states are employed as an input into an array of BSs to estimate the average of independent phase shifts, Oh et al. have identified the optimal scheme that exploits partially entangled Gaussian probe states, as maximally entangled probe states are rather detrimental.²⁴²

As is evident from the above-mentioned recent work, many studies appear to show that entanglement may not be the only quantity that determines the characteristic behavior of the multiple-phase quantum sensors under investigation. In such a sense, a new operational concept called multiparameter squeezing has recently been suggested to identify metrologically useful states and optimal estimation strategies.³⁹⁷ This can be seen as a counterpart to the NRF that characterizes quantum enhancement in quantum noise reduction in intensity measurements. This is highly relevant to quantum plasmonic imaging.

3.4.5. Quantum Sensing with SU(1,1) Interferometers. Conventional MZIs like those illustrated in Figure 10(b) consist of two inputs and two outputs, and they can be described in a group-theoretical framework as SU(2),³⁶² the special unitary group of degree 2. The SU(2) group, which is a simple Lie group, is equivalent to the rotation group in three dimensions, which has the nice feature that it allows one to visualize the operations of BSs and phase shifters as rotations in three-dimensional space. This is true for both classical and quantum optical readout fields. When the BSs in linear MZIs, or other interferometers such as Fabry-Perot interferometers, are replaced by nonlinear amplifiers such as four-wave mixers or optical parametric amplifiers, as shown in Figures 19(a) and (b), the resulting nonlinear interferometer can be described by the SU(1,1) group,³⁶² another type of simple Lie group where the operations can be visualized as rotations and Lorentz boosts. Similarly, truncated nonlinear interferometers composed of one nonlinear amplifier followed by dual homodyne detectors, as shown in Figures 19(c) and (f), can also be described by the SU(1,1) group.³⁹⁸⁻⁴⁰⁰ Describing interferometric sensors with such a group-theoretical approach allows for a straightforward analysis of the quantum states that optimize an interferometric estimation precision. Both SU(2)and SU(1,1) interferometers can achieve a phase precision with a scaling approaching 1/N for N photons, but SU(2) interferometers require a squeezed vacuum state to be injected into the second channel of the first BS in order to achieve the HL when the first channel is fed by a coherent state of light, as discussed in section 3.4.1. In contrast, SU(1,1) interferometers can be operated with a vacuum, coherent state, or combined coherent state and squeezed vacuum state inputs, and they offer an enhancement in precision that scales with the gain of the nonlinear amplifier.^{362,401,402} However, because at least one of the nonlinear amplifiers in a conventional SU(1,1) nonlinear interferometer relies on phase-sensitive amplification, it is essential to maintain a near-zero phase difference within the interferometer to maintain the precision advantages.⁴⁰³

As discussed in section 3.4.1, the main obstacle to practical quantum phase sensing with squeezed states of light is protecting the vulnerable quantum advantage against losses, as described in eq 68. Indeed, in the presence of losses, SU(2)interferometers with a squeezed vacuum input asymptotically approach the sensitivity of classical SU(2) interferometers with the same mean photon number.⁴⁰⁶ As a result, the development of detectors with near-unity detection efficiency has been a critical research topic for years. While some progress has been made with Bayesian parameter estimation as a tool for mitigating the effect of losses on squeezed SU(2) interferometers, 324 SU(1,1) interferometers offer an alternative approach that is more robust against losses in some cases. Their dependence on loss can be broken down into dependencies on internal and external losses, represented here by $(1 - \eta_i)$ and $(1 - \eta_e)$, respectively. Here, η_i and η_e are assumed to be balanced for both arms of the interferometer, i.e., $\eta_{ai} = \eta_{bi} = \eta_i$ and $\eta_{ae} = \eta_{be} = \eta_{e}$, as shown in Figures 19(a)– (c). For a SU(1,1) interferometer with direct intensity readout, as illustrated in Figure 19(a), external losses, or losses after the second nonlinear amplifier, largely represent losses due to filtering before detection and losses due to imperfect detector efficiency. Internal losses include losses within the nonlinear amplifiers as well as losses from optical interactions with a sensor in the interferometer. In the limit of $\eta_i = 1$ and when the interferometer is operated in a balanced mode where the two nonlinear amplifiers have identical gains and losses, with a coherent state used in each input port, the external loss modifies the precision $\Delta \phi$ of the SU(1,1) interferometer as⁴⁰³

$$\Delta\phi_{\rm a} = \eta_{\rm a}^{-1/2} \Delta\phi \tag{73}$$

In other words, unlike SU(2) interferometers, external loss in a balanced SU(1,1) interferometer does not change the functional description of the precision except for the addition of a prefactor because of the second nonlinear amplifier.⁴⁰⁷ In fact, because the second nonlinear amplifier is a phase-sensitive amplifier that can exhibit noiseless amplification, increasing its gain can compensate for external loss. The effect of external loss in an unbalanced SU(1,1) interferometer is shown in Figure 19(d).⁴⁰⁴ Here, the gain of the first nonlinear amplifier is set to 2, internal losses are neglected, and the gain of the second nonlinear amplifier is varied. In the case of no external loss, the precision is almost independent of gain. On the other hand, in the limit of arbitrarily large gain, the interferometeric precision becomes insensitive to external loss.⁴⁰⁴ Figure 19(e)expresses this insensitivity to external loss more directly by plotting the interferometeric precision, normalized by the SNL, as a function of η_e for three different gain ratios, r_2/r_1 . As the gain of the second amplifier, r_2 , is increased relative to that of the first, r_1 , the precision becomes increasingly insensitive to external loss.

However, for the purposes of plasmonic sensing, internal losses that occur on a plasmonic sensing element within one arm of the interferometer must be considered. When η_e is set equal to unity and the internal transmission η_i is varied (setting $\eta_{bi} = \eta_{ai} = \eta_i$ such that any additional loss from the sensor is matched), for bright coherent inputs $|\alpha\rangle$ and $|\beta\rangle$ seeding the first nonlinear amplifier and N_i photons inside the balanced interferometer, the precision $\Delta \phi$ of the SU(1,1) interferometer becomes⁴⁰³

$$\Delta \phi_{i} = \left[1 + \frac{1 - \eta_{i}}{\eta_{i}} \frac{N_{i}}{|\alpha|^{2} + |\beta|^{2}}\right]^{1/2} \Delta \phi$$
(74)

This suggests that balanced SU(1,1) interferometers are robust against small levels of loss, but as with conventional squeezed interferometers, increasing loss will push the precision to the SNL.

Truncated nonlinear interferometers that include only a single nonlinear amplifier followed by dual homodyne detection, as illustrated in Figures 19(c) and (f), provide the same phase precision as conventional nonlinear interferometers, but they offer some substantial advantages. First, they offer a simpler experimental design by removing the phasesensitive nonlinear amplifier from the nonlinear interferometer. Second, they typically exhibit reduced loss (and thus a greater quantum enhancement) because the nonlinear amplifier itself exhibits a trade-off between gain and loss that always introduces some loss into the measurement. Finally, truncated nonlinear interferometers can use arbitrarily high power local oscillators. This is critical because the SNL for such a measurement is defined by the sum of the powers of the twomode squeezed state outputs from the interferometer and the local oscillators. Thus, it is possible to arbitrarily increase the power of the local oscillators, thereby increasing the SNR of the measurement, without introducing excess power to the sensor and while taking advantage of the quantum noise reduction in a two-mode squeezed state. No truncated nonlinear interferometric plasmonic sensor has been demonstrated in the literature to date, but a growing amount of literature has described the precision of this approach for photosensitive sensing applications. 398-400

3.5. Quantum Sensing beyond the Cramér-Rao Bound

For phase estimation using a pure probe state in a single-mode setup with $\hat{U}(\phi) = e^{i\phi\hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a}}$ or in a two-mode setup with $\hat{U}(\phi) = e^{i\frac{\phi}{2}(\hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a}-\hat{b}^{\dagger}\hat{b})}$, the QFIs of eq 35 are given as $H = 4\langle (\Delta \hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a})^2 \rangle$ and $H = \langle [\Delta (\hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a} - \hat{b}^{\dagger}\hat{b})]^2 \rangle$, respectively, where $\langle ... \rangle$ denotes the average over the probe state. This indicates that phase estimation becomes more precise by increasing the photon number variance of the probe state in a single-mode setup and the variance of the photon number difference of the two-mode probe state in a two-mode setup, respectively. A natural question is then, how much can these variances be increased?

Rivas and Luis⁴⁰⁸ have suggested an estimation strategy in a single-mode setup using a superposition of a vacuum and a squeezed vacuum state. The considered probe state has been shown to achieve an arbitrary scaling in precision, i.e., $\Delta \phi \propto$ N^{-k} , where N is the mean photon number and k is an arbitrary value with k > 1. Such an alluring analysis sparked an intensive debate in the literature because it seemed to beat the Heisenberg scaling $(\Delta \phi \propto N^{-1})$ that is regarded as the fundamental ultimate limit that can never be beaten by any other physical strategy.⁴⁰⁹ The state studied by Rivas and Luis is not the only example, and states with various photon number distributions have been considered as candidates for increasing the QFI, for example, the SSW state, 410 the SS state,⁴¹¹ Dowling's model,⁴¹² and the small-peak model.⁴¹³ When the maximal photon number of a probe state is upper bounded, the so-called ON state-a superposition of vacuum and a Fock state-is known to lead to the maximal photon number variance.⁴¹⁴ One can show that the use of the ON state in single-mode phase estimation can indefinitely increase the QFI, while keeping the average photon number fixed. The ON state is also known to be useful in quantum computation,⁴¹⁵ and a version with 18 excitations has been realized in the harmonic motion of a single trapped ion.⁴¹⁶

On the other hand, when the maximal photon number of a probe state is unbounded,⁴¹⁷ more bizarre photon number statistics can be found, as discussed in ref 414. For example, phase estimation using a probe state with a Borel photon number distribution^{418,419} can lead to sub-Heisenberg scaling $\Delta \phi \propto N^{-3/2}$, calculated by the QCR bound.⁴¹⁴ Some heavy-tailed and subexponential distributions exhibit a diverging or even an infinite variance.⁴²⁰ Particular interest has been paid to the Riemann-Zeta distribution as an example showing an infinite QFI, leading to completely precise phase estimation without uncertainty in a two-mode scheme.⁴²¹ This last example is rather mysterious. Together with the other sub-Heisenberg strategies mentioned above, these examples need to be justified in order to certify if their precisions are achievable in practice, putting aside the question of how one might generate those photon number distributions in the first place.

Apart from exploiting exotic photon number statistics, sub-Heisenberg-limited precision can also be achieved by using nonlinear effects in many-body systems.^{422–428} The nonlinear effects in atomic ensemble systems have experimentally demonstrated sub-Heisenberg-scaling.⁴²⁹ However, a careful examination of the total resources is needed, as this determines how the precision scales.

Over the past decade, the debate has been devoted to address one simple question: Can the HL or scaling be beaten?^{341,362,367,430-432} Fortunately, a conclusive answer has

finally been proved^{409,430,433–439} and shows that the overall scaling should properly include the amount of resources required to obtain an a priori probability distribution of the unknown parameter and the number of measurements repeated to achieve the asymptotic QCR bound. With such an accounting of the total resources, one can show that the aforementioned scenarios all turn out to be Heisenberg scaling-limited.

In particular, when the likelihood function being used for the OCR bounds is highly non-Gaussian and the sample size is small, Ziv–Zakai (ZZ) bounds are known to be more appropriate.^{440–444} The quantum version of the ZZ bound has been derived, showing that the MSE would be higher and thus tighter than a corresponding QCR bound.⁴³³ Using ZZ bounds, Giovannetti and Maccone have proven that sub-Heisenberg strategies are ineffective.⁴³⁴ When a small amount of prior information is given, no sub-Heisenberg scaling is achievable; that is, sub-Heisenberg scaling requires a large amount of prior information. When a large amount of prior information is given, however, one can just guess a random value based on the prior distribution without performing any measurement. A random guess with a large amount of prior information has been proven to achieve a comparable precision to the corresponding ZZ bound. Considering a finite amount of prior information, Górecki et al. have recently showed that the HL needs to be corrected by an additional constant factor of π . 445

To investigate the practical achievable precision with a finite amount of prior information and a limited number of measurements, which often nullifies QCR bounds in practice, Bayesian approaches have been considered in various situations.^{439,446–449} In this respect, it has been shown that quantum sensors can be enhanced by machine learning⁴⁵⁰ or calibrated by neural networks.⁴⁵¹ One can also find a review article that discusses quantum multiparameter estimation in terms of the Holevo CR bound, the quantum local asymptotic normality approach, and Bayesian methods.⁴⁵²

4. QUANTUM-ENHANCED PLASMONIC SENSORS

As seen in section 2, plasmonic structures provide subdiffraction sensing with high sensitivity,²¹⁻²⁸ whereas from section 3 it is clear that quantum resources provide the ability to reduce the noise and estimation uncertainty below the SNL or SQL.³⁷⁻⁴⁶ Individual sensing techniques have been developed for plasmonic sensing and quantum sensing independently from each other over the last few decades, which has led to the establishment of separate scientific fields in academia and industry. Research is now being devoted to combining the techniques of plasmonic sensing and quantum sensing with the aim of providing a new breed of plasmonic sensors with high sensitivity and high precision at scales below the diffraction limit. These new types of sensors are called "quantum plasmonic sensors", and they provide a sensing performance that cannot be obtained solely by either classical plasmonic sensors or conventional quantum optical sensors. In this section, we review recent studies that have exploited quantum resources to improve the sensing performance of plasmonic sensors.

The decomposition of a general sensing procedure discussed in section 3.1 (see also Figure 9) allows us to classify four different kinds of sensor: 453 First, a sensor is called a "classical sensor" if a classical state input, an ordinary optical transducer, and a classical measurement scheme are used. Second, when the classical input and measurement are replaced by a quantum state input and a quantum measurement, this introduces quantum observables, and the sensor is called a "quantum sensor", enabling the potential for subshot-noise sensing. Third, when the ordinary optical transducer in a classical sensor is replaced by a plasmonic transducer, but the state and measurement remain classical, the sensor is called a "plasmonic sensor", enabling subdiffraction sensing with high sensitivity but ultimately shot-noise limited. Finally, a "quantum plasmonic sensor" is formed when a plasmonic structure is employed for the transducer and a quantum state input and a quantum measurement are used. In this case, the plasmonic structure provides a high sensitivity via the subdiffraction confinement of light,¹⁸⁻²⁰ while the quantum input state and measurement provide the potential for subshot-noise sensing. The four kinds of sensors are illustrated in Figure 20, with the hope that quantum plasmonic sensors are expected to achieve combined benefits that have only been obtained individually by plasmonic sensors or quantum sensors.



Figure 20. Four different types of photonic sensors, classified depending on the type of physical system used for the probe state, measurement scheme, and transducer encoding the parameter to be sensed. The default type is the classical sensor (bottom left), which can be upgraded by moving in either the horizontal or vertical direction to become a plasmonic sensor (bottom right) or a quantum sensor (top left). Such an upgrade involves the individual benefits of either type; however, the benefits of both types can be achieved by an ultimate type of photonic sensor, called a quantum plasmonic sensor (top right).

More generally, the quantum properties of a plasmonic system can also play a role in sensing, e.g., electron tunneling,^{454,455} quantum size effects,^{456–458} or quantum surface response.⁴⁵⁹ In this case, the quantum plasmonic sensors do not necessarily use external quantum resources, such as input states or measurements, but exploit inherent quantum effects stemming from the plasmonic systems themselves. A careful analysis of whether the quantum effects give rise to subshot-noise sensing or simply improve the sensitivity must be performed. While the methods presented in this review are invaluable for such analyses, in the following sections we first focus on recent studies that fit into the above introduced classification of quantum plasmonic sensors, where the plasmonic structure provides a high sensitivity and quantum input states and measurements provide the capability for subshot-noise sensing, thus improving the LOD. We then briefly review other approaches to quantum plasmonic sensors at the end of the section that do not fit into this classification.

4.1. Quantum Plasmonic Intensity Sensing

The first method we describe is the use of a plasmonic transducer that encodes parameter information into light where the intensity of the light is dependent on the parameter to be estimated. Below, we review "intensity-sensitive" plasmonic sensors that use quantum states of light and quantum measurements.

4.1.1. Intensity Sensing with Discrete Variable States. As introduced in section 2.2, the ATR prism setup can be used in such a way that the intensity of the reflected light from the prism is modulated depending on the refractive index of an optical sample under characterization. To use the theory of intensity parameter sensing discussed in section 3.2.1, we describe the reflection from the prism as the transmission through the prism setup, i.e., $|r_{spp}|^2 = T$, where r_{spp} is given by eq 13.

A practical and useful intensity-parameter SPR sensing scheme is the two-mode scheme shown in the inset of Figure 15, but where the BS with transmittance T is replaced by a prism setup. A relevant quantum theory of the ATR prism setup^{460,461} can be used. Within the ATR prism setup, the twomode scheme can be considered in terms of a signal mode that passes through the prism setup (a) and an idler mode that is kept as a reference (b). In this regard, Lee et al. theoretically studied the two-mode scheme with a particular type of twomode state⁴⁶² called a twin-mode (TM) state $|\Psi\rangle_{\text{twin}} = \sum c_{n,m} |n\rangle_a |m\rangle_b$ with $|c_{n,m}| = |c_{m,n}|$. Such a state has the following symmetric properties: $\langle \hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{a} \rangle = \langle \hat{b}^{\dagger} \hat{b} \rangle$ and $\langle (\Delta \hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{a})^2 \rangle = \langle (\Delta \hat{b}^{\dagger} \hat{b})^2 \rangle$, which covers path-symmetric states with $c_{n,m} = c_{m,n}^* e^{-2i\gamma}$.^{329,463} In this two-mode plasmonic sensing scheme, an intensity-difference measurement of the observable $\hat{n}_{-} = \hat{b}_{out}^{\dagger}\hat{b}_{out} - \hat{a}_{out}^{\dagger}\hat{a}_{out}$ is considered; that is, the intensity of the transmitted light of the signal mode (reflected from the prism) is compared with the intensity of the reference mode. The measured intensity-difference can be inserted into an appropriate estimator together with eq 13 in order to estimate the refractive index of an analyte.

As a classical benchmark, the balanced PC state input $|\alpha\rangle_{\rm a}|\alpha\rangle_{\rm b}$ can be considered. When the average photon number of the individual modes is restricted by N for both the TM state input and the PC state input, i.e., $\langle \hat{a}_{in}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{in} \rangle = \langle \hat{b}_{in}^{\dagger} \hat{b}_{in} \rangle = N$, the intensity-difference signal for both states is the same, i.e., $\langle \hat{n}_{-} \rangle = N(\eta_{\rm b} - \eta_{\rm a}T)$ with nonideal channel transmittance $\eta_{\rm a, b}$ which includes the detection efficiency, as modeled in Figure 15. However, the associated measurement noise $\langle (\Delta \hat{n}_{-})^2 \rangle$ is different, leading to different SNRs. By comparing the SNR of the TM state with that of the PC state, one finds that their SNR ratio $R_{SNR} = SNR_{TM}/SNR_{PC}$ can be written as eq 66, where the Mandel-Q parameter $Q_{
m M}$ and the NRF σ of eq 52 play important roles in intensity-sensitive SPR sensing. As discussed in section 3.3.3, a quantum probe with $-1 \le Q_M < 0$ or $0 \le \sigma_{in} < 1$ leads to a quantum enhancement with $R_{SNR} > 1$. The optimal state that maximizes the ratio R_{SNR} is the TF state, which exhibits an unconditional quantum enhancement regardless of the values of N, T, and $\eta_{a, b}$. The TMSV state of eq 53, on the other hand, provides a conditional quantum enhancement that depends on the values of N, T, and $\eta_{a,b}$. In particular, when $\eta_a \approx \eta_b$ and $T \approx 1$, or $\eta_a T \approx \eta_b$, the ratio R_{SNR}



Figure 21. Schematic of the prism setup probing the concentration of BSA with heralded single photons. The photons of a photon pair generated by a PPKTP nonlinear crystal are sent to the ATR prism setup and to a detector of the idler channel, respectively. The detection of the idler photon heralds that the signal photon has been injected into the ATR prism setup. The number of transmitted signal photons are then counted for a given analyte and an incident angle that can vary. Reproduced with permission from ref 259. Copyright 2018 The Optical Society.

for the TMSV state case becomes almost the same as the case of using a TF state input.

As mentioned in section 3, the Fock state input is known to be the optimal state reaching the ultimate quantum limit in the estimation uncertainty in both single parameter (section 3.3.1) and multiparameter (sections 3.3.2 and 3.3.3) estimation scenarios that monitor the change of the intensity of the transmitted light through an optical sample.^{252,271,272} However, Fock states with high photon number $N \gg 1$ cannot be readily realized in experiments with current technology.^{464–467} A few novel schemes have been suggested for the generation of large Fock states, but the fidelity is limited.^{468–478} Alternatively, one can use N single photons to achieve the same limit that would be obtained by the Fock state with $|N\rangle$. This can be seen by the fact that the individual single photons in the Fock state $|N\rangle$ undergo an independent Bernoulli sampling. Such an equivalence allows the use of single photons for various quantum sensors,^{246,254,255,258} including a plasmonic sensor²⁵⁹ which we now introduce.

The experimental quantum plasmonic sensing setup considered in ref 259 is shown in Figure 21. Single-photon pairs are generated via SPDC in a nonlinear periodically poled potassium-titanyl-phosphate (PPKTP) crystal, where the detection of the idler photon heralds that the signal photon has been injected into the prism setup. The detection of N idler photons thus corresponds to the use of N signal photons in the signal channel, i.e., equivalent to the use of the Fock state $|N\rangle$ in the sense of estimation uncertainty. The experimental estimation uncertainty is measured by the repetition of an identical experimental observation a thousand times, which yields a distribution of the estimated total

transmittance through the whole setup, $T_{\text{total}} = N_t/N$, where N_t is the number of transmitted and detected signal photons out of N injected heralded single photons for each repetition. The effective transmittance through the prism setup can be obtained by normalizing the total transmittance by a normalization factor N, i.e., $T_{\text{prism}} = T_{\text{total}}/N$. In the experiment, the normalization factor is defined as the average transmittance measured with an air analyte at an individual incident angle θ_{in} , i.e., $N(\theta_{\text{in}}) = \langle T_{\text{air}}(\theta_{\text{in}}) \rangle$ which leads to $T_{\text{prism}}(\theta_{\text{in}}) = T_{\text{total}}(\theta_{\text{in}})/\langle T_{\text{air}}(\theta_{\text{in}}) \rangle$. The use of air is because the light entering the prism is off-resonant from the plasmonic excitation across the entire range of incident angles considered. This approach enables the elimination of the effect of an incident angle-dependent misalignment when scanning through a wide range of incident angles.

The above quantum plasmonic sensor aims to estimate the refractive index of the blood protein of bovine serum albumin (BSA) in aqueous solution whose concentration *C* is controlled in this proof-of-principle demonstration. From the measurement of the average transmittance $\langle T_{\text{prism}} \rangle$, the refractive index of the analyte is estimated according to the theory model of the reflectance (see eq 13) by setting $\langle T_{\text{prism}} \rangle$ = R_{spp} . The analyte is placed on the opposite side of the gold film (see the inset in Figure 21), and its refractive index affects the resonant condition of SPPs, changing the resonance angle satisfying eq 12 or equivalently the intensity of the transmitted light for a fixed incident angle, i.e., $\langle T_{\text{prism}} \rangle$.

The overall behavior of the measurements is presented in Figures 22(a) and (b). The average transmittance $\langle T_{\text{prism}}(\theta_{\text{in}}) \rangle$ measured in the experiment when varying the incident angle



Figure 22. (a) Effective transmittance through the ATR prism setup, measured as the incidence angle θ_{in} is varied and normalized by the data measured with air. Two samples are used: deionized water and BSA with C = 2%. (b) Standard deviation of the total transmittance histograms [the same data as in (a)] presented as a function of the total transmittance, in comparison with the theoretical expectation of classical sensing (upper solid curve) and quantum sensing (lower solid curve). (c) At a particular incident angle $\theta_{in} = 67.5^{\circ}$, where the change of intensity is expected to be maximal (the inflection point), the refractive index of the BSA solution is estimated for samples with concentration varying from 0% to 2% in 0.25% steps. (d) Estimation uncertainty of the refractive index, given as the error bar at each point in (c), corresponding to the theoretical expectation for the classical and quantum scenarios, demonstrating a 10–20% quantum enhancement. Reproduced with permission from ref 259. Copyright 2018 The Optical Society.

 θ_{in} is shown in Figure 22(a) for deionized water, i.e., C = 0%, and BSA with C = 2%. At each incident angle, the measurement is repeated a number of times, which yields a histogram [see the inset of Figure 22(a)] whose standard deviation quantifies the error bar in Figure 22(a). The measured errors depend on the incident angle, which modulates the transmittance of the setup and thereby the output photon number statistics. Note that the size of the error bars represents the estimation uncertainty of the effective transmittance for N single-photon inputs. The corresponding classical benchmark is defined by the case of using a coherent state with the same input power as N single photons. The experimentally measured quantum noise is thus compared with the classical benchmark, as shown in Figure 22(b). Here, the measured uncertainty is interpreted in terms of the total transmittance $\langle T_{\text{total}} \rangle$ that consists of the effective transmittance through the prism setup and loss including the detection efficiency. Such a comparison clearly exhibits a quantum enhancement in the experiment and is in good agreement with the ultimate quantum limit introduced in section 3.3.1.

For a specific estimation of the refractive index, the incidence angle is set to $\theta_{in} = 67.5^{\circ}$ as an example and the measurement is repeated for each concentration in a range from 0% to 2% in 0.25% steps. From the repeated measurements, the refractive indices are estimated using eq 13 (i.e., the reflectance R_{spp}). The relation between the

refractive index and the concentration of BSA solution can be determined by the slope of the linear fitting function, yielding $d\langle n_{BSA} \rangle / dC = (1.933 \pm 0.107) \times 10^{-3}$ [see Figure 22(c)], which is in good agreement with the previously measured value of 1.82×10^{-3} .⁴⁷⁹ The quantum property of light plays no role in this relation of the mean values, which can be thought of as more of a calibration, but it plays an important role in reducing the estimation uncertainty of the refractive index. The latter is demonstrated in the experiment by repeating the estimation, which produces a distribution of the estimated refractive indices. The estimation uncertainties with varying $n_{\rm BSA}$ are shown in Figure 22(d), which evidently demonstrates a 10-20% quantum enhancement in comparison with the classical benchmark. As described in section 2.2.3, this enhancement directly affects the LOD of the sensor and improves its sensing performance.

As discussed in section 3.3.1 and shown in Figure 22(b), the quantum enhancement in the intensity-sensitive sensor depends on the total transmittance of the whole sensing setup. Therefore, the quantum enhancement can be further increased by improving the total transmittivity of the setup by minimizing channel loss and maximizing the detection efficiency.

A tapered-fiber-based quantum SPR sensing scheme has also been demonstrated recently for measuring BSA concentration⁴⁸⁰ and salinity.⁴⁸¹ In these works, a tapered heterocore structure was fabricated, which is composed of two multimode



Figure 23. (a) Schematic of the tapered heterocore fiber quantum sensor. (b) Experimentally obtained variance in the total transmittance of the system shown together with the theoretical values for classical (red) and quantum (blue) cases. Reproduced with permission from ref 481. Copyright 2020 Elsevier.



Figure 24. (a) The experimental setup utilized by Huck et al. generated squeezed light in an optical parametric oscillator (OPO), excited plasmon polaritons in a gold waveguide, and characterized the squeezing in the photons emitted from the end of the gold waveguide. PPKTP, periodically poled potassium titanyl phosphate crystal; SV, squeezed vacuum; $\lambda/2$, half-wave plate; Φ , piezo actuated mirror for phase variation; 50:50, symmetric beam splitter; and HD, homodyne detection scheme. The measured squeezed vacuum state generated prior to injection into the gold waveguide (b) and the measured quantum state after excitation of SPPs in the gold waveguide (c) demonstrate that long-range SPPs are capable of maintaining squeezing. Reproduced with permission from ref 499. Copyright 2009 the American Physical Society.

fibers and a single-mode fiber, coated with a 50 nm thick gold film [see Figure 23(a)]. Heralded single photons were used as inputs, prepared by SPDC using a 2 mm thick type-II metaborate crystal (β -BaB₂O₄, BBO) and by applying a coincident detection scheme. Based on the long evanescent field decay of the single-mode fiber and by reducing the diameter of the fiber, the authors showed that it was possible to reach the theoretically predicted estimation uncertainty below the SNL, as shown in Figure 23(b).

In the given examples and in many other quantum sensing scenarios, heralded single photons have been used to successfully beat the classical limit in the estimation uncertainty. Here, it is important to point out a couple of limitations of heralded single photons for sensing purposes. First, heralded single photons require a high total detection efficiency to truly achieve a quantum enhancement. One main goal of quantum sensing is to achieve a high detection resolution with limited photon intensity at the sample position to avoid any possible damage. Therefore, all the photons impinging on the sample should be considered, not just the postselected ones, for a fair comparison with the classical counterpart.³⁵⁴ Second, heralded photons are not true singlephoton states. While the statistics of photon pairs produced by SPDC follows a thermal distribution, the postselected photons can reveal a highly antibunched nature at a low flux regime; however, this degrades further at a higher flux.^{482,483}

<T_{total}>

In another approach, many researchers have been pursuing the development of a true, or so-called "on-demand" singlephoton source, which is an essential ingredient in many quantum optical applications, including quantum plasmonic sensing. These "deterministic" single photons are known to be one of the optimal states for low-noise intensity measure-



Figure 25. FWM in rubidium vapor, simplified schematic for quantum noise reduction. A pump laser (P) is used to derive a probe (Pr) field by frequency-shifting the pump in an acousto-optic modulator (AOM). The double-pass configuration ensures the probe is not displaced relative to the pump as the AOM frequency is selected. The probe is offset from the pump by 3 GHz, or approximately equal to the hyperfine ground state splitting at the D1 line (795 nm). The pump and probe are jointly detuned from resonance by approximately 0.8 GHz. They overlap at a small angle (0.3°) inside the Rb vapor cell. The resulting probe and conjugate fields are separated from the pump by a polarizing beam splitter (PBS) and produce a TMSD state. When incident on a balanced detector, the intensity-difference between the probe and conjugate (C) shows quantum noise reduction, visible on a spectrum analyzer (SA). The inset shows the energy levels in Rb associated with a double A system. The excited state hyperfine splittings are much smaller than the ground state and are blurred with respect to each other in the Doppler-broadened vapor due to heating to approximately 120 °C. As two pump photons are absorbed, coherence between the hyperfine levels ensures that when the probe field stimulates emission, a third field must be emitted from the virtual level illustrated by the upper dashed line in order to maintain energy conservation.

ments.⁴⁶² An ideal single-photon source requires several important conditions: a high purity (strong antibunching), a high level of indistinguishability depending on the purpose, a high flux, and a high fidelity.^{484,485} Current state-of-art nanophotonic methodologies utilizing many different types of single emitters have demonstrated improved quality of single-photon sources;^{486–489} however, no single one has yet satisfied all of the requirements at the same time. In particular, the demonstrated photon fluxes are still too low (<10⁸ cps) for practical use.

4.1.2. Intensity Sensing with Continuous Variable States. Sensors that exploit quantum noise reduction, or squeezed light,²²⁰ have seen renewed interest in recent years with applications ranging from gravitational wave detection to ultratrace plasmonic sensing at the nanoscale. The implementations of these sensors are increasingly limited by their ultimate limits of detection as defined by the Heisenberg uncertainty principle. At this limit, the noise is dominated by back action and the quantum statistics of light, leading to the HL or the SNL when a coherent state of light is used. Simultaneously, many devices, including plasmonic sensors, have reached tolerance thresholds at which power in the readout field can no longer be increased without increasing the noise due to back action or thermal effects. Beyond these limits, squeezed light can be used to further improve the precision in these platforms. In recent years a growing number of sensors based on quantum noise reduction have been demonstrated. 55,265,310,313,316,490-498

As discussed in section 3.3.3, intensity-difference noise reduction allows one to replace shot-noise limited sensors that operate in a differential configuration in order to reject common-mode noise and go below the SNL by exploiting quantum correlations present in two-mode squeezed states. The first observation of squeezing in plasmonic media characterized the generation, propagation, and subsequent reemission of squeezed long-range SPPs in a gold waveguide,⁴⁹⁹ as shown in Figure 24. This effort generated a squeezed vacuum state in an optical parametric oscillator, excited long-range SPPs in a gold strip waveguide with that squeezed

vacuum state, and then characterized the quantum state of the photons emitted from the end of the waveguide. The authors concluded that squeezing can be efficiently and coherently transduced from an optical field to a SPP, and back to an optical field with no loss of quantum information except for that due to the introduction of vacuum noise. This result led to a flurry of subsequent demonstrations that (a) squeezing is maintained in localized surface plasmons also,^{55,500} and (b) this coherent interface between squeezed states of light and plasmonic media can be used to enable ultratrace plasmonic sensors with noise floors below the SNL.^{316,498,501} The results of work on this type of quantum plasmonic sensor are outlined here.

This new type of quantum plasmonic sensor generates intensity-difference squeezing via FWM, ^{307–309} which is based on a third-order optical nonlinearity. An example setup is shown in Figure 25. The noise in this amplifier can be derived in the interaction frame of the Heisenberg picture. In this frame, the interaction Hamiltonian for the case with degenerate pumping fields is

$$\mathcal{H} = i\hbar\chi^{(3)}\hat{a}_{\rm pr}\hat{a}_{\rm c}\hat{a}_{\rm p}^{\dagger}\hat{a}_{\rm p}^{\dagger} + \text{H.C.}$$
(75)

where $\chi^{(3)}$ is the nonlinear coefficient, \hat{a}_p is the pump field operator, \hat{a}_{pr} is the input probe field's operator, and \hat{a}_c is a third "conjugate" field which is parametrically amplified from the vacuum. The energy level diagram describing this system is shown in Figure 25.

In many experiments the pump field is powerful relative to the probe and is undepleted. In this simplified scenario the field operators take the form of eqs 56 and 57 in section 3.3.3. This leads to a TMSD state and intensity-difference noise reduction as given in eq 63. The important point about eq 63 is that the noise is less than one shot-noise unit for $\eta > 0$ and G > 1. Thus, using two-mode squeezing in lieu of a traditional reference subtraction on a balanced detector will yield a SNR increased by $2\eta(G-1)/(2G-1)$ over the shot-noise limited measurement.^{307,312,317} The NRF, or total "noise power" contained within a power spectral measurement, as a function of transmission on both the probe mode (a) and conjugate mode (b), with $\eta_a = \eta_b = \eta$ and G = 4 is shown in Figure 26. While squeezing is typically known for its fragility in the



Figure 26. Quantum noise reduction as a function of transmission η on both the probe and conjugate fields ($\eta_a = \eta_b = \eta$) for nonlinear gain G = 4. This accounts for imperfect detection efficiency of the two fields on identical detectors. Here, the noise reduction, or "noise power" is given by 10 log₁₀(1 - *P*/*P*₀) dB, where *P*₀ is the shot-noise, *P* is the noise from the TMSD state, and *P*/*P*₀ is the NRF σ .

presence of loss, and for decades this has limited its usage in sensors, Figure 26 shows that if one starts with a pure TMSD state and if losses are symmetric and moderate, the noise reduction over classical detection still remains substantial. Plasmonic sensors can be configured to fulfill precisely these conditions. Despite losses, they can operate with large enhancements to their precision over their classical counterparts, and they represent the state-of-the-art of quantum sensing with two-mode squeezed states. Here we outline several sensors that exploit quantum noise reduction and enable practical quantum sensing below the SNL and that beat state-of-the-art classical sensors in some cases.

The first transmission of multimode squeezed states through an extraordinary optical transmission (EOT) medium was demonstrated in ref 55. Using FWM to provide the squeezed light, the transmission of multiple optical modes through the plasmonic medium in the form of quantum images was also demonstrated by exploiting properties of LSPs.

Several works have shown transmission of classical light by LSPs using triangles⁵⁰² and crosses,⁵⁰³ among others. The inset of Figure 27(a) shows an SEM image of isosceles triangular hole nanostructures. The transmission spectrum of this plasmonic medium has a broad resonance centered at approximately 900 nm, with ample transmission at the wavelength of common squeezed light sources, 795 nm.

The experimental setup for EOT of squeezed light is shown in Figure 27(a). A digital micromirror device is used as a spatial light modulator in order to imprint an image onto the probe field. The image is amplified in the FWM medium due to its multispatial-mode nature,³¹² resulting in two twin images in the probe and conjugate fields that exhibit quantum noise reduction. The plasmonic medium transmits the probe image while the conjugate image is attenuated by a neutral density filter. The LSPs confined to the edges of the triangular holes transmit all of the spatial information contained in the image, unlike the case for SPPs. Figure 27(b) shows the incident probe image imprinted by the DMD (top) and the transmitted probe image after the EOT (bottom).

The transmission is strongly dependent on polarization due to the shape of the nanostructures, such that when the polarization overlaps with an edge of the triangles, a LSP is



Figure 27. (a) Optical setup showing the FWM experiment with the following abbreviations: DMD, digital micromirror device; PBS, polarizing beam splitter; BD, beam dump; SA, spectrum analyzer; Rb, rubidium; $\lambda/2$, half wave plate; and ND, neutral density. One beam passes through the EOT medium while the other is attenuated with the neutral density filter in order to balance losses and maximize the noise reduction or squeezing. Inset: an SEM image of a zoomed in subarray of the nanostructures. (b) Upper right: the image of the probe beam imprinted by the DMD before the plasmonic medium. Lower right: the transmitted image after EOT. Only the intensity has been attenuated while the number of spatial modes present remains the same. Part b reproduced with permission from ref 55. Copyright 2013 the American Physical Society.

excited, resulting in transmission of multiple spatial modes. Figures 28(a) and (b) show the transmission and noise power as a function of polarization, respectively. As the polarization becomes incident with the base edge of the triangles, the noise power is well below the SNL, resulting in a quantum noise reduction. Figure 28(c) shows the quantum noise reduction (squeezing) as a function of transmission. The effects of losses in SPP waveguides⁴⁶¹ and scattering in metal nanoparticle arrays³²² have been previously treated as effective BSs. A BS model also matches the experimental data, as the theoretical noise reduction as a function of BS transmission in Figure 28(c) shows. This experimentally demonstrates the capability for LSP-mediated EOT to transmit quantum images while conserving macroscopic quantum information, such as quantum noise reduction.

Exploiting the plasmons' propensity to conserve quantum information means that they can serve not only as good nanoscale quantum information platforms but also as quantum sensors which make use of squeezing. SPPs have been used extensively to detect trace biochemical compounds in the Kretschmann configuration.⁷⁶ State-of-the-art classical SPR sensors utilize differential detection with a reference field that does not interact with the SPP in order to eliminate noise present in the probe laser.^{36,96,504} Many of these sensors are now only limited by the SNL,^{35,36,96} and quantum sensors are required for further improvements in precision.

A plasmonic SPP sensor in the Kretschmann configuration can use quantum noise reduction to supersede the precision of the state-of-the-art classical device. Figure 29 shows an experimental setup using FWM to produce a TMSD state and a Kretschmann sensor to obtain a precision below the SNL.

In the experiment, a 43.5 nm thick gold film was deposited on a prism, and index matching oils were deposited on the film in order to measure a shift in the plasmonic resonance as a function of the refractive index. The intensity-difference is measured at the two output channels A and B, with a ND filter placed on the conjugate mode (A) to equal the transmittivity of mode B and reduce the noise in the measurement signal to a minimum, as discussed in section 3.3.3. An acousto-optic



Figure 28. Extraordinary optical transmission of squeezed light. (a) Single color transmission for the hole array for a polarization of $0-175^{\circ}$. (b) Relative noise intensity and SNL for the rebalanced probe and conjugate after the probe has passed through the EOT medium. (c) Measured squeezing as a function of transmission through the hole array and through a variable neutral density filter. The noise based on the model in eq 63 is shown in black. The error bars in (a) and some error bars in (b) are smaller than the symbols. Reproduced with permission from ref 55. Copyright 2013 the American Physical Society.



Figure 29. Experimental setup for plasmonic sensing in the Kretschmann configuration using FWM to provide the signal probe and reference beams, with the following abbreviations: SA, spectrum analyzer; PBS, polarizing beam splitter; ND, neutral density filter; P, pump beam; Pr, probe beam; C, conjugate beam; AOM, acousto-optic modulator. The probe passes through a prism coated with a plasmonic thin film on the hypotenuse, while the conjugate beam serves as a reference after balancing its intensity with that of the transmitted probe. Differential detection (A-B) reveals a signal with transmission-dependent NRF. Reproduced with permission from ref 316. Copyright 2016 American Chemical Society.

modulator (AOM) was used to place a modulation on the probe mode (B). This leads to a peak in the measurement signal at the driving frequency 1.5 MHz when viewed on a spectrum analyzer, as shown in Figures 30(c) and (d) for two example cases. The height of the peak is proportional to the magnitude of the amplitude modulation on the probe field, and due to the conjugate field being unmodulated the peak is also proportional to the magnitude of the intensity-difference signal. On the other hand, the side bands of the signal (either side of the peak) correspond to the noise floor (the variance) of the measurement signal, as there is minimal amplitude modulation of the probe (and thus of the intensity-difference measurement signal) at frequencies away from the AOM resonance. Using a spectrum analyzer to give a power spectrum of the measurement signal in this way allows the intensitydifference (proportional to the peak at resonance) and the intensity-difference noise (the side-bands) to be obtained from the same plot. Thus, both the signal amplitude and noise can be read off simultaneously, allowing an immediate characterization of the SNR of the system. An additional feature is that technical noise at low frequencies (such as laser or vibration fluctuations) can effectively be eliminated in a manner similar

to lock-in detection, allowing the sensor's precision to be brought close to the theoretical limit.

Figure 30(a) shows the resulting resonance curve of the signal as a function of the angle of incidence and the refractive index. Every data point corresponds to a quantum noise reduction, as shown in Figure 30(b). These points are obtained by comparing the side bands of the signal on the spectrum analyzer, as shown in Figure 30(c) and (d) for two example cases, where the peak occurs at 1.5 MHz due to the frequency set by the AOM. A maximum noise reduction of 4.6 dB is obtained on the left-hand shoulder of Figure 30(b). It is notable that a large amount of squeezing (noise reduction) is observed near the inflection points in Figure 30(b), meaning that one can choose to operate this SPR sensor at a single position,³⁶ where a large quantum effect is still observed. At all points on a transmission vs index curve, a higher SNR would be achieved than is possible with the classical version of this sensor. Comparing the quantum sensor with a classical sensor in which the incident power may be turned up indefinitely, the quantum sensor still compares favorably. The quantum light source used here can be operated at equivalent optical powers, and theoretically the amount of quantum noise reduction does not depend on the incident optical power (see eq 63 in section 3.3.3). On the other hand, the classical sensor cannot be used at powers beyond the point of thermal modulation⁵⁰⁵ of the plasmon or the damage threshold of photosensitive ligands.^{506,507} These thresholds are easily within the power capabilities of the squeezed light source used here and many others. Notably, it is also possible to use this configuration without amplitude modulation to obtain a quantum-modulated signal at DC.49

Similar sensing configurations have been used to detect ultrasonic pressure waves⁵⁰¹ and establish long-range quantum plasmonic networks.⁵⁰⁰ In the case of ultrasonic measurements, the index of refraction shift is caused by local variations in air pressure above the plasmonic nanosurface at a frequency of 199 kHz. Using LSPs and EOT, a change in transmission serves as a transduction of index of refraction shifts onto optical intensity modulation. The magnitude of the intensity modulation (representing the magnitude of the refractive index modulation Δn) can then be detected with noise below the SNL using a TMSD probe state. Figure 31 shows the experimental setup. A chamber with an ultrasonic transducer is used to provide pressure waves at the surface of a plasmonic thin film, which consists of triangular hole arrays. One of the two twin beams passes through the EOT sensor while the



Figure 30. Resonance curves and noise reduction for plasmonic sensing in the Kretschmann configuration with squeezed light. (a) Plasmonic resonance as a function of relative angle of incidence (0° corresponds to on-resonance for n = 1.3) and index of refraction (green: n = 1.305; blue: n = 1.301; red: n = 1.300). The numerical curve fits are intended as a guide to the eye. (b) Quantum noise reduction (squeezing) as a function of angle of incidence and index of refraction (green: n = 1.305; blue: n = 1.301; red: n = 1.300). (c) and (d) The raw data for two points along the curve. The red line indicates the SNL, while the peak is associated with the transmitted probe power. The side bands that indicate the minimum noise (or noise floor) associated with each data point fall below the SNL; squeezing (noise reduction) is equal to the difference between the black and red side bands. Squeezing decreases as transmission decreases, but virtually all data points are squeezed. A maximum of 4.6 dB below the SNL is observed in the left shoulder of the peaks in (a). A minimum of 0.3 dB is observed in the n = 1.300 and n = 1.301 data sets, while the n = 1.305 data set minimum is at the SNL. Reproduced with permission from ref 316. Copyright 2016 American Chemical Society.



Figure 31. Ultrasonic pressure wave sensing. A FWM configuration is used to generate entangled probe and conjugate beams in a TMSD state. The probe beam serves as a probe for the plasmonic sensor while the conjugate beam serves as a quantum-correlated reference. SA, spectrum analyzer; BD, beam dump; FG, function generator. Adapted with permission from ref 501. Copyright 2018 The Optical Society.

other continues in free space and acts as a reference. The resulting difference measurement contains the modulation signal, provided by the function generator to the ultrasonic transducer, on top of a reduced noise background.

Figure 32 shows the measured signal (and noise floor) as the magnitude of the change in refractive index Δn increases. The classical signal (coherent state probing) is shown in blue (i), and the TMSD state signal is shown in red (ii). The signals are normalized by the average shot-noise of the classical case, shown as a light blue line. Clearly the TMSD state has reduced noise compared to the classical case: the minimum noise levels show a difference of 4 dB. The SNR for the TMSD state is higher than the classical case as Δn decreases. For very small index shifts, the TMSD version of the sensor is therefore able to discern index shifts that are smaller than the classical sensor, enabling a detectable shift Δn of $O(10^{-9})$ RIU. The minimum resolution of the refractive index modulation can be determined at a 99% confidence level in the SNR. In the quantum case this gives $\Delta n_{\rm min}$ = 5.5 \times 10⁻⁹ RIU with the TMSD state and $\overline{\Delta}n_{\rm min}$ = 9.6 \times 10⁻⁹ RIU with classical coherent states. This demonstrates a quantum enhancement of 56% in the precision of the sensor.



Figure 32. Measured signal while linearly ramping the driving voltage of the ultrasonic transducer, thus increasing the change of refractive index of air (Δn) , when probing with coherent states, trace (i), and with twin beams (as a TMSD state), trace (ii). The lighter-weight lines represent the shot-noise (i) and squeezed noise floors (ii). Adapted with permission from ref 501. Copyright 2018 The Optical Society.

As described in section 2.5, SPR imaging enables highly parallelized, label-free, real-time, high precision biochemical sensing.^{208–214} However, all of the quantum plasmonic sensors described in this review thus far are single pixel sensors. Quantum plasmonic sensors that utilize multispatial-mode quantum correlations in entangled optical readout fields are increasingly a plausible idea. Early research that focused on the transduction of quantum images by EOT showed that SPP-mediated EOT processes do not maintain spatial information,

thus limiting the potential for EOT-based spatially resolved quantum sensors.⁵⁰⁸ However, LSP-mediated EOT processes do maintain spatial information, as already discussed in this section and shown in Figure 27.⁵⁵ Kretschmann-style SPR sensors also maintain spatial information, as discussed in section 2.5.

Furthermore, as discussed in section 3.3.2 and highlighted in recent reviews,^{280,509,510} substantial work has gone into the development of quantum imaging platforms for other applications. For SPR imaging sensors that are robust to higher power optical excitation, discrete variable entanglement is less beneficial, but higher power multispatial mode squeezing could be leveraged to enable quantum-enhanced SPR imaging. As mentioned above, and as shown in Figure 27, plasmonic images exhibiting intensity-difference squeezing can be efficiently transduced by LSP-mediated EOT processes. The same effect has been shown more recently for a combination of phase-sum and intensity-difference entanglement.⁵⁰⁰ Despite the demonstration of the plasmonic transduction of multispatial-mode quantum states of light, there have been no reports of quantum-enhanced SPR imaging. A key ingredient for such an advance is the multipixel readout of an array of plasmonic sensors that can benefit from quantum correlations in the readout field. A growing number of research efforts address exactly this need. For instance, researchers are now utilizing electron-multiplying CCD cameras for spatiotemporally resolved readout of multispatial-mode squeezed states of light,⁵¹¹⁻⁵¹³ and preliminary research has shown that compressive imaging techniques can be used for squeezed light imaging with single pixel detectors.³¹³ Together, multispatial-mode quantum light sources, multipixel plasmonic



Figure 33. (a) Schematic of quantum spectroscopy with a twin beam (i.e., the TMSV state of eq 53) generated from a SPDC source (BBO crystals), where coincidence photon counting is carried out by two APDs (avalanche photodiodes). A monochromator placed in the signal channel consists of a mirror (M), a diffraction grating (GR), a pinhole (PH), and an APD and selects a particular single mode of interest under investigation, realizing spectroscopy. (b) Schematic of conventional spectroscopy with classical light generated from a halogen lamp, where a single APD is used together with the same monochromator from the quantum spectroscopy scheme. (c) MNP array under investigation: Dark-field microscope image (top) and scanning electron microscope image (bottom). Adapted from ref 514 (CC BY 3.0 License).



Figure 34. Transmission spectra measured by conventional classical (left) and quantum (right) spectroscopy under different noise conditions $[N_s = 10^2 \text{ (top)}, 2 \times 10^4 \text{ (middle)}, \text{ and } 7 \times 10^4 \text{ c/s (bottom)}]$. The measurement is performed for water–glycerin solutions deposited on an array of MNPs with different concentrations [40% (red dots) and 50% (black dots)]. The photon flux of 10^3 c/s is kept in the monochromator for all the experiments, and the error bars denote the standard deviations of the measured signals. Adapted from ref 514 (CC BY 3.0 License).

sensors, and readout schemes for characterizing multispatialmode quantum signals provide the necessary building blocks for quantum-enhanced SPR imaging.

4.1.3. Intensity Sensing Robust to Thermal Noise. The strong photon number correlation possessed by the TMSV state of eq 53, with a NRF of $\sigma = 0$, has also been used to probe an array of gold nanoparticles and measure the refractive index change of a glycerin-water solution.⁵¹⁴ The two-mode scheme shown in Figure 15 was used to carry out quantum spectroscopy with the input state $|\Psi\rangle_{in} = |TMSV\rangle$, where the measurement is a coincidence detection [see Figure 33(a)]. The glycerin-water solution surrounds a plasmonic transducer that consists of a hexagonal array of spherical MNPs with a diameter of 130 nm and lattice period of 1.1 μ m, as shown in Figure 33(c). The idler mode of the TMSV state is sent through the sample, while the signal mode is sent to a diffraction grating to investigate the spectral response using the coincidence counting that follows. The sensing performance of such a quantum scheme is compared with conventional spectroscopy that uses a classical probe state generated from a lamp, as shown in Figure 33(b).

The authors directly compared quantum and classical spectroscopy methods in terms of their robustness to thermal

noise influencing the detection. The thermal noise is artificially realized by a lamp inside the monochromator part [see Figures 33(a) and (b)], which induces additional photon counts N_s in the measurement of the signal photons S_s . The noise level is controlled by changing the brightness of the lamp; that is, $N_s = 10^2$, 2×10^4 , and 7×10^4 c/s are considered in the experiment. The effect of thermal noise is examined with respect to the distinguishability of the two resonance spectra measured for two concentrations *C* of glycerin–water solution on top of the array of MNPs.

The results obtained by quantum and classical spectroscopy for the two concentrations under the three noise conditions are presented in Figure 34. The red dots represent the spectra for C = 40% and black dots for C = 50%. Generally, the resonance curves in both cases become blurred due to thermal fluctuations that increase with the thermal noise. However, the extent to which the curves become blurred is different for the quantum and classical spectroscopy schemes; the curves for the quantum case are more distinguishable than those for the classical case. This is clearly seen for the case when the noise photocount N_s is 70 times larger than the signal photocount S_s [Figures 34(e) for classical and (f) for quantum]. Such robustness against the thermal noise can be attributed to the



Figure 35. Quantum plasmonic phase sensing using a nanowire. (a) Two-mode scheme with a quantum source, plasmonic nanowire, and measurement. (b) Measured signal for the optimal observable used ($\hat{O} = \hat{M}$ for classical (C) or \hat{A} for quantum (Q)) for a dielectric and plasmonic nanowire. (c) The precision of the refractive index Δn for classical (C) and quantum (Q) states with dielectric and plasmonic nanowires. The photon number on average is N = 4, the nanowire radius is 50 nm, the propagation length of the nanowire is 4 μ m, and the free-space wavelength is $\lambda_0 = 810$ nm. Reproduced with permission from ref 453. Copyright 2016 American Chemical Society.

strong photon number correlation of the TMSV state, which is absent in the classical scheme.

4.2. Quantum Plasmonic Phase Sensing

In addition to measuring changes in the refractive index of an optical sample using intensity sensing, it is also possible to use phase sensing, as outlined in section 2.3. In the quantum regime this provides a complementary setting for quantum plasmonic sensing. In order to carry out quantum phase sensing using plasmonics, the physical geometry of the system needs to be modified so that changes in the refractive index are picked up in the phase of the optical signal, rather than the transmission amplitude. In this case, a metal nanowire is one example that can be considered and it provides a compact setting in which to perform sensing below the diffraction limit due to the highly confined field.^{18,19} A nanowire also has the potential to be modified into more advanced nanophotonic circuitry for complex functionality^{20,515} and has already been considered for classical phase sensing.²¹

4.2.1. Phase Sensing with Discrete Variable States. The theoretical work by Lee et al.⁴⁵³ first studied the use of a nanowire in quantum phase sensing, and the model considered is shown in Figure 35(a). Here, a source produces a two-mode quantum state of light, $|\Psi_{in}\rangle$, and a silver nanowire is placed in one of the modes as a probe (p), while the other mode is used as a reference (r). A biological medium is considered to surround the nanowire, and for a given change in a dynamical quantity, such as concentration, a change in the refractive index, n, occurs which changes the relative phase between the probe and reference modes by $\phi(n) = l\beta(n)$, where l is the length of the nanowire and β is the propagation constant in the nanowire, which is a function of n. A measurement of the quantum state is then performed in order to obtain an estimate of the phase and therefore an estimate of the refractive index. The dynamical quantity in the biological medium, such as concentration, can then be estimated from the refractive index.

In the ideal case when there is no loss, a NOON state is well-known to be an optimal state for quantum phase sensing,^{51,53,345} as discussed in section 3.4.2, allowing one to reach the HL for the precision. It can be used as the two-mode quantum state produced by the source in Figure 35(a); that is, $|\Psi_{\rm in}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|N, 0\rangle_{\rm p,r} + |0, N\rangle_{\rm p,r})$, where N denotes the number of photons in a given mode. The relative phase in the nanowire is picked up by the first term in the state, $|N,0\rangle$ $\rightarrow e^{iN\phi(n)}|N,0\rangle$. The resulting state is measured using the optimal quantum observable $\hat{A} = |0,N\rangle\langle N,0| + |N,0\rangle\langle 0,N|$ (see section 3.4.2). This leads to a measurement signal $\langle A \rangle = A_0$ $\cos[N\phi(n)]$ and a corresponding precision in the estimation of the refractive index of $\Delta n = \frac{1}{N} \left| \frac{d\phi}{dn} \right|^{-1}$, which is the HL for a single-shot measurement, i.e., $\nu = 1$, as discussed in section 3.4.2. In contrast, the best classical strategy uses the two-mode classical coherent state $|\Psi_{in}\rangle = |\alpha/\sqrt{2}\rangle_p |\alpha/\sqrt{2}\rangle_r$ produced by the source, with $|\alpha|^2 = N$, which picks up the relative phase in the first term: $|\alpha/\sqrt{2}\rangle_p \rightarrow |e^{i\phi(n)}\alpha/\sqrt{2}\rangle_p$. The optimal measurement consists of a BS and measurement of the observable $\hat{M} = \hat{I}_p - \hat{I}_r$, which is the intensity-difference, as exploited in section 3.3.3. This leads to a measurement signal $\langle \hat{M} \rangle = M_0 \cos[\phi(n)]$ and a corresponding precision $\Delta n = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi}{\mathrm{d}n} \right|^{-1}$, which is the SNL or SQL. The NOON state therefore provides a \sqrt{N} improvement in the precision compared to the classical case for a given ν . The signals $\langle A \rangle$ and $\langle M \rangle$ and their associated precisions are shown in Figures 35(b) and (c) for N = 4, where they are compared with the case in which a conventional dielectic nanowire is used. The results clearly show the benefit of using a plasmonic nanowire with a quantum source and measurement for phase sensing.

The improvement in the phase sensing precision comes from two distinct factors that are revealed by writing the



Figure 36. Experimental investigation of quantum plasmonic phase sensing using a silver nanowire. (a) Generation of polarization encoded NOON state (N = 2) via parametric down-conversion. The two spatial modes of the state (1 and 2) are combined into a single mode (4), while maintaining the two-mode scenario in the polarization degree of freedom. The entangled photons in the single spatial mode are injected into an optical fiber. (b) The fiber is tapered with a silver nanowire fixed to the end. The out-coupled light is collected and sent to a measurement stage. (c) Scanning electron microscopy image of the tapered fiber and nanowire. (d) Measurement signal for the two-photon NOON state (red) and classical case (blue). The *y*-axes on the left (right) is for the NOON state (classical case). Adapted with permission from ref 359. Copyright 2018 The Optical Society.

precision (in this case the LOD) as $\Delta n = \Delta \phi \left| \frac{d\phi}{dn} \right|^{-1}$, where $\Delta \phi = \Delta O \left| \frac{d\langle \hat{O} \rangle}{d\phi} \right|^{-1}$ is the precision of the phase estimation and \hat{O} is the observable in the measurement ($\hat{O} = \hat{A}$ or \hat{M}). $\Delta \phi$ obviously depends on the observable \hat{O} and state $|\Psi_{in}\rangle$, but interestingly not on the nanowire properties, and is therefore quantum in origin. On the other hand, $\left| \frac{d\phi}{dn} \right|$ represents the sensitivity, S_{ϕ} , which depends on the length and propagation constant $[\phi(n) = l\beta(n)]$, i.e., the nanowire properties, and is therefore classical in origin. Both classical and quantum factors are needed to obtain a good precision; however, it is the quantum factor that improves the precision beyond the SQL, as discussed in section 2.2.3.

In a more realistic scenario, losses in the nanowire must be considered. In this case, even for moderate losses, the NOON state is no longer the optimal quantum state. A more general analysis using the QFI, *H*, must then be undertaken in order to find the optimal state to use. In this case, a more general state $|\Psi_{in}\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{N} c_n |n, N - n\rangle_{p,r}$ can be considered,³⁵² with the coefficients c_n optimized in order to maximize *H* and thus minimize the QCR bound $\Delta \phi_{min} = (\max_{\{c_n\}}H)^{-1/2}$, which in turn minimizes the estimation uncertainty Δn . In ref 453 it was found that plasmonic sensors using these optimized states provide a precision beyond the SIL, which is the SNL of standard interferometers when loss is present,³⁵² and this is discussed in section 3.2.2, even for a moderate amount of loss in a nanowire. Results were obtained for arbitrary *N*, where the

precision of the optimized states was shown to always be an improvement over the SIL precision.

While the use of the QFI enables an optimization of the quantum state used by the source, it is not clear what the optimal measurement is that allows one to reach the lower bound in the estimation uncertainty of $\Delta \phi_{\min}$, i.e., the QCR bound introduced in section 3.1. Further work in this direction will be needed to uncover practical measurement schemes for discrete variable quantum phase sensing in plasmonics. Furthermore, the use of different types of plasmonic material⁵¹⁶ for the nanowire could be considered in order to reduce loss while maintaining the high field confinement, including the use of metamaterials,^{148–151} graphene,⁵¹⁷ and hybrid material systems.^{518–520}

The use of a plasmonic nanowire for phase sensing has recently been experimentally investigated for the simple case of a two-photon NOON state (N = 2) generated by parametric down-conversion,³⁵⁹ as shown in Figure 36(a). The two-mode state used takes the form $|\Psi_{in}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|2_H, 0\rangle_{1,2} + |0, 2_V\rangle_{1,2})$, where $|2_H\rangle$ ($|2_V\rangle$) corresponds to two horizontal (vertical) polarized photons in a given spatial mode. The polarization dependence of the photons enables the two spatial modes to be combined into a single spatial mode in an optical fiber, while maintaining an effective "two-mode" setting—both polarization "modes" copropagate in the same spatial mode. The vertical (horizontal) polarization represents the probe (reference) mode. The optical fiber is then tapered and a silver nanowire attached to the end, which enables the efficient excitation of SPPs and is shown in Figure 36(b) and (c). The

output of the signal is collected by a microscope objective and sent to a measurement stage with optical elements and singlephoton detectors for the measurement of the phase.

In the experiment, the phase was modified using a liquid crystal phase retarder outside the nanowire in order to gain an understanding of the performance of the nanowire for phase sensing in a controlled manner. While not a direct demonstration, the approach is equivalent to the case that the phase is picked up directly in the nanowire, as phase shift operations commute with the loss accumulated in the nanowire.⁴¹ A more direct demonstration is yet to be performed; however, this is more challenging due to the requirement of a ligand coating along one of the axes of the nanowire in order for only one polarization mode to interact with the biochemical substance being sensed. Fortunately, this can be achieved in a number of ways, for example using nanografting.^{521,522} By modifying the phase of the probe mode, then converting the probe and reference modes back into spatial modes and measuring the coincidences, a measurement equivalent to that of the observable A can be performed. The signal of this measurement is shown in Figure 36(d) as the red curve, along with the corresponding classical signal as the blue curve, equivalent to the observable \hat{M} . The NOON state signal clearly shows an oscillation that occurs over a phase twice as small as the classical case, as expected-a phenomenon known as "super resolution".356

The coincidence counts in Figure 36(d) can be normalized to give a probability of a coincidence,⁵³ according to eq 69 in section 3.4.2, i.e., $p_{coin}(\phi) = f_2 (1 + V_2 \cos 2\phi)/2$, where f_2 represents the total proportion of photons that lead to a twophoton coincidence and \mathcal{V}_2 is the two-photon visibility. This coincidence probability can then be used to infer the uncertainty in the measurement of the phase, $\Delta \phi_{
m coin}$. In this realistic and lossy setting, the SIL for the precision in estimation of the phase is given by^{250,357} $\Delta \phi_{\rm SIL} = 1/\sqrt{N\eta}$, which is simply the SNL of standard interferometers in the case of no loss multiplied by the factor $1/\sqrt{\eta}$, where η is the total loss factor. In order to show an improvement, the uncertainty in the experiment must satisfy $\Delta \phi_{coin} < \Delta \phi_{SIL}$, after which it can be called "super sensitive".³⁵⁷ Using the normalized probability function $p_{coin}(\phi)$, the bound can be reformulated as³⁵⁹ 1 < $2f_2^2 \mathcal{W}_2^2/\eta$, which can be inverted to give a threshold visibility of $\mathcal{V}_2^{(\text{th})} = \sqrt{\eta/2f_2^2}$. A visibility above this value shows an improvement in the precision beyond the SIL. In the absence of loss, $f_2 = 1$ and $\eta = 1$, leading to $\mathcal{V}_2^{(\mathrm{th})} = 2^{-1/2} \approx 0.707.$ In the experiment, the visibility from the data shown in Figure 36(d) was calculated to be $\dot{V}_2 \approx$ 0.880, clearly above the threshold. However, once loss is included, $\mathcal{V}_2^{(\mathrm{th})}$ rises. It was concluded that even if $V_2 = 1$ in the experiment, the threshold could not be surpassed without a reduction in loss in the setup. Fortunately, it was shown that in principle the loss could be reduced by improving collection efficiencies at the various components in the setup, while still accommodating for loss in the plasmonic nanowire. Thus, the precision could be improved beyond the SIL with further experimental improvements.

It is clear from the above discussion that various technical challenges must be overcome for a complete experimental demonstration of quantum phase sensing using a plasmonic system and discrete variable quantum states. Reducing losses in the components of the setup, implementing the phase change at the nanowire itself and the potential use of more robust-toloss states other than the NOON state are all avenues for further study to address the challenges. These would enable the realization of practical nanoscale quantum plasmonic interferometric sensors.

In light of these challenges, it is interesting to note that the generation of plasmonic NOON states has also been achieved in several other recent experiments. By building on previous demonstrations of two-plasmon quantum interference, 523-527 Fakonas et al.⁵²⁸ generated NOON states with N = 1 and N =2 and studied the impact of decoherence on these states in low-loss dielectrically loaded SPP waveguides. They found that for the type of waveguide studied, decoherence in the form of phase damping had only a minimal impact on the visibility of the interference fringes. Taken together with the low-loss nature of the waveguides, this demonstrates the ability for plasmonic waveguides to generate and maintain coherence well, highlighting their potential use for practical quantum phase sensing. Other types of plasmonic waveguides have also been used to generate NOON states with N = 2, including planar⁵²⁹ and stripe⁵³⁰ waveguides.

By considering larger photon number NOON states (N >2), it may then be possible to demonstrate a Heisenberg scaling in the precision and obtain close to a \sqrt{N} improvement compared to the classical case. Several photonics experiments have already shown how to generate NOON states with N = 3photons,⁵⁰ N = 4 photons,^{51,531} and N = 5 photons.^{345,346} Most recently, the generation of NOON-like states up to N = 8photons has been demonstrated.⁵³² Many theoretical schemes have also been proposed for going beyond these experiments to generate NOON states with a higher photon number^{342,343,345,533} and other related states.^{350,352,366} In addition to the source of quantum states, e.g., NOON states, and the plasmonic system being used, e.g., plasmonic nanowire, the experimental resources required include single-photon and/or photon number resolving detectors, a coincidence counting interface, and quantum statistical measurement acquisition software.359

4.2.2. Phase Sensing with Continuous Variable States. Despite the substantial developments in classical interferometric plasmonic sensing and the progress in interferometric quantum plasmonic sensing with the discrete variable quantum states described above, very little progress has been made in the development of squeezed interferometric plasmonic sensors. One reason for this is the increased loss in interferometric sensors. Intensity-based plasmonic sensors are most sensitive at the inflection point of the plasmon absorption spectrum, so the detrimental effect of the plasmon absorption can be mitigated somewhat. Phase-based plasmonic sensors are most sensitive at the maximum of the plasmon absorption spectrum,¹¹⁶ so as described in section 2.3, little squeezing would remain in a squeezed interferometric plasmonic sensor after accounting for plasmonic absorption. Nevertheless, some progress has been made in the characterization of plasmons exhibiting squeezing in the phase-sum quadrature, notably in a report that characterized the two-mode squeezing in intensitydifference and phase-sum quadratures for LSPs supported in triangular nanoapertures.⁵⁰⁰ Further, substantial progress has been made in the development of squeezed interferometric sensors for other applications.⁵³⁴ Moreover, as described in section 3.4.5, nonlinear interferometers offer favorable scaling with loss compared with conventional squeezed light readouts



Figure 37. Quantum plasmonic sensors based on emitter-plasmon coupling. (a) Single quantum nanosensor in a to-the-end configuration, where a gold nanorod and quantum dot are functionalized. Reproduced with permission from ref 542. Copyright 2013 IOP Publishing. (b) Illustration of quantum detection and ranging. The antenna includes a quantum dot and a metallic nanoshell. F(r, t) and G(r', t') refer to two different time-dependent emission intensity patterns of an optically active nanoscale system at two different locations. Reproduced with permission from ref 544. Copyright 2013 AIP Publishing. (c) Illustration of a strong-coupling immunoassay setup. A gold hemisphere nanodimer cavity captures an immunoassay complex in the proximity of the plasmonic hot-spot. Reproduced with permission from ref 547. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society. (d) Nanofiber with dark-field heterodyne illumination. Nanoparticles in a droplet of ultrapure water are detected when entering the probe beam waist next to the nanofiber. Reproduced from ref 548. Copyright 2017 Springer Nature.

and could plausibly be integrated with plasmonic sensors in order to obtain a quantum advantage. Truncated nonlinear interferometers in particular offer favorable loss scaling and the ability to use a high power local oscillator in order to improve shot-noise limited precision without concern for photo-chemical or photothermal effects.^{398–400} Many opportunities still exist to develop loss-resilient squeezed interferometric plasmonic sensors based on lower loss plasmonic sensor designs and new approaches to SU(2) and SU(1,1) interferometry.

4.3. Quantum Plasmonic Sensing Based on Emitter–Plasmon Coupling

Outside the field of plasmonic sensing, much attention has been paid to the plasmonic control of emitters, 59,535-539 including semiconductor quantum dots⁵⁴⁰ and color centers⁵⁴¹ in the weak and strong coupling regimes.^{54,535} It is increasingly evident that these effects can be leveraged for alternative approaches to quantum plasmonic sensing, building on the PEF and SERS sensors described in section 2.4.4. The optical field at metallic nanostructures can be significantly enhanced via the excitation of LSPs, enabling strong coupling with matter in the vicinity of metallic structures.⁵⁴ The effects that originate from strong coupling are inherently nonclassical,⁵³⁵ and therefore the quantitative analysis and understanding of the various phenomena measured in experiments requires a fullquantum mechanical description, whereby the plasmonic nanostructures supporting LSP excitations can be treated as a lossy and small-mode-volume resonator in cavity quantum electrodynamics.^{57,535} A result of this is that strong coupling is very sensitive to various structural and material parameters of an analyte being placed in the proximity of a metallic structure, which has led to several types of quantum plasmonic sensors.

In one of the first examples of a quantum sensor based on emitter-plasmon coupling, a coupled system of a quantum dot and metallic nanorod was studied as a means to sense a small change in the local refractive index around the system in the near-infrared regime, 542 as shown in Figure 37(a). The quantum phase-dependent changes in the coherent excitonplasmon coupling provide the capability of detecting and distinguishing adsorption or detachment of target molecules. A similar structure has also been considered for optical detection and recognition of single biological molecules.⁵⁴³ Adsorption of a specific molecule to the nanorod results in the ultrafast upheaval of coherent dynamics of the system, that turns off the blockage of energy transfer between the quantum dot and the nanorod. The emission of the system is thus strongly modified depending on the adsorption event. Measuring the emission pattern from a quantum dot and metallic nanoshell system would also enable the remote detection of the spatial coordinates and movement of biological molecules or nanostructures,⁵⁴⁴ as shown in Figure 37(b). Refractive index sensing is also possible by analyzing the Rabi-splitting spectrum of the exciton-plasmon strong coupling in the gap between a plasmonic nanorod and plasmonic nanowire.⁵⁴⁵ In another study, a full quantum mechanical theory was developed to model how a small amount of absorbing trinitrotoluene (TNT) molecules influences the spectrum of a graphene spaser based on a graphene flake with quantum dot emitters.⁵⁴⁶ All these studies of the emission spectrum from an emitter-plasmon quantum dynamical system for sensing purposes open up a promising direction for future work, although a careful analysis is required in order to determine whether the quantum effects being exploited provide a quantum advantage in terms of subshot-noise sensing, an improvement in the sensitivity, or both.

A related recent theory proposal has suggested the use of quantum dots as quantum labels bonded to individual antibody–antigen–antibody complexes being placed inside or close to a nanoplasmonic dimer,⁵⁴⁷ as shown in Figure 37(c). As the surface density of the analyte–emitter complex changes, the extinction cross section spectrum is modified,

which not only causes spectrum shifting but also brings multiple resonance peaks due to the strong coupling between the emitters and LSP at the nanoplasmonic dimer. Through a statistical study of multiple analyte-emitter complexes for the theoretical simulation of realistic conditions, the proposed splitting-type sensing approach using quantum emitter labels has been shown to achieve a nearly 15-fold sensitivity enhancement in comparison with conventional shifting-type label-free plasmonic sensors. Such a study demonstrates the potential of quantum plasmonic sensors to detect a single analyte, which is usually challenging since the size of an analyte (typically <100 nm) is far smaller than the optical wavelength of the light exciting the system.

Another theoretical work focusing on the strong coupling regime has considered a three-level quantum system, e.g., atom or quantum dot, that by interacting with a plasmonic cavity mode supports a so-called "embedded superstate".⁵⁴⁹ The resulting system relies on quantum interference between multiple atomic transition pathways and strong coupling, and it exhibits unboundedly narrow emission lines that enable a significant reduction in noise in the scattering spectra. The result thereby provides a means to improve the sensitivity significantly.

On the experimental front, metallic nanorods have been used in a recent study, where an optical nanofiber is immersed in a droplet of water containing nanoparticles, such as silica nanospheres or gold nanorods, and biomolecules, as shown in Figure 37(d). Heterodyne interferometry was used together with a dark-field illumination approach.548 The experiment demonstrated a quantum-noise limited precision of evanescent single-molecule biosensing, allowing a reduction of 4 orders of magnitude in the optical intensity that is required to maintain state-of-the-art sensitivity. In a related theoretical study, the fraction of the total spontaneous emission energy from an emitter coupled to SPPs, called the β -factor, ^{550°} has been investigated for two nitrogen vacancy centers (NVCs) in diamond placed in a plasmonic waveguide.⁵⁵¹ It was shown that a maximally entangled state of NVCs and a product NVC state provide the optimal estimation of the β -factor at initial times and at long times, respectively.

Finally, the use of color center emitters for quantum sensing of magnetic^{552,553} and electric⁵⁵⁴ fields has experienced significant attention in the past few years. The use of a plasmonic system as a mediator of the sensing signal is an interesting development. A recent experiment has demonstrated the use of a plasmonic groove waveguide interacting with multiple NVCs, which are positioned at the end of the groove waveguide milled in a thick gold film.⁵⁵⁵ The gold film carries the microwave control signal for the NVCs, while the groove waveguide acts as a fluorescence collector. The fluorescence signal enables the readout of the NV spin population (or specifically a spin sublevel population) as a function of an applied external magnetic field. This is known as optically detected magnetic resonance (ODMR). It is particularly appealing due to its simplicity and room-temperature operation as well as its scope for also measuring strain or temperature fields.

A related theoretical work has proposed the use of a plasmonic metasurface as a means to achieve an infrared absorption-based readout of the magnetic field resonance for an ensemble of NVCs.⁵⁵⁶ This is important as standard fluorescence-based ODMR techniques are limited by low-photon collection efficiency and modulation contrast. The

work exploits the enhancement of an infrared probe field via plasmonic excitation, which interacts with an NVC infrared singlet state transition and whose absorption then carries information about spin state populations that change as a magnetic field is applied. The result is a new kind of microscopic ODMR sensor with infrared readout providing enhanced sensitivity.

5. PERSPECTIVE AND OUTLOOK

In this review we covered the background and latest developments in the emerging field of quantum plasmonic sensing. This is a research field that sits at the interface between plasmonic sensing and quantum metrology—the former provides researchers working in the field with decades of extensive knowledge in classical optical sensing across a wide array of plasmonic systems, their commercial development, and applications, while the latter provides new concepts and methods intensively developed in recent years that enable the performance of the sensors to be improved by exploiting quantum mechanical features in various quantum systems.

The review started with a discussion of conventional plasmonic sensors and their basic working principles. The excitation of SPPs was shown to enable enhanced sensing compared to standard optical sensors due to their high electromagnetic field confinement. Two main types of plasmonic sensing were discussed-intensity and phase sensing-with the benefits of each described as depending on the specific application. This was followed by a discussion of estimation theory and the limits of sensing in plasmonic systems using classical light, i.e., the SNL. We then showed how the use of quantum states of light and quantum measurements enables sensing beyond this SNL, where we elaborated on single- and two-mode sensing schemes while reviewing recent works on multimode or multiple parameter sensing. Recent works combining these quantum sensing techniques with plasmonic sensing were then reviewed. We covered the basic theory behind the work and highlighted its motivation in relation to applications, including biosensing, monitoring chemical reactions and ultrasound sensing. It was shown that despite the presence of loss in plasmonic systems, one can use techniques from quantum sensing to obtain improvements in sensing performance.

The field of quantum plasmonic sensing has grown steadily over the last five years, with researchers studying many ways in which to combine plasmonic and quantum sensing. However, much work still needs to be done to address the current challenges and bring quantum plasmonic sensors to the same level of maturity as their classical counterparts, including successful commercialization. In the short term (next five years), it is likely that plasmonic sensors based on SPP sensing will provide the most direct and accessible route for incorporating the quantum intensity and phase sensing techniques discussed in section 4. SPP sensing using the Kretschmann configuration is still the main approach used by researchers and in industry. Advancements made in the experimental generation of quantum states of light, such as NOON states and TMSD states, will help bring quantum SPP sensing to maturity. New results from the field of quantum sensing for dealing with loss,^{43–45,271,338} including error correction^{395,557–561} and novel resource states,^{41,158,562,563} may lead to a widening in the range of plasmonic systems that can be used for quantum sensing and their related applications.

In the mid to long-term (five to ten years) the next steps would be the miniaturization and integration of the sensors. Research currently being done in the field of classical plasmonic sensors,^{12,159,168,177} including the use of fibers, waveguides, and nanoparticles, would then enable compact quantum plasmonic sensors to be realized for deployment in commercial applications. Furthermore, nonstandard material systems, including metamaterials,^{148-151,164,166,564} graphene,^{517,565,566} and more exotic two-dimensional materials,^{567,568} may help reduce loss, further improve the level of precision in applications, and enable a range of specificity to be achieved, such as in monitoring chemical and biological reactions,²⁴ food safety,⁵⁶⁹ pathogen detection,^{6,8} and environ-mental monitoring.⁷ Hybrid systems that exploit electro-optic,^{518–520} nonlinear,⁵⁷⁰ nonlocal,⁵⁷¹ quantum size ef-fects,^{60,456} and electron tunelling⁶¹ could also offer additional quantum functionality. Another interesting direction is the incorporation of quantum emitters into plasmonic systems, such as quantum dots^{59,537} and color centers, ⁵⁴¹ which may bring further applications, such as magnetic^{552,553} and electric field sensing⁵⁵⁴ and molecular spectroscopy.⁵⁷² There is also the natural connection between sensing and imaging,¹²⁵ and it remains to be seen how the techniques developed for quantum plasmonic sensing can be translated to plasmonic imaging^{122,123,126} in order to improve aspects such as image resolution, feature extraction, and pattern recognition for applications in the life sciences and medicine.

The field of quantum plasmonic sensing is likely to develop into a rich subfield of optical science, and it is an exciting time to enter this emerging research field. Multidisciplinary collaboration from researchers working in plasmonics, quantum information science, material physics, chemistry, biology, and medicine will advance this field significantly, bringing with them new opportunities for sensing in science and industry. For these prospective studies, this review will provide helpful guidance and inspire novel avenues of research.

APPENDIX A: MULTIPARAMETER QFIM

The QFI matrix, H, in eq 38 is defined by

$$[\mathbf{H}]_{jk} = \operatorname{Tr}[\hat{\rho}_{\mathbf{x}}(\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{j}\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{k} + \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{k}\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{j})/2]$$
(A1)

with $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_j$ being a symmetric logarithmic derivative operator associated with the *j*th parameter x_j .²²⁷ Here, F^{-1} and H^{-1} are understood as the inverse on their support if the matrices are singular, i.e., not invertible.³⁹³

For single parameter estimation, the optimal measurement setting reaching the QCR bound given by eq 28 always exists and can be constructed with projectors onto the eigenvectors of the SLD operator.^{38,41,227} For multiparameter estimation, on the other hand, the QCR bound has been known to be attained only if the SLD operators commute, i.e., $[\hat{\mathcal{L}}_j, \hat{\mathcal{L}}_k] = 0$ for all *j*, *k*, which is valid even when the generators do not commute, i.e., $[\hat{G}_j(x_j), \hat{G}_k(x_k)] \neq 0$. This is the sufficient condition for the saturability of the multiparameter QCR bound, in which case the optimal set of POVMs can be constructed over the common eigenbasis of the commuting SLD operators.³⁸⁷ A weaker but necessary and sufficient condition for the saturability can be found for pure states $\hat{\rho}(\mathbf{x}) = |\Psi(\mathbf{x})\rangle \langle \Psi(\mathbf{x})|$, written as^{235,573}

$$\langle \Psi(\mathbf{x})|(\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{j}\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{k}-\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{k}\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{j})|\Psi(\mathbf{x})\rangle = 0$$
(A2)

for all *j*, *k*. The condition of eq A2 implies the commutation relation among the SLD operators only on average with respect to the state $|\Psi(\mathbf{x})\rangle$. For commuting generators $\hat{G}_j(x_j)$ associated with the evolution of a pure probe state, i.e., $[\hat{G}_j(x_j), \hat{G}_k(x_k)] = 0$ for all *j*, *k*, eq A2 is satisfied, so that the multiparameter QCR bound can be saturated.⁵⁷³

APPENDIX B: CALCULATION OF MULTIPARAMETER QFIM

Generally for *M* parameters $\boldsymbol{\phi} = \{\phi_1, ..., \phi_M\}$, the relation is given by²³⁶

$$\sum_{j,k} H_{jk} \mathrm{d}\phi_j \mathrm{d}\phi_k = 4\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{B}}^2(\hat{\rho}_{\phi}, \, \hat{\rho}_{\phi+\mathrm{d}\phi})$$
(B1)

where the Bures distance can be written in terms of the quantum fidelity as

$$\mathcal{D}_{B}^{2}(\hat{\rho}_{\phi},\,\hat{\rho}_{\phi+d\phi}) = 2[1 - \sqrt{\mathcal{F}(\hat{\rho}_{\phi},\,\hat{\rho}_{\phi+d\phi})}]$$
(B2)

and the quantum fidelity ${\mathcal F}$ is defined as ^{574,575}

$$\mathcal{F}(\hat{\rho}_{\phi}, \hat{\rho}_{\phi+\mathrm{d}\phi}) = (\mathrm{Tr}\sqrt{\sqrt{\hat{\rho}_{\phi}}\,\hat{\rho}_{\phi+\mathrm{d}\phi}\sqrt{\hat{\rho}_{\phi}}}\,)^2 \tag{B3}$$

Thus, the calculation of the quantum fidelity leads to the calculation of QFIM for any pair (ϕ_{ij}, ϕ_k) .

In particular, the input state $|\Psi\rangle_{in} = |\alpha\rangle_a |\xi\rangle_a$ considered in the MZI of Figure 10(b) is called a Gaussian state as its characteristic Wigner function can be described by a Gaussian distribution. Because the BS operation B, the phase operation $\hat{U}(\phi)$, and the linear photonic loss channel, including inefficient detectors, are a Gaussian map, the output state $\hat{\rho}_{\rm out}$ is kept in the form of a Gaussian state. This enables us to describe the output state $\hat{
ho}_{\mathrm{out}}$ in terms of the first-order moment vector d and the second-order moment matrix *V*.^{576,577} The displacement vector *d* is defined as $d_j = \text{Tr}[\hat{\rho}_{\phi} \hat{Q}_j]$, whereas the covariance matrix V is defined by $V_{ik} = \text{Tr}[\hat{\rho}_{\phi}\{\hat{Q}_i\}]$ $(-d_{ij}\hat{Q}_k - d_k]/2]$, where $\{\hat{A},\hat{B}\} \equiv \hat{A}\hat{B} + \hat{B}\hat{A}$. Here, \hat{Q} denotes a quadrature operator vector for a two-mode continuous variable quantum system and is written as $\hat{\mathbf{Q}} = (\hat{x}_1, \hat{p}_1, \hat{x}_2, \hat{p}_2)^T$, satisfying the canonical commutation relation, $[\hat{Q}_{ij}\hat{Q}_{k}] = i\Omega_{ikj}$ where

$$\mathbf{\Omega} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \times \mathbb{I}_2 \tag{B4}$$

and \mathbb{I}_n is the $n \times n$ identity matrix.

Due to the input state remaining a Gaussian state throughout the evolution, the analytical form of the quantum fidelity can be found for the displacement vectors and covariance matrices, ^{377,578} so one can readily calculate the quantum fidelity. For two Gaussian states $\hat{\rho}_j = 1,2$ with $d_{j=1,2}$ and $V_{j=1,2}$, the quantum fidelity can be calculated via ^{377,578}

$$\mathcal{F}(\hat{\rho}_1, \hat{\rho}_2) = \frac{\exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\delta \mathbf{d}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{V}_1 + \mathbf{V}_2)^{-1}\delta \mathbf{d}\right]}{(\sqrt{\Gamma} + \sqrt{\Lambda}) - \sqrt{(\sqrt{\Gamma} + \sqrt{\Lambda})^2 - \Delta}}$$
(B5)

where $\Delta = \det(V_1 + V_2)$, $\Gamma = 16 \det(\Omega V_1 \Omega V_2 - \mathbb{I}_4/4)$, $\Lambda = 16 \det(V_1 + i\Omega/2) \det(V_2 + i\Omega/2)$, and $\delta d = d_2 - d_1$.

Using eqs B1, B2, and B5, one can calculate the QFIM H generally for multiple parameters $\boldsymbol{\phi} = \{\phi_1, ..., \phi_M\}$. In the case when only a single parameter $\boldsymbol{\phi}$ encoded by $\hat{U}(\boldsymbol{\phi})$ is of interest, the QFI is calculated by $H = 8[1 - \sqrt{\mathcal{F}(\hat{\rho}_{\phi}, \hat{\rho}_{\phi+d\phi})}]/d\boldsymbol{\phi}^2$.

. . . .

APPENDIX C: CR BOUND IN A LOSSY MZI

. .

Homodyne detection is particularly useful, as the measurement bases are represented by Gaussian states; that is, the POVM element is written as $\hat{\Pi}_x = |x_{\phi_{\rm HD}}\rangle\langle x_{\phi_{\rm HD}}|$, where $|x_{\phi_{\rm HD}}\rangle$ denotes a quadrature variable state. Projection of the reduced output state $\hat{\rho}_{\rm out,a} = \mathrm{Tr}_{\rm b}[\hat{\rho}_{\rm out}]$ into the measurement basis $|x_{\phi_{\rm HD}}\rangle$ leads to the probability density function of the quadrature variable outcomes $\{x\}$, which is written as

$$p(x|\phi) = \langle x_{\phi_{\mathrm{HD}}} | \hat{\rho}_{\mathrm{out,a}} | x_{\phi_{\mathrm{HD}}} \rangle \tag{C1}$$

It can be shown that the probability density function of eq C1 follows a Gaussian distribution for the measurement outcomes, leading to homodyne detection often being called a Gaussian measurement.^{577,579} Hence, the probability density function of eq C1 can be described by the first-order moment vector $\tilde{\mathbf{d}}$ and the second-order moment covariance matrix $\tilde{\mathbf{V}}$, for which the FI can be calculated via^{223,580}

$$F(\phi) = \frac{\partial \tilde{\mathbf{d}}^{T}}{\partial \phi} \tilde{\mathbf{V}}^{-1} \frac{\partial \tilde{\mathbf{d}}}{\partial \phi} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\tilde{\mathbf{V}}^{-1} \frac{\partial \tilde{\mathbf{V}}}{\partial \phi} \tilde{\mathbf{V}}^{-1} \frac{\partial \tilde{\mathbf{V}}}{\partial \phi} \right]$$
(C2)

For an optimally chosen homodyne angle $\phi_{\rm HD}$ with respect to the phase ϕ being estimated, one can show that the CR bound reads³³⁶

$$\Delta\phi_{\rm CR} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu}} \sqrt{\frac{1}{|\alpha|^2 e^{2r}} + \frac{1-\eta}{\eta |\alpha|^2}} \tag{C3}$$

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

Changhyoup Lee – Institute of Theoretical Solid State Physics, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany; Quantum Universe Center, Korea Institute for Advanced Study, Seoul 02455, Republic of Korea; Email: changhyoup.lee@gmail.com

Authors

- Benjamin Lawrie Materials Science and Technology Division, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, Tennessee 37831, United States; Orcid.org/0000-0003-1431-066X
- Raphael Pooser Quantum Information Science Group, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, Tennessee 37831, United States
- Kwang-Geol Lee Department of Physics, Hanyang University, Seoul 04763, Republic of Korea
- **Carsten Rockstuhl** Institute of Theoretical Solid State Physics and Institute of Nanotechnology, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany; Max Planck School of Photonics, 07745 Jena, Germany
- Mark Tame Department of Physics, Stellenbosch University, Stellenbosch 7602, South Africa; © orcid.org/0000-0002-5058-0248

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.0c01028

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies

Changhyoup Lee received his Ph.D. in 2011 from Hanyang University, South Korea, under the supervision of Prof. Jinhyoung Lee. He then continued postdoctoral research with Prof. Dimitris Angelakis at the Centre for Quantum Technologies, National University of Singapore, Singapore, from 2012 to 2015 and with Prof. Carsten Rockstuhl at the Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Germany, from 2016 to 2020. He is currently working as a Quantum Universe Center Fellow at the Korea Institute for Advanced Study in South Korea. His research interests include quantum metrology, quantum sensing, quantum nanophotonics, and quantum state and measurement engineering.

Benjamin Lawrie is a research scientist in the Materials Science and Technology Division at Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL). He holds a matrixed position in ORNL's Physics Division and an affiliate research scientist position in ORNL's Center for Nanophase Materials Sciences. His research is focused on experimental quantum nanophotonics, quantum sensing, and the characterization of material properties that constrain the behavior of superconducting quantum devices. He received his Ph.D. in Interdisciplinary Materials Science in 2011 from Vanderbilt University and joined ORNL in 2013 after two years working with the Quantum Information Science group as an Intelligence Community Postdoctoral Research Fellow.

Raphael Pooser is a research scientist in the Quantum Information Science Group at ORNL. His research interests include quantum computing, neuromorphic computing, and sensing. He currently leads the Quantum Computing Testbed project at ORNL, a large multiinstitution collaboration. He has also developed a quantum sensing program at ORNL, where he has been working to demonstrate that continuous variable quantum optics and quantum noise reduction, in particular, have important uses in the quantum information field. Before ORNL, he worked as a postdoctoral fellow in the Laser Cooling and Trapping Group at NIST after receiving his Ph.D. in Engineering Physics from the University of Virginia.

Kwang-Geol Lee is an associate professor of Physics at Hanyang University in South Korea (2012–current). He received his Ph.D. in 2007 from Seoul National University, South Korea, under the supervision of Prof. Daisik Kim. During his postdoctoral period, he continued to study light–matter interactions at nanoscale playing with optical antennas, under the supervision of Prof. Vahid Sandoghdar at ETH Zurich, Switzerland (2008–2011) and at the Max-Planck Institute in Erlangen, Germany (2011). His current research interests are the generation of quantum light sources based on quantum emitters and quantum optical sensing/imaging.

Carsten Rockstuhl is a professor at the Karlsruhe Institute of Technology in Germany. He is a theoretical physicist working in the field of optics and photonics at the nanoscale using both theoretical and computational means. He received his Ph.D. degree from the University of Neuchâtel, Switzerland, in 2004. After a PostDoc period at AIST in Tsukuba, Japan, he has been since 2005 with the Friedrich Schiller University Jena, Germany, from where he moved to Karlsruhe in 2013. He is heading groups at the Institute of Theoretical Solid State Physics and the Institute of Nanotechnology and acts currently as the Dean of Studies for the Karlsruhe School of Optics & Photonics. He is a fellow of the Max Plank School of Photonics, a fellow of The Optical Society, and currently Deputy Editor with *Optics Letters*.

Mark Tame is a professor in photonics at Stellenbosch University in South Africa. He is an experimental and theoretical physicist working in quantum information science. His research is in the area of quantum nanophotonics, which involves the control of light and its interaction with matter at the quantum level. This has applications in quantum computing, quantum communication, and quantum sensing. He received his Ph.D. degree from Queen's University Belfast, United Kingdom, in 2007. After postdoctoral fellowships at Osaka University in Japan (with Prof. Nobuyki Imoto) and Imperial College London (with Prof. Myungshik Kim and Prof. Stefan Maier), he joined the faculty at the University of KwaZulu-Natal in Durban, South Africa. In 2018, he moved to the Laser Research Institute at Stellenbosch University to take up a SARChI professor position in photonics.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

At KIT, this work was partially supported by the Volkswagen Foundation and by the VIRTMAT project. At KIAS, CL was supported by a KIAS Individual Grant (QP081101) via the Quantum Universe Center. At ORNL, BL was supported by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Basic Energy Sciences, Materials Sciences and Engineering Division. At HU, KGL was supported by the Basic Science Research Program through the National Research Foundation (NRF) of Korea and funded by the Ministry of Science and ICT (Grants No. 2020R1A2C1010014) and Institute of Information & Communications Technology Planning & Evaluation (IITP) grant funded by the Korea government (MSIT) (No. 2019-0-00296). At SU, MST was supported by the South African National Research Foundation, the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research National Laser Centre, and the South African Research Chair Initiative of the Department of Science and Innovation and National Research Foundation.

ABBREVIATIONS

AOM = acousto-optic modulator ATR = attenuated total internal reflection $BBO = \beta - BaB_2O_4$ BS = beam splitter BSA = bovine serum albumin CD = circular dichroism CR = Cramér-Rao EOM = extraordinar optical transmission FI = Fisher information FIM = Fisher information matrix FWM = four-wave mixing HL = Heisenberg limit HOM = Hong-Ou-Mandel LOD = limit of detection MSE = mean-squared-error MNP = metal nanoparticle MZI = Mach–Zehnder interferometer NDS = number-diagonal-signal NRF = noise reduction factor NVC = nitrogen vacancy center ODMR = optically detected magnetic resonance OPO = optical parametric oscillator PC = product coherent PEF = plasmon-enhanced fluorescence POVM = positive-operator valued measure PPKTP = periodically poled potassium-titanyl-phosphate QCR = quantum Cramér–Rao QE = quantum efficiencyQFI = quantum Fisher information QFIM = quantum Fisher information matrix RIU = refractive index unit SERS = surface-enhanced Raman scattering

- SIL = standard interferometric limit SLD = symplectic logarithmic derivative SNL = shot-noise limit SNR = signal-to-noise ratio SP = surface plasmon SPDC = spontaneous parametric down conversion SPP = surface plasmon polariton SPR = surface plasmon resonance SQL = standard quantum limit TF = twin Fock TMSD = two-mode squeezed displaced TMSV = two-mode squeezed vacuum TM = twin-mode
- TNT = trinitrotoluene
- ZZ = Ziv–Zakai

GLOSSARY

Bias = The difference between an estimate x_{est} and the true value *x* of the parameter being estimated on average, i.e., $\overline{x}_{est} - x$. An unbiased estimator has a bias of zero.

Cramér–Rao bound = The lower bound of the Cramér–Rao inequality.

Cramér–Rao inequality = The inequality that the standard deviation of an unbiased estimator of a parameter should obey for a given measurement setting. The inequality reads $\Delta x \ge 1/\sqrt{\nu F(x)}$, where Δx is the standard deviation, ν is the number of measurements in a sample, and F(x) is the Fisher information. The equality holds when the optimal unbiased estimator is chosen. It can also be asymptotically saturated in the limit of large ν when the maximum-likelihood-method is employed as an estimator although it is not optimal.

Estimate = The value x_{est} obtained from the estimator $\hat{x}(y_1, ..., y_\nu)$ for a given sample (single set of data observed). It is also known as a point estimate.

Estimation accuracy = The interpretation of the bias $\overline{x}_{est} - x$. The accuracy becomes better as the bias decreases.

Estimation precision = The interpretation of the standard deviation, Δx , of the estimate x_{est} , each taken from a sample made up of a finite set of ν measurements of the parameter x. The smaller Δx is, the better the precision is. It is commonly known as the fluctuation or uncertainty in estimation, or it can sometimes be interpreted as the resolution. It can also be understood as the reproducibility. **Estimation uncertainty** = The quantity directly given by the standard deviation Δx . The smaller Δx is, the smaller the uncertainty is.

Estimator = A rule, \hat{x} , that yields an estimate x_{est} of an unknown parameter x from an underlying probability distribution based on the observed data y from a sample of ν measurements, $y \equiv (y_1, ..., y_{\nu})$. For example, \hat{x} can be expressed by some function f, i.e., $\hat{x} = f(y)$. The most commonly used estimator is the sample mean.

Extraordinary optical transmission = The transmission of light through a structured medium, where the transmission is due to the excitation of surface plasmons. A similar structured medium that does not support surface plasmons has a reduced transmission.

Fisher information = A quantification of the amount of information about a parameter x contained in the measurement results for a given measurement setting. We express it by F(x).

Heisenberg limit = The ultimate quantum limit achievable using the optimal quantum state and measurement, or the precision scaled with N^{-1} that is often the case of interferometeric sensing. A scaling of N^{-1} is called Heisenberg scaling, where N is the average number of particles in the resource.

Limit of detection = An overall figure of merit for sensing quality that takes into account both the sensitivity S_y and the minimum detectable range Δy_{\min} or equivalently the value of the noise level. This is often interpreted as a resolution.

Mean-squared-error = The average square distance between the estimator $\hat{x}(y_1, ..., y_\nu)$ and true value of x as the data $y_1, ..., y_\nu$ varies according to the underlying probability distribution. It is a measure of the average closeness of an estimator \hat{x} to the true value x, and it depends on both the standard deviation Δx and the bias \overline{x}_{est} - x. If the estimator is unbiased, then the mean-square error is equivalent to Δx^2 , allowing us to refer to the standard deviation Δx as the "estimation error", "estimation precision", or simply "precision".

Multiparameter estimation = This is categorized into three kinds:

1. Individual estimation = Multiple parameters $(x_1, x_2, ..., x_n)$ are estimated individually. This scheme is also called a "local strategy".

2. Simultaneous estimation = Multiple parameters $(x_1, x_2, ..., x_n)$ are estimated simultaneously. This scheme is also called a "global strategy".

3. Distributed estimation = A global parameter *X*, which is a function of multiple parameters, i.e., $X = f(x_1, x_2, ..., x_n)$, is estimated.

Noise reduction factor = In an intensity-difference measurement, it is the ratio of the variance of the photon number difference between the signal and reference mode for a given quantum state to that of coherent states with matching average photon number.

N-mode = A sensing scheme where N spatial/temporal/ angular/spectral modes—the eigenvectors of the wave equation—are used. Here, N can be "single", "two", or "multi".

Quantum Cramér–Rao bound = The lower bound of the quantum Cramér–Rao inequality.

Quantum Cramér–Rao inequality = The same as the Cramér–Rao inequality but with the Fisher information replaced by quantum Fisher information, i.e., $\Delta x \ge 1/\sqrt{\nu H}$. **Quantum Fisher information** = The maximized Fisher information over all possible physical measurement settings $\{\hat{\Pi}\}$, i.e., $H = \max_{\{\hat{\Pi}\}}F(x)$.

Sensitivity = The derivative of a quantity *y* being monitored, which is used to obtain an estimation of some parameter *x* that changes with *y*. Mathematically, the sensitivity is $S_y = | dy/dx|$. By increasing the sensitivity a sensor becomes more sensitive to changes in *x*.

Shot noise = Pure noise originating from the underlying statistical properties of a resource to be analyzed or a measurement involving the random fluctuation of electric signals. It has nothing to do with fundamental noise, which in an ideal theory model can be assumed to be completely absent. The term originally comes from electronics, where a current consists of a stream of discrete charges, i.e., electrons. The charges are randomly distributed in space

and time, thereby following a Poisson distribution. The same random feature is present in a coherent state of light that consists of discretized particles, i.e., photons, that follow a Poisson distribution in photon number. This leads to the shot noise when the coherent state's intensity, i.e., photon number, is measured.

Shot-noise limit = The best possible precision obtained using the classical resource of a coherent state. It originates from statistical noise in the resource that is mapped into noise in the quantity being measured; that is, for an intensity measurement the shot-noise limit comes from Poissonian noise that is intrinsic to the coherent state's photon number or energy.

Single-to-noise ratio = The ratio of the measurement signal to the noise in the measurement signal.

Standard quantum limit = The fundamental limit to precision achievable in standard interferometers made of standard devices employing only classical resources. The term is now generally used to denote the ultimate precision limit achievable in arbitrary interferometric sensing when only classical resources are used.

Unbiased estimator = The estimator has a bias of zero. When applied to many samples from the underlying probability distribution it equals the true value of the parameter being estimated on average. Equivalently, the sampling distribution of the estimator fluctuates around the true value of the parameter.

REFERENCES

(1) Lai, Y.-H.; Suh, M.-G.; Lu, Y.-K.; Shen, B.; Yang, Q.-F.; Wang, H.; Li, J.; Lee, S. H.; Yang, K. Y.; Vahala, K. Earth Rotation Measured by a Chip-Scale Ring Laser Gyroscope. *Nat. Photonics* **2020**, *14*, 345–349.

(2) Na, Y.; Jeon, C.-G.; Ahn, C.; Hyun, M.; Kwon, D.; Shin, J.; Kim, J. Ultrafast, Sub-Nanometre-Precision and Multifunctional Time-of-Flight Detection. *Nat. Photonics* **2020**, *14*, 355–360.

(3) Rong, Q.; Guo, T.; Bao, W.; Shao, Z.; Peng, G.-D.; Qiao, X. Highly Sensitive Fiber-Optic Accelerometer by Grating Inscription in Specific Core Dip Fiber. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, *7*, 11856.

(4) Lao, J.; Sun, P.; Liu, F.; Zhang, X.; Zhao, C.; Mai, W.; Guo, T.; Xiao, G.; Albert, J. In Situ Plasmonic Optical Fiber Detection of the State of Charge of Supercapacitors for Renewable Energy Storage. *Light: Sci. Appl.* **2018**, *7*, 34.

(5) Uchida, H.; Kayukawa, Y.; Maeda, Y. Ultra High-Resolution Seawater Density Sensor Based on a Refractive Index Measurement Using the Spectroscopic Interference Method. *Sci. Rep.* **2019**, *9*, 15482.

(6) Leonard, P.; Hearty, S.; Brennan, J.; Dunne, L.; Quinn, J.; Chakraborty, T.; O'Kennedy, R. Advances in Biosensors for Detection of Pathogens in Food and Water. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **2003**, *32*, 3–13.

(7) Andreescu, S.; Sadik, O. A. Trends and Challenges in Biochemical Sensors for Clinical and Environmental Monitoring. *Pure Appl. Chem.* **2004**, *76*, 861–878.

(8) Pejcic, B.; Marco, R. D.; Parkinson, G. The Role of Biosensors in the Detection of Emerging Infectious Diseases. *Analyst* 2006, 131, 1079–1090.

(9) Lazcka, O.; Campo, F. J. D.; Muñoz, F. X. Pathogen Detection: A Perspective of Traditional Methods and Biosensors. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **2007**, *22*, 1205–1217.

(10) Bahadir, E. B.; Sezginturk, M. K. Applications of Commercial Biosensors in Clinical, Food, Environmental, and Biothreat/Biowarfare Analyses. *Anal. Biochem.* **2015**, 478, 107–120.

(11) Homola, J. Present and Future of Surface Plasmon Resonance Biosensors. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **2003**, 377, 528–539. (12) Hoa, X. D.; Kirk, A. G.; Tabrizian, M. Towards Integrated and Sensitive Surface Plasmon Resonance Biosensors: A Review of Recent Progress. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **2007**, *23*, 151–160.

(13) Abdulhalim, I.; Zourob, M.; Lakhtakia, A. Surface Plasmon Resonance for Biosensing: A Mini-Review. *Electromagnetics* **2008**, *28*, 214–242.

(14) Anker, J. N.; Hall, W. P.; Lyandres, O.; Shah, N. C.; Zhao, J.; Duyne, R. P. V. Biosensing with Plasmonic Nanosensors. *Nat. Mater.* **2008**, *7*, 442–453.

(15) Jackman, J. A.; Ferhan, A. R.; Cho, N.-J. Nanoplasmonic Sensors for Biointerfacial Science. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2017, 46, 3615– 3660.

(16) Raether, H. Surface Plasmons on Smooth and Rough Surfaces and on Gratings; Springer: Berlin, Germany, 1988.

(17) Maier, S. A. Plasmonics: Fundamentals and Applications; Springer, 2007.

(18) Takahara, J.; Yamagisha, S.; Taki, H.; Morimoto, A.; Kobayashi, T. Guiding of a One-Dimensional Optical Beam with Nanometer Diameter. *Opt. Lett.* **1997**, *22*, 475–477.

(19) Takahara, J. Negative Dielectric Optical Waveguides for Nano-Optical Guiding. *Plasmonic Nanoguides and Circuits*; Pan Stanford Publishing: Singapore, 2009; Chapter 2.

(20) Gramotnev, D. K.; Bozhevolnyi, S. I. Plasmonics beyond the Diffraction Limit. *Nat. Photonics* **2010**, *4*, 83–91.

(21) Homola, J.; Yee, S. S.; Gauglitz, G. Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensors: Review. *Sens. Actuators, B* **1999**, *54*, 3–15.

(22) Homola, J.; Koudela, I.; Yee, S. S. Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensors Based on Diffraction Gratings and Prism Couplers: Sensitivity Comparison. *Sens. Actuators, B* **1999**, *54*, 16–24.

(23) Homola, J. Surface Plasmon Resonance Based Sensors; Springer: Berlin, Germany, 2006.

(24) Homola, J. Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensors for Detection of Chemical and Biological Species. *Chem. Rev.* 2008, *108*, 462–493.

 (25) Lal, S.; Link, S.; Halas, N. J. Nano-Optics from Sensing to Waveguiding. *Nat. Photonics* 2007, 1, 641–648.

(26) Stewart, M. E.; Anderton, C. R.; Thompson, L. B.; Maria, J.; Gray, S. K.; Rogers, J. A.; Nuzzo, R. G. Nanostructured Plasmonic Sensors. *Chem. Rev.* **2008**, *108*, 494–521.

(27) Shalabney, A.; Abdulhalim, I. Sensitivity-Enhancement Methods for Surface Plasmon Sensors. *Laser Photonics Rev.* **2011**, *5*, 571–606.

(28) Li, M.; Cushingab, S. K.; Wu, N. Plasmon-Enhanced Optical Sensors: A Review. *Analyst* 2015, *140*, 386–406.

(29) Baird, C. L.; Myszka, D. G. Current and Emerging Commercial Optical Biosensors. J. Mol. Recognit. 2001, 14, 261–268.

(30) http://www.ibis-spr.nl/.

(31) http://www.reichertspr.com/.

(32) https://www.biacore.com/.

(33) Shankaran, D. R.; Gobi, K. V.; Miura, N. Recent Advancements in Surface Plasmon Resonance Immunosensors for Detection of Small Molecules of Biomedical, Food and Environmental Interest. *Sens. Actuators, B* **2007**, *121*, 158–177.

(34) Mejía-Salazar, J. R.; Oliveira, O. N. J. Plasmonic Biosensing. *Chem. Rev.* **2018**, *118*, 10617–10625.

(35) Piliarik, M.; Homola, J. Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR) Sensors: Approaching Their Limits? *Opt. Express* **2009**, *17*, 16505– 16517.

(36) Wang, X.; Jefferson, M.; Hobbs, P. C. D.; Risk, W. P.; Feller, B. E.; Miller, R. D.; Knoesen, A. Shot-Noise Limited Detection for Surface Plasmon Sensing. *Opt. Express* **2011**, *19*, 107–117.

(37) Giovannetti, V.; Lloyd, S.; Maccone, L. Quantum-Enhanced Measurements: Beating the Standard Quantum Limit. *Science* **2004**, 306, 1330–1336.

(38) Paris, M. G. A. Quantum Estimation for Quantum Technology. *Int. J. Quantum Inf.* **2009**, *7*, 125–137.

(39) Giovannetti, V.; Lloyd, S.; Maccone, L. Advances in Quantum Metrology. *Nat. Photonics* **2011**, *5*, 222–229.

(40) Tóth, G.; Apellaniz, I. Quantum Metrology from a Quantum Information Science Perspective. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 2014, 47, 424006.

(41) Demkowicz-Dobrzański, R.; Jarzyna, M.; Kolodynski, J. Quantum Limits in Optical Interferometry. *Prog. Opt.* 2015, 60, 345–435.

(42) Taylor, M. A.; Bowen, W. P. Quantum Metrology and its Application in Biology. *Phys. Rep.* **2016**, *615*, 1–59.

(43) Degen, C. L.; Reinhard, F.; Cappellaro, P. Quantum Sensing. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 2017, *89*, 035002.

(44) Pirandola, S.; Bardhan, B. R.; Gehring, T.; Weedbrook, C.; Lloyd, S. Advances in Photonic Quantum Sensing. *Nat. Photonics* **2018**, *12*, 724–733.

(45) Braun, D.; Adesso, G.; Benatti, F.; Floreanini, R.; Marzolino, U.; Mitchell, M. W.; Pirandola, S. Quantum-Enhanced Measurements without Entanglement. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **2018**, *90*, 035006.

(46) Tan, K. C.; Jeong, H. Nonclassical Light and Metrological Power: An Introductory Review. AVS Quantum Sci. 2019, 1, 014701.

(47) Kuzmich, A.; Mandel, L. Sub-Shot-Noise Interferometric Measurements with Two-Photon States. *Quantum Semiclassical Opt.* **1988**, *10*, 493–500.

(48) Fonseca, E. J. S.; Monken, C. H.; Padua, S. Measurement of the de Broglie Wavelength of a Multiphoton Wave Packet. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1999**, *82*, 2868–2871.

(49) Bouwmeester, D. High N00N for Photons. *Nature* 2004, 429, 139–141.

(50) Mitchell, M. W.; Lundeen, J. S.; Steinberg, A. M. Super-Resolving Phase Measurements with a Multiphoton Entangled State. *Nature* **2004**, *429*, 161–164.

(51) Walther, P.; Pan, J.-W.; Aspelmeyer, M.; Ursin, R.; Gasparoni, S.; Zeilinger, A. De Broglie Wavelength of a Non-Local Four-Photon State. *Nature* **2004**, *429*, 158–161.

(52) Matthews, J. C. F.; Politi, A.; Stefanov, A.; O'Brien, J. L. Manipulation of Multiphoton Entanglement in Waveguide Quantum Circuits. *Nat. Photonics* **2009**, *3*, 346–350.

(53) Crespi, A.; Lobino, M.; Matthews, J. C. F.; Politi, A.; Neal, C. R.; Ramponi, R.; Osellame, R.; O'Brien, J. L. Measuring Protein Concentration with Entangled Photons. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2012**, *100*, 233704.

(54) Tame, M. S.; McEnery, K. R.; Özdemir, Ş. K.; Lee, J.; Maier, S. A.; Kim, M. S. Quantum Plasmonics. *Nat. Phys.* **2013**, *9*, 329–340.

(55) Lawrie, B. J.; Evans, P. G.; Pooser, R. C. Extraordinary Optical Transmission of Multimode Quantum Correlations via Localized Surface Plasmons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2013**, *110*, 156802.

(56) de Leon, N. P.; Lukin, M. D.; Park, H. Quantum Plasmonic Circuits. *IEEE J. Sel. Top. Quantum Electron.* **2012**, *18*, 1781–1791. (57) Törmä, P.; Barnes, W. L. Strong Coupling between Surface Plasmon Polaritons and Emitters: A Review. *Rep. Prog. Phys.* **2015**, *78*, 013901.

(58) Brongersma, M. L.; Halas, N. J.; Nordlander, P. Plasmon-Induced Hot Carrier Science and Technology. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2015**, *10*, 25–34.

(59) Pelton, M. Modified Spontaneous Emission in Nanophotonic Structures. *Nat. Photonics* **2015**, *9*, 427–435.

(60) Fitzgerald, J. M.; Narang, P.; Craster, R. V.; Maier, S. A.; Giannini, V. Quantum Plasmonics. *Proc. IEEE* **2016**, *104*, 2307–2322.

(61) Zhu, W.; Esteban, R.; Borisov, A. G.; Baumberg, J. J.; Nordlander, P.; Lezec, H. J.; Aizpurua, J.; Crozier, K. B. Quantum Mechanical Effects in Plasmonic Structures with Subnanometre Gaps. *Nat. Commun.* **2016**, *7*, 11495.

(62) Marquier, F.; Sauvan, C.; Greffet, J.-J. Revisiting Quantum Optics with Surface Plasmons and Plasmonic Resonators. *ACS Photonics* **2017**, *4*, 2091–2101.

(63) Xu, D.; Xiong, X.; Wu, L.; Ren, X.-F.; Png, C. E.; Guo, G.-C.; Gong, Q.; Xiao, Y.-F. Quantum Plasmonics: New Opportunity in Fundamental and Applied Photonics. *Adv. Opt. Photonics* **2018**, *10*, 703–756.

(64) Fernández-Domínguez, A. I.; Bozhevolnyi, S. I.; Mortensen, N. A. Plasmon-Enhanced Generation of Nonclassical Light. ACS *Photonics* **2018**, *5*, 3447–3451.

(65) Hughes, S.; Franke, S.; Gustin, C.; Dezfouli, M. K.; Knorr, A.; Richter, M. Theory and Limits of On-Demand Single-Photon Sources Using Plasmonic Resonators: A Quantized Quasinormal Mode Approach. *ACS Photonics* **2019**, *6*, 2168–2180.

(66) Slepyan, G. Y.; Vlasenko, S.; Mogilevtsev, D. Quantum Antennas. Adv. Quantum Technol. 2020, 3, 1900120.

(67) You, C.; Nellikka, A. C.; Leon, I. D.; Magana-Loaiza, O. S. Multiparticle Quantum Plasmonics. *Nanophotonics* **2020**, *9*, 1243–1269.

(68) Mayer, K. M.; Hafner, J. H. Localized Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensors. *Chem. Rev.* 2011, 111, 3828-3857.

(69) Jackson, J. D. Classical Electrodynamics;, 3rd ed.; Wiley: New York, NY, 1999.

(70) Vial, A.; Grimault, A.-S.; Macías, D.; Barchiesi, D.; de la Chapelle, M. L. Improved Analytical Fit of Gold Dispersion: Application to the Modeling of Extinction Spectra with a Finite-Difference Time-Domain Method. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2005**, *71*, 085416.

(71) Johnson, P. B.; Christy, R. W. Optical Constants of the Noble Metals. *Phys. Rev. B* 1972, *6*, 4370–4379.

(72) Griffiths, D. J. Introduction to Electrodynamics, 3rd ed.; Prentice Hall: NJ, 1999.

(73) Ritchie, R. H. Plasma Losses by Fast Electrons in Thin Films. *Phys. Rev.* **1957**, *106*, 874–881.

(74) Mikhailov, S. A.; Ziegler, K. New Electromagnetic Mode in Graphene. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **200**7, *99*, 016803.

(75) Otto, A. Excitation of Surface Plasma Waves in Silver by the Method of Frustrated Total Reflection. Z. Phys. A: Hadrons Nucl. **1968**, 216, 398-410.

(76) Kretschmann, E.; Raether, H. Radiative Decay of Non-Radiative Surface Plasmons Excited by Light. *Z. Naturforsch., A: Phys. Sci.* **1968**, 23A, 2135–2136.

(77) Vinogradov, E. A.; Leskova, T. A. Polaritons in Thin Films on Metal Surfaces. *Phys. Rep.* **1990**, *194*, 273–280.

(78) Salomon, L.; Bassou, G.; Dufour, J. P.; de Fornel, F.; Zayats, A. V. Local Excitation of Surface Plasmon Polaritons at Discontinuities of a Metal Film: Theoretical Analysis and Optical Near-Field Measurements. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2002**, *65*, 125409.

(79) Hecht, B.; Bielefeldt, H.; Novotny, L.; Inouye, Y.; Pohl, D. W. Local Excitation, Scattering, and Interference of Surface Plasmons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1996**, *77*, 1889–1892.

(80) Vinogradov, A. P.; Dorofeenko, A. V.; Pukhov, A. A.; Lisyansky, A. A. Exciting Surface Plasmon Polaritons in the Kretschmann Configuration by a Light Beam. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2018**, *97*, 235407.

(81) Malmqvist, M. Surface Plasmon Resonance for Detection and Measurement of Antibody-Antigen Affinity and Kinetics. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* **1993**, *5*, 282–286.

(82) Lundström, I. Real-Time Biospecific Interaction Analysis. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **1994**, *9*, 725–736.

(83) Karlsson, R.; Fält, A. Experimental Design for Kinetic Analysis of Protein-Protein Interactions with Surface Plasmon Resonance Biosensors. J. Immunol. Methods **1997**, 200, 121–133.

(84) Scarano, S.; Mascini, M.; Turner, A. P. F.; Minunni, M. Surface Plasmon Resonance Imaging for Affinity-Based Biosensors. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **2010**, *25*, 957–966.

(85) Pockrand, I.; Swalen, J. D.; Gordon, J. G.; Philpott, M. R. Surface Plasmon Spectroscopy of Organic Monolayer Assemblies. *Surf. Sci.* **1978**, *74*, 237–244.

(86) Peterlinz, K. A.; Georgiadis, R. Two-Color Approach for Determination of Thickness and Dielectric Constant of Thin Films Using Surface Plasmon Resonance. *Opt. Commun.* **1996**, *130*, 260–266.

(87) Piliarik, M.; Párová, L.; Homola, J. High-throughput SPR Sensor for Food Safety. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **2009**, *24*, 1399–1404. (88) Stemmler, I.; Brecht, A.; Gauglitz, G. Compact Surface Plasmon Resonance-Transducers with Spectral Readout for Biosensing Applications. *Sens. Actuators, B* **1999**, *54*, 98–105.

(89) Huang, Y. H.; Ho, H. P.; Wu, S. Y.; Kong, S. K. Detecting Phase Shifts in Surface Plasmon Resonance: A Review. *Adv. Opt. Technologies* **2012**, 2012, 1–12.

(90) Kashif, M.; Bakar, A.; Arsad, N.; Shaari, S. Development of Phase Detection Schemes Based on Surface Plasmon Resonance Using Interferometry. *Sensors* **2014**, *14*, 15914–15938.

(91) Deng, S.; Wang, P.; Yu, X. Phase-Sensitive Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensors: Recent Progress and Future Prospects. *Sensors* **2017**, 17, 2819.

(92) Ho, H. P.; Yuan, W.; Wong, C. L.; Wu, S. Y.; Suen, Y. K.; Kong, S. K.; Lin, C. Sensitivity Enhancement Based on Application of Multi-Pass Interferometry in Phase-Sensitive Surface Plasmon Resonance Biosensor. *Opt. Commun.* **2007**, *275*, 491–496.

(93) Xinglong, Y.; Dingxin, W.; Xing, W.; Xiang, D.; Wei, L.; Xinsheng, Z. A Surface Plasmon Resonance Imaging Interferometry for Protein Micro-Array Detection. *Sens. Actuators, B* **2005**, *108*, 765–771.

(94) Yesilkoy, F.; Terborg, R. A.; Pello, J.; Belushkin, A. A.; Jahani, Y.; Pruneri, V.; Altug, H. Phase-Sensitive Plasmonic Biosensor Using a Portable and Large Field-of-View Interferometric Microarray Imager. *Light: Sci. Appl.* **2018**, *7*, 17152.

(95) Ho, H. P.; Lam, W. W.; Wu, S. Y. Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensor Based on the Measurement of Differential Phase. *Rev. Sci. Instrum.* **2002**, *73*, 3534–3539.

(96) Wu, S. Y.; Ho, H. P.; Law, W. C.; Lin, C.; Kong, S. K. Highly Sensitive Differential Phase-Sensitive Surface Plasmon Resonance Biosensor Based on the Mach-Zehnder Configuration. *Opt. Lett.* **2004**, *29*, 2378–2380.

(97) Ho, H. P.; Lam, W. W. Application of Differential Phase Measurement Technique to Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensors. *Sens. Actuators, B* **2003**, *96*, 554–559.

(98) Nemova, G.; Kabashin, A. V.; Kashyap, R. Surface Plasmon-Polariton Mach-Zehnder Refractive Index Sensor. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B 2008, 25, 1673–1677.

(99) Gao, Y.; Gan, Q.; Xin, Z.; Cheng, X.; Bartoli, F. J. Plasmonic Mach-Zehnder Interferometer for Ultrasensitive On-Chip Biosensing. *ACS Nano* **2011**, *5*, 9836–9844.

(100) Wu, C. M.; Jian, Z. C.; Joe, S. F.; Chang, L. B. High-Sensitivity Sensor Based on Surface Plasmon Resonance and Heterodyne Interferometry. *Sens. Actuators, B* **2003**, *92*, 133–136.

(101) Kuo, W.-K.; Chang, C.-H. Experimental Comparison between Intensity and Phase Detection Sensitivities of Grating Coupling Surface Plasmon Resonance. *Appl. Phys. A: Mater. Sci. Process.* **2011**, *104*, 765–768.

(102) Kabashin, A. V.; Nikitin, P. I. Interferometer Based on a Surface-Plasmon Resonance for Sensor Applications. *Quantum Electron.* **1997**, *27*, 653–654.

(103) Kabashin, A. V.; Nikitin, P. I. Surface Plasmon Resonance Interferometer for Bio- and Chemical-Sensors. *Opt. Commun.* **1998**, *150*, 5–8.

(104) Kochergin, V. E.; Beloglazov, A. A.; Valeiko, M. V.; Nikitin, P. I. Phase Properties of a Surface-Plasmon Resonance from the Viewpoint of Sensor Applications. *Quantum Electron.* **1998**, *28*, 444–448.

(105) Kochergin, V. E.; Valeiko, M. V.; Beloglazov, A. A.; Ksenvich, T. I.; Nikitin, P. I. Visualization of the Angular Dependence of the Reflected-Radiation Phase under Conditions of a Surface-Plasmon Resonance and Its Sensor Application. *Quantum Electron.* **1998**, *28*, 835–839.

(106) Kabashin, A. V.; Kochergin, V. E.; Beloglazov, A. A.; Nikitin, P. I. Phase-Polarization Contrast for Surface Plasmon Resonance Biosensors. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **1998**, *13*, 1263–1269.

(107) Shen, S.; Liu, T.; Guo, J. Optical Phase-Shift Detection of Surface Plasmon Resonance. *Appl. Opt.* **1998**, *37*, 1747–1751.

(108) Grigorenko, A. N.; Nikitin, P. I.; Kabashin, A. V. Phase Jumps and Interferometric Surface Plasmon Resonance Imaging. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1999**, *75*, 3917–3919.

(109) Nikitin, P. I.; Beloglazov, A. A.; Kochergin, V. E.; Valeiko, M. V.; Ksenevich, T. I. Surface Plasmon Resonance Interferometry for Biological and Chemical Sensing. *Sens. Actuators, B* **1999**, *54*, 43–50. (110) Kabashin, A. V.; Kochergin, V. E.; Nikitin, P. I. Surface Plasmon Resonance Bio- and Chemical Sensors with Phase-Polarization Contrast. *Sens. Actuators, B* **1999**, *54*, 51–56.

(111) Nikitin, P. I.; Grigorenko, A. N.; Beloglazov, A. A.; Valeiko, M. V.; Savchuk, A. I.; Savchuk, O. A. Surface Plasmon Resonance Interferometry for Micro-Array Biosensing. *Sens. Actuators, A* **2000**, *85*, 189–193.

(112) Xinglong, Y.; Dingxin, W.; Zibo, Y. Simulation and Analysis of Surface Plasmon Resonance Biosensor Based on Phase Detection. *Sens. Actuators, B* **2003**, *91*, 285–290.

(113) Sheridan, A. K.; Harris, R. D.; Bartlett, P. N.; Wilkinson, J. S. Phase Interrogation of an Integrated Optical SPR Sensor. *Sens. Actuators, B* **2004**, *97*, 114–121.

(114) Wu, C. M.; Pao, M. C. Sensitivity-Tunable Optical Sensors Based on Surface Plasmon Resonance and Phase Detection. *Opt. Express* **2004**, *12*, 3509–3514.

(115) Ran, B.; Lipson, S. G. Comparison between Sensitivities of Phase and Intensity Detection in Surface Plasmon Resonance. *Opt. Express* **2006**, *14*, 5641–5650.

(116) Kabashin, A. V.; Patskovsky, S.; Grigorenko, A. N. Phase and Amplitude Sensitivities in Surface Plasmon Resonance Bio and Chemical Sensing. *Opt. Express* **2009**, *17*, 21191–21204.

(117) Kelly, K. L. The Optical Properties of Metal Nanoparticles: The Influence of Size, Shape, and Dielectric Environment. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2003**, *107*, 668–677.

(118) Kreibig, U.; Vollmer, M. Electromagnetic Surface Modes; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1982.

(119) Kreibig, U.; Vollmer, M. Optical Properties of Metal Clusters; Springer: Berlin, Germany, 1995.

(120) Faraday, M. The Bakerian Lecture: Experimental Relations of Gold (and Other Metals) to Light. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London* 1847, 147, 145–181.

(121) Mie, G. Beiträge zur Optik trüber Medien, speziell kolloidaler Metallösungen. Ann. Phys. (Berlin, Ger.) **1908**, 330, 377–445.

(122) Zhang, X.; Liu, Z. Superlenses to Overcome the Diffraction Limit. *Nat. Mater.* **2008**, *7*, 435–441.

(123) Kawata, S.; Inouye, Y.; Verma, P. Plasmonics for Near-Field Nano-Imaging and Superlensing. *Nat. Photonics* **2009**, *3*, 388–394.

(124) Eghlidi, H.; Lee, K.-G.; Chen, X.-W.; Götzinger, S.; Sandoghdar, V. Resolution and Enhancement in Nanoantenna-Based Fluorescence Microscopy. *Nano Lett.* **2009**, *9*, 4007–4011.

(125) Rotenberg, N.; Kuipers, L. Mapping Nanoscale Light Fields. Nat. Photonics 2014, 8, 919–926.

(126) Willets, K. A.; Wilson, A. J.; Sundaresan, V.; Joshi, P. B. Super-Resolution Imaging and Plasmonics. *Chem. Rev.* **201**7, *117*, 7538– 7582.

(127) Zayats, A. V.; Smolyaninov, I. I. Near-Field Photonics: Surface Plasmon Polaritons and Localized Surface Plasmons. J. Opt. A: Pure Appl. Opt. 2003, 5, S16–S50.

(128) Bohren, C. F.; Huffman, D. R. Absorption and Scattering of Light by Small Particles; Wiley-Interscience: New York, US, 1998.

(129) Gans, R. Über die Form ultramikroskopischer Goldteilchen. Ann. Phys. (Berlin, Ger.) 1912, 342, 881.

(130) Novotny, L. Effective Wavelength Scaling for Optical Antennas. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2007**, *98*, 266802.

(131) Taflove, A. Review of the Formulation and Applications of the Finite-Difference Time-Domain Method for Numerical Modeling of Electromagnetic Wave Interactions with Arbitrary Structures. *Wave Motion* **1988**, *10*, 547–582.

(132) Barber, P. W.; Hill, S. C. Light Scattering by Particles: Computational Methods; World Scientific: Singapore, 1990. (133) Kahnert, F. M. Numerical Methods in Electromagnetic Scattering Theory. J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat. Transfer **2003**, 79, 775–824.

(134) Zhao, J.; Pinchuk, A. O.; McMahon, J. M.; Li, S. Z.; Ausman, L. K.; Atkinson, A. L.; Schatz, G. C. Methods for Describing the Electromagnetic Properties of Silver and Gold Nanoparticles. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2008**, *41*, 1710–1720.

(135) Kerker, M. The Scattering of Light and Other Electromagnetic Radiation; Academic Press: New York, 1969.

(136) Schaubert, D.; Wilton, D.; Glisson, A. A Tetrahedral Modeling Method for Electromagnetic Scattering by Arbitrarily Shaped Inhomogeneous Dielectric Bodies. *IRE Trans. Antennas Propag.* **1984**, 32, 77–85.

(137) Martin, O. J. F.; Girard, C.; Dereux, A. Generalized Field Propagator for Electromagnetic Scattering and Light Confinement. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1995**, *74*, 526–529.

(138) Mishchenko, M. I.; Travis, L. D.; Mackowski, D. W. T-Matrix Computations of Light Scattering by Nonspherical Particles: A Review. J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat. Transfer **1996**, 55, 535–575.

(139) Wriedt, T. A Review of Elastic Light Scattering Theories. Part. Part. Syst. Charact. **1998**, 15, 67–74.

(140) Sosa, I. O.; Noguez, C.; Barrera, R. G. Optical Properties of Metal Nanoparticles with Arbitrary Shapes. J. Phys. Chem. B 2003, 107, 6269–6275.

(141) Kolokolova, L.; Gustafson, B. A. S.; Mishchenko, M. I.; Videen, G. Electromagnetic and Light Scattering by Non-Spherical Particles. J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat. Transfer **2003**, 79–80, 491– 1198.

(142) Kahnert, M. Electromagnetic Scattering by Nonspherical Particles: Recent Advances. J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat. Transfer 2010, 111, 1788–1790.

(143) Kvasnička, P.; Homola, J. Optical Sensors Based on Spectroscopy of Localized Surface Plasmons on Metallic Nanoparticles: Sensitivity Considerations. *Biointerphases* **2008**, *3*, FD4– FD11.

(144) Haes, A. J.; Hall, W. P.; Chang, L.; Klein, W. L.; Duyne, R. P. V. A Localized Surface Plasmon Resonance Biosensor: First Steps toward an Assay for Alzheimer's Disease. *Nano Lett.* **2004**, *4*, 1029–1034.

(145) Sherry, L. J.; Chang, S.-H.; Schatz, G. C.; Duyne, R. P. V.; Wiley, B. J.; Xia, Y. Localized Surface Plasmon Resonance Spectroscopy of Single Silver Nanocubes. *Nano Lett.* **2005**, *5*, 2034–2038.

(146) Liu, N.; Weiss, T.; Mesch, M.; Langguth, L.; Eigenthaler, U.; Hirscher, M.; Sönnichsen, C.; Giessen, H. Planar Metamaterial Analogue of Electromagnetically Induced Transparency for Plasmonic Sensing. *Nano Lett.* **2010**, *10*, 1103–1107.

(147) Becker, J.; Trugler, A.; Jakab, A.; Hohenester, U.; Sonnichsen, C. The Optimal Aspect Ratio of Gold Nanorods for Plasmonic Biosensing. *Plasmonics* **2010**, *5*, 161–167.

(148) Chen, T.; Li, S.; Sun, H. Metamaterials Application in Sensing. *Sensors* **2012**, *12*, 2742–2765.

(149) Cai, W.; Shalaev, V. Optical Metamaterials: Fundamentals and applications; Springer, Dordrecht, 2010.

(150) Meinzer, N.; Barnes, W. L.; Hooper, I. R. Plasmonic Meta-Atoms and Metasurfaces. *Nat. Photonics* **2014**, *8*, 889–898.

(151) Soukoulis, C. M.; Wegener, M. Past Achievements and Future Challenges in the Development of Three-Dimensional Photonic Metamaterials. *Nat. Photonics* **2011**, *5*, 523–530.

(152) Soukoulis, C. M.; Linden, S.; Wegener, M. Negative Refractive Index at Optical Wavelengths. *Science* **2007**, *315*, 47–49.

(153) Shalaev, V. M. Optical Negative-Index Metamaterials. *Nat. Photonics* **2007**, *1*, 41–48.

(154) Chen, H.; Chan, C. T.; Sheng, P. Transformation Optics and Metamaterials. *Nat. Mater.* **2010**, *9*, 387–396.

(155) Lapine, M.; Shadrivov, I. V.; Kivshar, Y. S. Nonlinear Metamaterials. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **2014**, *86*, 1093.

(156) Litchinitser, N. M. Nonlinear Optics in Metamaterials. Adv. Phys.: X 2018, 3, 1367628.

(157) Krasnok, A.; Tymchenko, M.; Alu, A. Nonlinear Metasurfaces: A Paradigm Shift in Nonlinear Optics. *Mater. Today* **2018**, *21*, 8–21. (158) Wang, W.; Wu, Y.; Ma, Y.; Cai, W.; Hu, L.; Mu, X.; Xu, Y.; Chen, Z.-J.; Wang, H.; Song, Y. P.; Yuan, H.; Zou, C.-L.; Duan, L.-M.; Sun, L. Heisenberg Limited Single-Mode Quantum Metrology. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 4382.

(159) Caucheteur, C.; Guo, T.; Albert, J. Review of Plasmonic Fiber Optic Biochemical Sensors: Improving the Limit of Detection. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **2015**, 407, 3883–3897.

(160) Alu, A.; Engheta, N. Optical Wave Interaction with Two-Dimensional Arrays of Plasmonic Nanoparticles. In *Structured Surfaces as Optical Metamaterials*; Maradudin, A. A., Ed.; Cambridge University Press, 2011; Chapter 3.

(161) Kabashin, A. V.; Evans, P.; Pastkovsky, S.; Hendren, W.; Wurtz, G. A.; Atkinson, R.; Pollard, R.; Podolskiy, V. A.; Zayats, A. V. Plasmonic Nanorod Metamaterials for Biosensing. *Nat. Mater.* **2009**, *8*, 867–871.

(162) Chang, Y. T.; Lai, Y.; Li, C. T.; Chen, C. K.; Yen, T. J. A Multi-Functional Plasmonic Biosensor. *Opt. Express* **2010**, *18*, 9561– 9569.

(163) Cao, C.; Zhang, J.; Wen, X.; Dodson, S. L.; Dao, N. T.; Wong, L. M.; Wang, S.; Li, S.; Phan, A. T.; Xiong, Q. Metamaterials-Based Label-Free Nanosensor for Conformation and Affinity Biosensing. *ACS Nano* **2013**, *7*, 7583–7591.

(164) Wang, P.; Nasir, M. E.; Krasavin, A. V.; Dickson, W.; Jiang, Y.; Zayats, A. V. Plasmonic Metamaterials for Nanochemistry and Sensing. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2019**, *52*, 3018–3028.

(165) Tseng, M. L.; Jahani, Y.; Leitis, A.; Altug, H. Dielectric Metasurfaces Enabling Advanced Optical Biosensors. *ACS Photonics* **2021**, *8*, 47–60.

(166) Hassan, M. M.; Sium, F. S.; Islam, F.; Choudhury, S. M. Plasmonic Metamaterial Based Virus Detection System: A Review. *arXiv* **2020**, 2012.00551.

(167) Piliarik, M.; Homola, J.; Mankova, Z.; Ctyroky, J. Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensor Based on a Single-Mode Polarization-Maintaining Optical Fiber. *Sens. Actuators, B* **2003**, *90*, 236–242.

(168) Niu, L.; Zhang, N.; Liu, H.; Zhou, X.; Knoll, W. Integrating Plasmonic Diagnostics and Microfluidics. *Biomicrofluidics* **2015**, *9*, 052611.

(169) Stocker, P.; Menges, B.; Langbein, U.; Mittler, S. Multimode Waveguide Mode Surface Plasmon Coupling: A Sensitivity and Device Realizability Study. *Sens. Actuators, A* **2004**, *116*, 224–231.

(170) Lin, C. W.; Chen, K. P.; Hsiao, C. N.; Lin, S.; Lee, C. K. Design and Fabrication of an Alternating Dielectric Multi-Layer Device for Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensor. *Sens. Actuators, B* **2006**, *113*, 169–176.

(171) Sepulveda, B.; del Rio, J. S.; Moreno, M.; Blanco, F. J.; Mayora, K.; Dominguez, C.; Lechuga, L. M. Optical Biosensor Microsystems Based on the Integration of Highly Sensitive Mach-Zehnder Interferometer Devices. J. Opt. A: Pure Appl. Opt. 2006, 8, S561–S566.

(172) Chinowsky, T. M.; Yee, S. S. Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensing in Capillaries. *Electron. Lett.* **1999**, 35, 1659–1661.

(173) Ghosh, A. K. Planar Integrated Optical Processor Based Biomedical Sensors. *Proceedings of the 12th Annual Meeting LEOS'99 IEEE on Lasers and Electro-Optics Society* **1999**, *1*, 249–250.

(174) Thirstrup, C.; Zong, W.; Borre, M.; Neff, H.; Pedersen, H. C.; Holzhueter, G. Diffractive Optical Coupling Element for Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensors. *Sens. Actuators B Chem.* **2004**, *100*, 299– 309.

(175) Kurihara, K.; Ohkawa, H.; Iwasaki, Y.; Niwa, O.; Tobita, T.; Suzuki, K. Fiber-Optic Conical Microsensors for Surface Plasmon Resonance Using Chemically Etched Single-Mode Fiber. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 2004, 523, 165–170.

(176) Consales, M.; Quero, G.; Spaziani, S.; Principe, M.; Micco, A.; Galdi, V.; Cutolo, A.; Cusano, A. Metasurface-Enhanced Lab-on-Fiber Biosensors. *Laser Photonics Rev.* **2020**, *14*, 2000180.

(177) Li, D.; Pu, S.; Zhao, Y.; Li, Y.; Hao, Z.; Han, Z. Sensing Properties of Symmetrical Side-Polished Photonic Crystal Fiber Based on Surface Plasmon Resonance. *Optik* **2020**, *224*, 165662.

(178) Washburn, A. L.; Bailey, R. C. Photonics-on-a-Chip: Recent Advances in Integrated Waveguides as Enabling Detection Elements for Real-World, Lab-on-a-Chip Biosensing Applications. *Analyst* **2011**, *136*, 227–236.

(179) Yavas, O.; Svedendahl, M.; Dobosz, P.; Sanz, V.; Quidant, R. On-a-Chip Biosensing Based on All-Dielectric Nanoresonators. *Nano Lett.* **2017**, *17*, 4421–4426.

(180) Dong, J.; Zhang, Z.; Zheng, H.; Sun, M. Recent Progress on Plasmon-Enhanced Fluorescence. *Nanophotonics* **2015**, *4*, 472–490.

(181) Bauch, M.; Toma, K.; Toma, M. Plasmon-Enhanced Fluorescence Biosensors: A Review. *Plasmonics* **2014**, *9*, 781–799.

(182) Kneipp, K.; Moskovits, M.; Kneipp, H. Surface-Enhanced Raman Scattering: Physics and Applications; Springer, 2006.

(183) Jeong, Y.; Kook, K.-M.; Lee, K.; Koh, W.-G. Metal Enhanced Fluorescence (MEF) for Biosensors: General Approaches and a Review of Recent Developments. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **2018**, *111*, 102–116.

(184) Kuhn, S.; Mori, G.; Agio, M.; Sandoghdar, V. Modification of Single Molecule Fluorescence Close to a Nanostructure: Radiation Pattern, Spontaneous Emission and Quenching. *Mol. Phys.* **2008**, *106*, 893–908.

(185) Lamprecht, B.; Schider, G.; Lechner, R. T.; Ditlbacher, H.; Krenn, J. R.; Leitner, A.; Aussenegg, F. R. Metal Nanoparticle Gratings: Influence of Dipolar Particle Interaction on the Plasmon Resonance. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2000**, *84*, 4721–4724.

(186) Linden, S.; Kuhl, J.; Giessen, H. Controlling the Interaction between Light and Gold Nanoparticles: Selective Suppression of Extinction. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2001**, *86*, 4688–4691.

(187) Schneider, G.; Decher, G.; Nerambourg, N.; Praho, R.; Werts, M. H. V.; Blanchard-Desce, M. Distance-Dependent Fluorescence Quenching on Gold Nanoparticles Ensheathed with Layer-by-Layer Assembled Polyelectrolytes. *Nano Lett.* **2006**, *6*, 530–536.

(188) Chen, X. W.; Lee, K. G.; Eghlidi, H.; Götzinger, S.; Sandoghdar, V. Enhancing the Radiative Emission Rate of Single Molecules by a Plasmonic Nanoantenna Weakly Coupled with a Dielectric Substrate. *Opt. Express* **2015**, *23*, 32986–32992.

(189) Kinkhabwala, A.; Yu, Z.; Fan, S.; Avlasevich, Y.; Müllen, K.; Moerner, W. E. Large Single-Molecule Fluorescence Enhancements Produced by a Bowtie Nanoantenna. *Nat. Photonics* **2009**, *3*, 654– 657.

(190) Taminiau, T. H.; Stefani, F. D.; Segerink, F. B.; van Hulst, N. F. Optical Antennas Direct Single-Molecule Emission. *Nat. Photonics* **2008**, *2*, 234–237.

(191) Curto, A. G.; Volpe, G.; Taminiau, T. H.; Kreuzer, M. P.; Quidant, R.; van Hulst, N. F. Unidirectional Emission of a Quantum Dot Coupled to a Nanoantenna. *Science* **2010**, *329*, 930–933.

(192) Menzel, C.; Hebestreit, E.; Mühlig, S.; Rockstuhl, C.; Burger, S.; Lederer, F.; Pertsch, T. The Spectral Shift between Near- and Far-Field Resonances of Optical Nano-Antennas. *Opt. Express* **2014**, *22*, 9971–9982.

(193) Agio, M.; Alú, A. Optical Antennas; Cambridge Univ. Press, 2013.

(194) Kühn, S.; Hakanson, U.; Rogobete, L.; Sandoghdar, V. Enhancement of Single-Molecule Fluorescence Using a Gold Nanoparticle as an Optical Nanoantenna. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2006**, *97*, 017402.

(195) Anger, P.; Bharadwaj, P.; Novotny, L. Enhancement and Quenching of Single-Molecule Fluorescence. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2006**, *96*, 113002.

(196) Kolwas, K.; Derkachova, A.; Shopa, M. Size Characteristics of Surface Plasmons and Their Manifestation in Scattering Properties of Metal Particles. J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat. Transfer **2009**, 110, 1490–1501.

(197) Fernandez-Corbaton, I.; Nanz, S.; Alaee, R.; Rockstuhl, C. Exact Dipolar Moments of a Localized Electric Current Distribution. *Opt. Express* **2015**, *23*, 33044–33064.

Review

(198) Alaee, R.; Rockstuhl, C.; Fernandez-Corbaton, I. Exact Multipolar Decompositions with Applications in Nanophotonics. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2019**, *7*, 1800783.

(199) Mohamed, M. B.; Volkov, V.; Link, S.; El-Sayed, M. A. The 'Lightning' Gold Nanorods: Fluorescence Enhancement of over a Million Compared to the Gold Metal. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **2000**, *317*, 517–523.

(200) Theodorou, I. G.; Jiang, Q.; Malms, L.; Xie, X.; Coombes, R. C.; Aboagye, E. O.; Porter, A. E.; Ryan, M. P.; Xie, F. Fluorescence Enhancement from Single Gold Nanostars: Towards Ultra-Bright Emission in the First and Second Near-Infrared Biological Windows. *Nanoscale* **2018**, *10*, 15854–15864.

(201) Lee, K.-G.; Eghlidi, H.; Chen, X.-W.; Renn, A.; Götzinger, S.; Sandoghdar, V. Spontaneous Emission Enhancement of a Single Molecule by a Double-Sphere Nanoantenna across an Interface. *Opt. Express* **2012**, *20*, 23331–23338.

(202) Jianga, J.; Wang, X.; Li, S.; Ding, F.; Li, N.; Meng, S.; Li, R.; Qi, J.; Liu, Q.; Liu, G. L. Plasmonic Nano-Arrays for Ultrasensitive Bio-Sensing. *Nanophotonics* **2018**, *7*, 1517–1531.

(203) Davidson, R. B.; Yanchenko, A.; Ziegler, J. I.; Avanesyan, S. M.; Lawrie, B. J.; Haglund, R. F. J. Ultrafast Plasmonic Control of Second Harmonic Generation. *ACS Photonics* **2016**, *3*, 1477–1481.

(204) Li, H.; Chen, C.-Y.; Wei, X.; Qiang, W.; Li, Z.; Cheng, Q.; Xu, D. Highly Sensitive Detection of Proteins Based on Metal-Enhanced Fluorescence with Novel Silver Nanostructures. *Anal. Chem.* **2012**, *84*, 8656–8662.

(205) Mei, Z.; Tang, L. Surface-Plasmon-Coupled Fluorescence Enhancement Based on Ordered Gold Nanorod Array Biochip for Ultrasensitive DNA Analysis. *Anal. Chem.* **2017**, *89*, 633–639.

(206) Wang, Y.; Yan, B.; Chen, L. SERS Tags: Novel Optical Nanoprobes for Bioanalysis. *Chem. Rev.* **2013**, *113*, 1391–1428.

(207) Thomas, M.; Mühlig, S.; Deckert-Gaudig, T.; Rockstuhl, C.; Deckert, V.; Marquetand, P. Distinguishing Chemical and Electromagnetic Enhancement in Surface-Enhanced Raman Spectra: The Case of Para-Nitrothiophenol. *J. Raman Spectrosc.* **2013**, *44*, 1497–1505.

(208) Rothenhäusler, B.; Knoll, W. Surface-Plasmon Microscopy. *Nature* **1988**, 332, 615–617.

(209) Smith, E. A.; Thomas, W. D.; Kiessling, L. L.; Corn, R. M. Surface Plasmon Resonance Imaging Studies of Protein-Carbohydrate Interactions. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125*, 6140–6148.

(210) Steiner, G. Surface Plasmon Resonance Imaging. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 2004, 379, 328-331.

(211) Wark, A. W.; Lee, H. J.; Corn, R. M. Long-Range Surface Plasmon Resonance Imaging for Bioaffinity Sensors. *Anal. Chem.* **2005**, 77, 3904–3907.

(212) Wong, C. L.; Olivo, M. Surface Plasmon Resonance Imaging Sensors: A Review. *Plasmonics* 2014, *9*, 809–824.

(213) Jordan, C. E.; Corn, R. M. Surface Plasmon Resonance Imaging Measurements of Electrostatic Biopolymer Adsorption onto Chemically Modified Gold Surfaces. *Anal. Chem.* **1997**, *69*, 1449– 1456.

(214) Piliarik, M.; Vaisocherová, H.; Homola, J. Towards Parallelized Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensor Platform for Sensitive Detection of Oligonucleotides. *Sens. Actuators, B* **2007**, *121*, 187–193. (215) Hickel, W.; Kamp, D.; Knoll, W. Surface-Plasmon Microscopy. *Nature* **1989**, 339, 186.

(216) Liu, Y.; Liu, Q.; Chen, S.; Cheng, F.; Wang, H.; Peng, W. Surface Plasmon Resonance Biosensor Based on Smart Phone Platforms. *Sci. Rep.* **2015**, *5*, 12864.

(217) Saleh, B. E. A.; Teich, M. C. Fundamentals of Photonics, 3rd ed.; John Wiley & Sons: Hoboken, NJ, 2019.

(218) Loudon, R. The Quantum Theory of Light, 3rd ed.; Oxford University Press, 2000.

(219) Wiseman, H. M. How Many Principles Does It Take to Change a Light Bulb…into a Laser? *Phys. Scr.* 2016, *91*, 033001.

(220) Caves, C. M. Quantum-Mechanical Noise in an Interferometer. *Phys. Rev. D: Part. Fields* **1981**, 23, 1693. (221) Cramér, H. Mathematical Methods of Statistics; Princeton University Press, 1999.

(222) Helstrom, C. W. Quantum Detection and Estimation Theory; Academic Press, 1976.

(223) Kay, S. M. Fundamentals of Statistical Signal Processing: Estimation Theory; Prentice Hall, 1993.

(224) Sidhu, J. S.; Kok, P. Geometric Perspective on Quantum Parameter Estimation. AVS Quantum Sci. 2020, 2, 014701.

(225) Hogg, R. V.; McKean, J. W.; Craig, A. T. Introduction to Mathematical Statistics, 7th ed.; Pearson: Boston, 2013.

(226) Fisher, R. A. Theory of Statistical Estimation. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. **1925**, 22, 700–725.

(227) Braunstein, S. L.; Caves, C. M. Statistical Distance and the Geometry of Quantum States. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1994**, *72*, 3439–3443. (228) Braunstein, S. L.; Caves, C. M.; Milburn, G. J. Generalized Uncertainty Relations: Theory, Examples, and Lorentz Invariance. *Ann. Phys. (Amsterdam, Neth.)* **1996**, *247*, 135–173.

(229) Nielsen, M. A.; Chuang, I. L. Quantum Computation and Quantum Information; Cambridge University Press, 2010.

(230) Jiang, Z. Quantum Fisher Information for States in Exponential Form. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* 2014, 89, 032128.
(231) Caves, C. M. Quantum-Mechanical Radiation-Pressure

Fluctuations in an Interferometer. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1980**, *45*, 75–79. (232) Caves, C. M.; Thorne, K. S.; Drever, R. W. P.; Sandberg, V. D. Zimmermern, M. On the Measurement of a Weak Classical Force.

D.; Zimmermann, M. On the Measurement of a Weak Classical Force Coupled to a Quantum-Mechanical Oscillator. I. Issues of Principle. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **1980**, *52*, 341–392.

(233) Preza, C.; Snyder, D. L.; Conchello, J. A. Theoretical Development and Experimental Evaluation of Imaging Models for Differential-Interference-Contrast Microscopy. J. Opt. Soc. Am. A **1999**, *16*, 2185–2199.

(234) Freise, A.; Chelkowski, S.; Hild, S.; Pozzo, W. D.; Perreca, A.; Vecchio, A. Triple Michelson Interferometer for a Third-Generation Gravitational Wave Detector. *Classical Quantum Gravity* **2009**, *26*, 085012.

(235) Szczykulska, M.; Baumgratz, T.; Datta, A. Multi-Parameter Quantum Metrology. *Adv. Phys.: X* 2016, *1*, 621–639.

(236) Liu, J.; Yuan, H.; Lu, X.-M.; Wang, X. Quantum Fisher Information Matrix and Multiparameter Estimation. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 2020, 53, 023001.

(237) Helstrom, C. W. Minimum Mean-Squared Error of Estimates in Quantum Statistics. *Phys. Lett. A* **1967**, *25*, 101–102.

(238) Braunstein, S. How Large a Sample is Needed for the Maximum Likelihood Estimator to be Approximately Gaussian? *J. Phys. A: Math. Gen.* **1992**, *25*, 3813–3826.

(239) Pezze, L.; Ciampini, M. A.; Spagnolo, N.; Humphreys, P. C.; Datta, A.; Walmsley, I. A.; Barbieri, M.; Sciarrino, F.; Smerzi, A. Optimal Measurements for Simultaneous Quantum Estimation of Multiple Phases. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2017**, *119*, 130504.

(240) Knott, P. A.; Proctor, T. J.; Hayes, A. J.; Ralph, J. F.; Kok, P.; Dunningham, J. A. Local versus Global Strategies in Multiparameter Estimation. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2016**, *94*, 062312.

(241) Guo, X.; Breum, C. R.; Borregaard, J.; Izumi, S.; Larsen, M. V.; Christandl, M.; Neergaard-Nielsen, J. S.; Andersen, U. L. Distributed Quantum Sensing in a Continuous Variable Entangled Network. *Nat. Phys.* **2020**, *16*, 281–284.

(242) Oh, C.; Lee, C.; Lie, S. H.; Jeong, H. Optimal Distributed Quantum Sensing Using Gaussian States. *Phys. Rev. Research* **2020**, *2*, 023030.

(243) Lee, B. Review of the Present Status of Optical Fiber Sensors. *Opt. Fiber Technol.* **2003**, *9*, 57–79.

(244) Sabri, N.; Aljunid, S. A.; Salim, M. S.; Ahmad, R. B.; Kamaruddin, R. Toward Optical Sensors: Review and Applications. J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 2013, 423, 012064.

(245) Santos, J. L.; Farahi, F. Handbook of Optical Sensors; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, 2015.

(246) Yoon, S.-J.; Lee, J.-S.; Rockstuhl, C.; Lee, C.; Lee, K.-G. Experimental Quantum Polarimetry Using Heralded Single Photons. *Metrologia* **2020**, *57*, 045008.

(247) Campos, R. A.; Saleh, B. E. A.; Teich, M. C. Quantum-Mechanical Lossless Beam Splitter: SU(2) Symmetry and Photon Statistics. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **1989**, 40, 1371–1384.

(248) Fearn, H.; Loudon, R. Quantum Theory of the Lossless Beam Splitter. *Opt. Commun.* **1987**, *64*, 485–490.

(249) Leonhardt, U. Quantum Statistics of a Lossless Beam Splitter: SU(2) Symmetry in Phase Space. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **1993**, 48, 3265–3277.

(250) Demkowicz-Dobrzański, R.; Dorner, U.; Smith, B. J.; Lundeen, J. S.; Wasilewski, W.; Banaszek, K.; Walmsley, I. A. Quantum Phase Estimation with Lossy Interferometers. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2009**, *80*, 013825.

(251) Cooper, J. J.; Dunningham, J. A. Towards Improved Interferometric Sensitivities in the Presence of Loss. *New J. Phys.* **2011**, *13*, 115003.

(252) Adesso, G.; Dell'Anno, F.; Siena, S. D.; Illuminati, F.; Souza, L. A. M. Optimal Estimation of Losses at the Ultimate Quantum Limit with Non-Gaussian States. *Phys. Rev. A* **2009**, *79*, No. 040305(R).

(253) Monras, A.; Paris, M. G. A. Optimal Quantum Estimation of Loss in Bosonic Channels. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2007**, *98*, 160401.

(254) Whittaker, R.; Erven, C.; Neville, A.; Berry, M.; O'Brien, J. L.; Cable, H.; Matthews, J. C. F. Absorption Spectroscopy at the Ultimate Quantum Limit from Single-Photon States. *New J. Phys.* **2017**, *19*, 023013.

(255) Allen, E. J.; Sabines-Chesterking, J.; McMillan, A.; Joshi, S. K.; Turner, P. S.; Matthews, J. C. F. Approaching the Quantum Limit of Precision in Absorbance Estimation Using Classical Resources. *Phys. Res. Research* **2020**, *2*, 033243.

(256) Sarovar, M.; Milburn, G. J. Optimal Estimation of One-Parameter Quantum Channels. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 2006, 39, 8487–8505.

(257) Rossi, M. A. C.; Albarelli, F.; Paris, M. G. A. Enhanced Estimation of Loss in the Presence of Kerr Nonlinearity. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2016**, *93*, 053805.

(258) Rezus, Y. L. A.; Walt, S. G.; Lettow, R.; Renn, A.; Zumofen, G.; Götzinger, S.; Sandoghdar, V. Single-Photon Spectroscopy of a Single Molecule. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2012**, *108*, 093601.

(259) Lee, J.-S.; Yoon, S.-J.; Rah, H.; Tame, M.; Rockstuhl, C.; Song, S. H.; Lee, C.; Lee, K.-G. Quantum Plasmonic Sensing Using Single Photons. *Opt. Express* **2018**, *26*, 29272–29282.

(260) Monras, A.; Illuminati, F. Information Geometry of Gaussian Channels. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2010**, *81*, 062326.

(261) Venzl, H.; Freyberger, M. Quantum Estimation of a Damping Constant. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **200**7, *75*, 042322.

(262) Invernizzi, C.; Paris, M. G. A.; Pirandola, S. Optimal Detection of Losses by Thermal Probes. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2011**, *84*, 022334.

(263) Monras, A.; Illuminati, F. Measurement of Damping and Temperature: Precision Bounds in Gaussian Dissipative Channels. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2011**, *83*, 012315.

(264) Crowley, P. J. D.; Datta, A.; Barbieri, M.; Walmsley, I. A. Tradeoff in Simultaneous Quantum-Limited Phase and Loss Estimation in Interferometry. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2014**, *89*, 023845.

(265) Brida, G.; Genovese, M.; Berchera, I. R. Experimental Realization of Sub-Shot-Noise Quantum Imaging. *Nat. Photonics* **2010**, *4*, 227–230.

(266) Tsang, M.; Nair, R.; Lu, X.-M. Quantum Theory of Superresolution for Two Incoherent Optical Point Sources. *Phys. Rev. X* 2016, *6*, 031033.

(267) Nair, R.; Tsang, M. Far-Field Superresolution of Thermal Electromagnetic Sources at the Quantum Limit. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2016**, *117*, 190801.

(268) Lupo, C.; Pirandola, S. Ultimate Precision Bound of Quantum and Subwavelength Imaging. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2016**, *117*, 190802.

(269) Helstrom, C. W. Resolution of Point Sources of Light as Analyzed by Quantum Detection Theory. *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory* **1973**, *19*, 389–398. (270) Lu, X.-M.; Krovi, H.; Nair, R.; Guha, S.; Shapiro, J. H. Quantum-Optimal Detection of One-versus-Two Incoherent Optical Sources with Arbitrary Separation. *npj Quantum Inf.* **2018**, *4*, 64.

(271) Nair, R. Quantum-Limited Loss Sensing: Multiparameter Estimation and Bures Distance between Loss Channels. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2018, *121*, 230801.

(272) Ioannou, C.; Nair, R.; Fernandez-Corbaton, I.; Gu, M.; Rockstuhl, C.; Lee, C. Optimal Circular Dichroism Sensing with Quantum Light: Multi-Parameter Estimation Approach. *arXiv* 2020, 2008.03888.

(273) Nair, R. Discriminating Quantum-Optical Beam-Splitter Channels with Number-Diagonal Signal States: Applications to Quantum Reading and Target Detection. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2011**, *84*, 032312.

(274) Nair, R.; Yen, B. J. Optimal Quantum States for Image Sensing in Loss. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2011**, *107*, 193602.

(275) Greenfield, N. J. Using Circular Dichroism Spectra to Estimate Protein Secondary Structure. *Nat. Protoc.* **2006**, *1*, 2876–2890.

(276) Micsonai, A.; Wien, F.; Kernya, L.; Lee, Y.; Goto, Y.; Réfrégiers, M.; Kardos, J. Accurate Secondary Structure Prediction and Fold Recognition for Circular Dichroism Spectroscopy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2015**, *112*, E3095–E3103.

(277) Gansel, J. K.; Thiel, M.; Rill, M. S.; Decker, M.; Bade, K.; Saile, V.; von Freymann, G.; Linden, S.; Wegener, M. Gold Helix Photonic Metamaterial as Broadband Circular Polarizer. *Science* **2009**, 325, 1513–1515.

(278) Passaseo, A.; Esposito, M.; Cuscuná, M.; Tasco, V. Materials and 3D Designs of Helix Nanostructures for Chirality at Optical Frequencies. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2017**, *5*, 1601079.

(279) Collins, J. T.; Kuppe, C.; Hooper, D. C.; Sibilia, C.; Centini, M.; Valev, V. K. Chirality and Chiroptical Effects in Metal Nanostructures: Fundamentals and Current Trends. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2017**, *5*, 1700182.

(280) Genovese, M. Real Applications of Quantum Imaging. J. Opt. **2016**, *18*, 073002.

(281) Lloyd, S. Enhanced Sensitivity of Photodetection via Quantum Illumination. *Science* **2008**, *321*, 1463–1465.

(282) Lopaeva, E. D.; Berchera, I. R.; Degiovanni, I. P.; Olivares, S.; Brida, G.; Genovese, M. Experimental Realization of Quantum Illumination. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2013**, *110*, 153603.

(283) Meda, A.; Losero, E.; Samantaray, N.; Scafirimuto, F.; Pradyumna, S.; Avella, A.; Ruo-Berchera, I.; Genovese, M. Photon-Number Correlation for Quantum Enhanced Imaging and Sensing. *J. Opt.* **2017**, *19*, 094002.

(284) Bachor, H.-A.; Ralph, T. C. A Guide to Experiments in Quantum Optics; Wiley, 2004.

(285) Jedrkiewicz, O.; Jiang, Y. K.; Brambilla, E.; Gatti, A.; Bache, M.; Lugiato, L. A.; Trapani, P. D. Detection of Sub-Shot-Noise Spatial Correlation in High-Gain Parametric Down Conversion. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2004**, *93*, 243601.

(286) Bondani, M.; Allevi, A.; Zambra, G.; Paris, M. G. A.; Andreoni, A. Sub-Shot-Noise Photon-Number Correlation in a Mesoscopic Twin Beam of Light. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2007**, *76*, 013833.

(287) Blanchet, J.-L.; Devaux, F.; Furfaro, L.; Lantz, E. Measurement of Sub-Shot-Noise Correlations of Spatial Fluctuations in the Photon-Counting Regime. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2008**, *101*, 233604.

(288) Peřina, J.; Hamar, M.; Michálek, V.; Haderka, O. Photon-Number Distributions of Twin Beams Generated in Spontaneous Parametric Down-Conversion and Measured by an Intensified CCD Camera. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2012**, *85*, 023816.

(289) Burnham, D. C.; Weinberg, D. L. Observation of Simultaneity in Parametric Production of Optical Photon Pairs. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1970**, 25, 84–87.

(290) Heidmann, A.; Horowicz, R. J.; Reynaud, S.; Giacobino, E.; Fabre, C.; Camy, G. Observation of Quantum Noise Reduction on Twin Laser Beams. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1987**, *59*, 2555.

Chem. Rev. 2021, 121, 4743-4804

(291) Schumaker, B. L.; Caves, C. M. New Formalism for Two-Photon Quantum Optics. II. Mathematical Foundation and Compact Notation. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **1985**, *31*, 3093.

(292) Abouraddy, A. F.; Toussaint, K. C.; Sergienko, A. V.; Saleh, B. E. A.; Teich, M. C. Ellipsometric Measurements by Use of Photon Pairs Generated by Spontaneous Parametric Downconversion. *Opt. Lett.* **2001**, *26*, 1717–1719.

(293) Toussaint, K. C., Jr; Giuseppe, G. D.; Bycenski, K. J.; Sergienko, A. V.; Saleh, B. E. A.; Teich, M. C. Quantum Ellipsometry Using Correlated-Photon Beams. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2004**, *70*, 023801.

(294) Tapster, P. R.; Seward, S. F.; Rarity, J. G. Sub-Shot-Noise Measurement of Modulated Absorption Using Parametric Down-Conversion. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **1991**, 44, 3266–3269.

(295) Jakeman, E.; Rarity, J. G. The Use of Pair Production Processes to Reduce Quantum Noise in Transmission Measurements. *Opt. Commun.* **1986**, *59*, 219–223.

(296) Hayat, M. M.; Joobeur, A.; Saleh, B. E. Reduction of Quantum Noise in Transmittance Estimation Using Photon-Correlated Beams. *J. Opt. Soc. Am. A* **1999**, *16*, 348–358.

(297) Moreau, P.-A.; Sabines-Chesterking, J.; Whittaker, R.; Joshi, S. K.; Birchall, P. M.; McMillan, A.; Rarity, J. G.; Matthews, J. C. F. Demonstrating an Absolute Quantum Advantage in Direct Absorption Measurement. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, *7*, 6256.

(298) Losero, E.; Ruo-Berchera, I.; Meda, A.; Avella, A.; Genovese, M. Unbiased Estimation of an Optical Loss at the Ultimate Quantum Limit with Twin-Beams. *Sci. Rep.* **2018**, *8*, 7431.

(299) Zhang, Z.; Mouradian, S.; Wong, F. N. C.; Shapiro, J. H. Entanglement-Enhanced Sensing in a Lossy and Noisy Environment. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2015**, *114*, 110506.

(300) Zwinkels, J. C.; Ikonen, E.; Fox, N. P.; Ulm, G.; Rastello, M. L. Photometry, Radiometry and the Candela: Evolution in the Classical and Quantum World. *Metrologia* **2010**, *47*, R15–R32.

(301) Polyakov, S. V.; Migdall, A. L. High Accuracy Verification of a Correlated-Photon-Based Method for Determining Photon-Counting Detection Efficiency. *Opt. Express* **2007**, *15*, 1390–1407.

(302) Berchera, I. R.; Degiovanni, I. P.; Olivares, S.; Genovese, M. Quantum Light in Coupled Interferometers for Quantum Gravity Tests. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2013**, *110*, 213601.

(303) Ruo-Berchera, I. Theory of PDC in a Continuous Variables Framework and Its Applications to the Absolute Calibration of Photo-Detectors. *Adv. Sci. Lett.* **2009**, *2*, 407–429.

(304) Marino, A. M.; Pooser, R. C.; Boyer, V.; Lett, P. D. Tunable Delay of Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen Entanglement. *Nature* **2009**, *457*, 859–862.

(305) Cai, Y.; Feng, J.; Wang, H.; Ferrini, G.; Xu, X.; Jing, J.; Treps, N. Quantum-Network Generation Based on Four-Wave Mixing. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2015**, *91*, 013843.

(306) Fang, Y.; Jing, J. Quantum Squeezing and Entanglement from a Two-Mode Phase-Sensitive Amplifier via Four-Wave Mixing in Rubidium Vapor. *New J. Phys.* **2015**, *17*, 023027.

(307) McCormick, C. F.; Marino, A. M.; Boyer, V.; Lett, P. D. Strong Low-Frequency Quantum Correlations from a Four-Wave-

Mixing Amplifier. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2008**, *78*, 043816. (308) Boyer, V.; Marino, A. M.; Lett, P. D. Generation of Spatially Broadband Twin Beams for Quantum Imaging. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2008**, *100*, 143601.

(309) Turnbull, M. T.; Petrov, P. G.; Embrey, C. S.; Marino, A. M.; Boyer, V. Role of the Phase-Matching Condition in Nondegenerate Four-Wave Mixing in Hot Vapors for the Generation of Squeezed States of Light. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2013**, *88*, 033845. (310) Pooser, R. C.; Lawrie, B. Ultrasensitive Measurement of Microcantilever Displacement below the Shot-Noise Limit. *Optica* **2015**, *2*, 393–399.

(311) Clark, J. B.; Zhou, Z.; Glorieux, Q.; Marino, M. A.; Lett, P. D. Imaging Using Quantum Noise Properties of Light. *Opt. Express* **2012**, *20*, 17050–17058.

(312) Boyer, V.; Marino, A. M.; Pooser, R. C.; Lett, P. D. Entangled Images from Four-Wave Mixing. *Science* **2008**, *321*, 544–547. (313) Lawrie, B. J.; Pooser, R. C. Toward Real-Time Quantum Imaging with a Single Pixel Camera. *Opt. Express* 2013, 21, 7549-7559.

(314) Mandel, L.; Wolf, E. Optical Coherence and Quantum Optics; Cambridge University Press, 1995.

(315) Jasperse, M.; Turner, L. D.; Scholten, R. E. Relative Intensity Squeezing by Four-Wave Mixing with Loss: An Analytic Model and Experimental Diagnostic. *Opt. Express* **2011**, *19*, 3765–3774.

(316) Pooser, R. C.; Lawrie, B. Plasmonic Trace Sensing below the Photon Shot Noise Limit. ACS Photonics **2016**, *3*, 8–13.

(317) McCormick, C. F.; Boyer, V.; Arimondo, E.; Lett, P. D. Strong Relative Intensity Squeezing by Four-Wave Mixing in Rubidium Vapor. *Opt. Express* **2007**, *32*, 178–180.

(318) Brambilla, E.; Caspani, L.; Jedrkiewicz, O.; Lugiato, L. A.; Gatti, A. High-Sensitivity Imaging with Multi-Mode Twin Beams. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2008**, *77*, 053807.

(319) Tame, M.; Lee, C. Plasmonics and Sensing beyond Classical Limits. *Quantum Nanophotonic Materials, Devices, and Systems* 2019 2019, 11091, 110910J.

(320) Mandel, L. Sub-Poissonian Photon Statistics in Resonance Fluorescence. *Opt. Lett.* **1979**, *4*, 205–207.

(321) Agarwal, G. S. Generation of Pair Coherent States and Squeezing via the Competition of Four-Wave Mixing and Amplified Spontaneous Emission. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1986**, *57*, 827.

(322) Lee, S.-Y.; Park, J.; Lee, H.-W.; Nha, H. Generating Arbitrary Photon-Number Entangled States for Continuous-Variable Quantum Informatics. *Opt. Express* **2012**, *20*, 14221–14233.

(323) Scully, M. O.; Zubairy, M. S. Quantum Optics; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 1997.

(324) Pezzé, L.; Smerzi, A. Mach-Zehnder Interferometry at the Heisenberg Limit with Coherent and Squeezed-Vacuum Light. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2008**, *100*, 073601.

(325) Lang, M. D.; Caves, C. M. Optimal Quantum-Enhanced Interferometry Using a Laser Power Source. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2013**, *111*, 173601.

(326) Collaboration, T. L. S. A Gravitational Wave Observatory Operating beyond the Quantum Shot-Noise Limit. *Nat. Phys.* **2011**, *7*, 962–965.

(327) Tse, M.; et al. Quantum-Enhanced Advanced LIGO Detectors in the Era of Gravitational-Wave Astronomy. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2019**, *123*, 231107.

(328) Acernese, F.; et al. (Virgo Collaboration), Increasing the Astrophysical Reach of the Advanced Virgo Detector via the Application of Squeezed Vacuum States of Light. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2019**, *123*, 231108.

(329) Seshadreesan, K. P.; Kim, S.; Dowling, J. P.; Lee, H. Phase Estimation at the Quantum Cramér-Rao Bound via Parity Detection. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2013**, *87*, 043833.

(330) Lang, M. D.; Caves, C. M. Optimal Quantum-Enhanced Interferometry. Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys. 2014, 90, 025802.

(331) Sparaciari, C.; Olivares, S.; Paris, M. G. A. Bounds to Precision for Quantum Interferometry with Gaussian States and Operations. *J. Opt. Soc. Am. B* **2015**, *32*, 1354–1359.

(332) Sparaciari, C.; Olivares, S.; Paris, M. G. A. Gaussian-State Interferometry with Passive and Active Elements. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2016**, *93*, 023810.

(333) Jarzyna, M.; Demkowicz-Dobrzański, R. Quantum Interferometry with and without an External Phase Reference. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2012**, *85*, 011801.

(334) Bures, D. An Extension of Kakutani's Theorem on Infinite Product Measures to the Tensor Product of Semifinite ω^* -algebras. *Trans. Am. Math. Soc.* **1969**, *135*, 199–212.

(335) Facchi, P.; Kulkarni, R.; Man'ko, V. I.; Marmo, G.; Sudarshan, E. C. G.; Ventriglia, F. Classical and Quantum Fisher Information in the Geometrical Formulation of Quantum Mechanics. *Phys. Lett. A* **2010**, 374, 4801–4803.

(336) Gard, B. T.; You, C.; Mishra, D. K.; Singh, R.; Lee, H.; Corbitt, T. R.; Dowling, J. P. Nearly Optimal Measurement Schemes in a Noisy Mach-Zehnder Interferometer with Coherent and Squeezed Vacuum. EPJ. Quantum Technol. 2017, 4, 4.

(337) Ono, T.; Hofmann, H. F. Effects of Photon Losses on Phase Estimation near the Heisenberg Limit Using Coherent Light and Squeezed Vacuum. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2010**, *81*, 033819.

(338) Oh, C.; Lee, S.-Y.; Nha, H.; Jeong, H. Practical Resources and Measurements for Lossy Optical Quantum Metrology. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2017**, *96*, 062304.

(339) You, C.; Hong, M.; Bierhorst, P.; Lita, A. E.; Glancy, S.; Kolthammer, S.; Knill, E.; Nam, S. W.; Mirin, R. P.; Na Loaiza, O. S. M.; Gerrits, T. Multiphoton Quantum Metrology with Neither Prenor Post-Selected Measurements. *arXiv* **2020**, 2011.02454.

(340) Polino, E.; Valeri, M.; Spagnolo, N.; Sciarrino, F. Photonic Quantum Metrology. AVS Quantum Sci. **2020**, *2*, 024703.

(341) Bollinger, J. J.; Itano, W. M.; Wineland, D. J. Optimal Frequency Measurements with Maximally Correlated States. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **1996**, *54*, R4649–R4652.

(342) Lee, H.; Kok, P.; Dowling, J. P. A Quantum Rosetta Stone for Interferometry. J. Mod. Opt. 2002, 49, 2325–2338.

(343) Dowling, J. P. Quantum Optical Metrology - the Lowdown on High-N00N States. *Contemp. Phys.* **2008**, *49*, 125–143.

(344) Mermin, N. D. Extreme Quantum Entanglement in a Superposition of Macroscopically Distinct States. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1990**, *65*, 1838–1840.

(345) Afek, I.; Ambar, O.; Silberberg, Y. High-NOON States by Mixing Quantum and Classical Light. *Science* **2010**, *328*, 879–881.

(346) Israel, Y.; Afek, I.; Rosen, S.; Ambar, O.; Silberberg, Y. Experimental Tomography of NOON States with Large Photon Numbers. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2012**, *85*, 022115.

(347) Sarovar, M.; Milburn, G. J. Optimal Estimation of One-Parameter Quantum Channels. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 2006, 39, 8487–8505.

(348) Shaji, A.; Caves, C. M. Qubit Metrology and Decoherence. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* 2007, 76, 032111.

(349) Gilbert, G.; Hamrick, M.; Weinstein, Y. S. Use of Maximally Entangled N-photon States for Practical Quantum Interferometry. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B 2008, 25, 1336–1340.

(350) Huver, S. D.; Wildfeuer, C. F.; Dowling, J. P. Entangled Fock States for Robust Quantum Optical Metrology, Imaging, and Sensing. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2008**, 78, 063828.

(351) Huelga, S. F.; Macchiavello, C.; Pellizzari, T.; Ekert, A. K. Improvement of Frequency Standards with Quantum Entanglement. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1997**, *79*, 3865–3868.

(352) Dorner, U.; Demkowicz-Dobrzański, R.; Smith, B. J.; Lundeen, J. S.; Wasilewski, W.; Banaszek, K.; Walmsley, I. A. Optimal Quantum Phase Estimation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2009**, *102*, 040403.

(353) Kacprowicz, M.; Demkowicz-Dobrzański, R.; Wasilewski, W.; Banaszek, K.; Walmsley, I. A. Experimental Quantum-Enhanced Estimation of a Lossy Phase Shift. *Nat. Photonics* **2010**, *4*, 357–360.

(354) Slussarenko, S.; Weston, M. M.; Chrzanowski, H. M.; Shalm, L. K.; Verma, V. B.; Nam, S. W.; Pryde, G. J. Unconditional Violation of the Shot-Noise Limit in Photonic Quantum Metrology. *Nat. Photonics* **2017**, *11*, 700–703.

(355) Wolfgramm, F.; Vitelli, C.; Beduini, F.; Godbout, N.; Mitchell, M. W. Entanglement-Enhanced Probing of a Delicate Material System. *Nat. Photonics* **2013**, *7*, 28–32.

(356) Resch, K.; Pregnell, K. L.; Prevedel, R.; Gilchrist, A.; Pryde, G. J.; O'Brien, J. L.; White, A. G. Time-Reversal and Super-Resolving Phase Measurements. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2007**, *98*, 223601.

(357) Thomas-Peter, N.; Smith, B. J.; Datta, A.; Zhang, L.; Dorner, U.; Walmsley, I. A. Real-World Quantum Sensors: Evaluating Resources for Precision Measurement. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2011**, *107*, 113603.

(358) Hong, C. K.; Ou, Z. Y.; Mandel, L. Measurement of Subpicosecond Time Intervals between Two Photons by Interference. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1987**, *59*, 2044.

(359) Chen, Y.; Lee, C.; Lu, L.; Liu, D.; Wu, Y.-K.; Feng, L.-T.; Li, M.; Rockstuhl, C.; Guo, G.-P.; Guo, G.-C.; Tame, M.; Ren, X.-F.

Quantum Plasmonic N00N State in a Silver Nanowire and Its Use for Quantum Sensing. *Optica* **2018**, *5*, 1229–1235.

(360) Holland, M. J.; Burnett, K. Interferometric Detection of Optical Phase Shifts at the Heisenberg Limit. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1993**, *71*, 1355–1358.

(361) Yurke, B. Input States for Enhancement of Fermion Interferometer Sensitivity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1986**, *56*, 1515–1517.

(362) Yurke, B.; McCall, S. L.; Klauder, J. R. SU(2) and SU(1,1) Interferometers. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **1986**, 33, 4033–4054.

(363) Shaprio, J. H. Phase Conjugate Quantum Communication with Zero Error Probability at Finite Average Photon Number. *Phys. Scr.* **1993**, *T48*, 105–112.

(364) Dowling, J. P. Correlated Input-Port, Matter-Wave Interferometer: Quantum-Noise Limits to the Atom-Laser Gyroscope. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **1998**, *57*, 4736–4746.

(365) Pezzé, L.; Smerzi, A. Phase Sensitivity of a Mach-Zehnder Interferometer. *Phys. Rev. A* **2006**, 73, No. 011801(R).

(366) Lee, T.-W.; Huver, S. D.; Lee, H.; Kaplan, L.; McCracken, S. B.; Min, C.; Uskov, D. B.; Wildfeuer, C. F.; Veronis, G.; Dowling, J. P. Optimization of Quantum Interferometric Metrological Sensors in the Presence of Photon Loss. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2009**, *80*, 063803.

(367) Anisimov, P. M.; Raterman, G. M.; Chiruvelli, A.; Plick, W. N.; Huver, S. D.; Lee, H.; Dowling, J. P. Quantum Metrology with Two-Mode Squeezed Vacuum: Parity Detection Beats the Heisenberg Limit. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2010**, *104*, 103602.

(368) Joo, J.; Munro, W. J.; Spiller, T. P. Quantum Metrology with Entangled Coherent States. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2011**, *107*, 083601.

(369) Lee, S.-Y.; Lee, C.-W.; Nha, H.; Kaszlikowski, D. Quantum Phase Estimation Using a Multi-Headed Cat State. *J. Opt. Soc. Am. B* **2015**, 32, 1186–1192.

(370) Lee, S.-W.; Lee, S.-Y.; Kim, J. Optimal Quantum Phase Estimation with Generalized Multi-Component Schrödinger Cat States. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B 2020, 37, 2423–2429.

(371) Yuen, H. P.; Chan, V. W. S. Noise in Homodyne and Heterodyne Detection. *Opt. Lett.* **1983**, *8*, 177–179.

(372) Schumaker, B. L. Noise in Homodyne Detection. *Opt. Lett.* **1984**, *9*, 189–191.

(373) Genoni, M. G.; Mancini, S.; Sarafini, A. General-Dyne Unravelling of a Thermal Master Equation. *Russ. J. Math. Phys.* 2014, 21, 329–336.

(374) Monras, A. Optimal Phase Measurements with Pure Gaussian States. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2006**, *73*, 033821.

(375) Pinel, O.; Jian, P.; Treps, N.; Fabre, C.; Braun, D. Quantum Parameter Estimation Using General Single-Mode Gaussian States. *Phys. Rev. A* **2013**, *88*, No. 040102(R).

(376) Oh, C.; Lee, C.; Banchi, L.; Lee, S.-Y.; Rockstuhl, C.; Jeong, H. Optimal Measurements for Quantum Fidelity between Gaussian States. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2019**, *100*, 012323.

(377) Banchi, L.; Braunstein, S. L.; Pirandola, S. Quantum Fidelity for Arbitrary Gaussian States. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2015**, *115*, 260501.

(378) Olivares, S.; Paris, M. G. A. Bayesian Estimation in Homodyne Interferometry. J. Phys. B: At., Mol. Opt. Phys. **2009**, 42, 055506.

(379) Oh, C.; Lee, C.; Rockstuhl, C.; Jeong, H.; Kim, J.; Nha, H.; Lee, S.-Y. Optimal Gaussian Measurements for Phase Estimation in Gaussian Metrology. *npj Quantum Inf.* **2019**, *5*, 10.

(380) Vahlbruch, H.; Mehmet, M.; Danzmann, K.; Schnabel, R. Detection of 15 dB Squeezed States of Light and their Application for the Absolute Calibration of Photoelectric Quantum Efficiency. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2016**, *117*, 110801.

(381) Humphreys, P. C.; Barbieri, M.; Datta, A.; Walmsley, I. A. Quantum Enhanced Multiple Phase Estimation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2013**, *111*, 070403.

(382) Liu, N.; Cable, H. Quantum-Enhanced Multi-Parameter Estimation for Unitary Photonic Systems. *Quantum Sci. Technol.* 2017, 2, 025008.

(383) Gagatsos, C. N.; Branford, D.; Datta, A. Gaussian Systems for Quantum-Enhanced Multiple Phase Estimation. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2016**, *94*, 042342.

(384) Gessner, M.; Pezzé, L.; Smerzi, A. Sensitivity Bounds for Multiparameter Quantum Metrology. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2018**, *121*, 130503.

(385) Proctor, T. J.; Knott, P. A.; Dunningham, J. A. Multiparameter Estimation in Networked Quantum Sensors. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2018, *120*, 080501.

(386) Jones, J. A.; Karlen, S. D.; Fitzsimons, J.; Ardavan, A.; Benjamin, S. C.; Briggs, G. A. D.; Morton, J. J. L. Magnetic Field Sensing Beyond the Standard Quantum Limit Using 10-Spin NOON States. *Science* **2009**, 324, 1166–1168.

(387) Baumgratz, T.; Datta, A. Quantum Enhanced Estimation of a Multidimensional Field. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2016**, *116*, 030801.

(388) Giovannetti, V.; Lloyd, S.; Maccone, L. Quantum Metrology. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2006**, *96*, 010401.

(389) Vidrighin, M. D.; Donati, G.; Genoni, M. G.; Jin, X.-M.; Kolthammer, W. S.; Kim, M. S.; Datta, A.; Barbieri, M.; Walmsley, I. A. Joint Estimation of Phase and Phase Diffusion for Quantum Metrology. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, *5*, 3532.

(390) Yuan, H. Sequential Feedback Scheme Outperforms the Parallel Scheme for Hamiltonian Parameter Estimation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2016**, *117*, 160801.

(391) Hou, Z.; Zhang, Z.; Xiang, G.-Y.; Li, C.-F.; Cuo, G.-C.; Chen, H.; Liu, L.; Yuan, H. Minimal Tradeoff and Ultimate Precision Limit of Multiparameter Quantum Magnetometry under the Parallel Scheme. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2020**, *125*, 020501.

(392) Xia, Y.; Li, W.; Clark, W.; Hart, D.; Zhuang, Q.; Zhang, Z. Demonstration of a Reconfigurable Entangled Radio-Frequency Photonic Sensor Network. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2020**, *124*, 150502.

(393) Ge, W.; Jacobs, K.; Eldredge, Z.; Gorshkov, A. V.; Foss-Feig, M. Distributed Quantum Metrology with Linear Networks and Separable Inputs. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2018**, *121*, 043604.

(394) Zhuang, Q.; Zhang, Z.; Shapiro, J. H. Distributed Quantum Sensing Using Continuous-Variable Multipartite Entanglement. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2018**, *97*, 032329.

(395) Zhuang, Q.; Preskill, J.; Jiang, L. Distributed Quantum Sensing Enhanced by Continuous-Variable Error Correction. *New J. Phys.* **2020**, *22*, 022001.

(396) Gatto, D.; Facchi, P.; Narducci, F. A.; Tamma, V. Distributed Quantum Metrology with a Single Squeezed-Vacuum Source. *Phys. Rev. Research* **2019**, *1*, No. 032024(R).

(397) Gessner, M.; Smerzi, A.; Pezzé, L. Multiparameter Squeezing for Optimal Quantum Enhancement in Sensor Networks. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11*, 3817.

(398) Anderson, B. E.; Gupta, P.; Schmittberger, B. L.; Horrom, T.; Hermann-Avigliano, C.; Jones, K. M.; Lett, P. D. Phase Sensing beyond the Standard Quantum Limit with a Variation on the SU(1,1) Interferometer. *Optica* **2017**, *4*, 752–756.

(399) Gupta, P.; Schmittberger, B. L.; Anderson, B. E.; Jones, K. M.; Lett, P. D. Optimized Phase Sensing in a Truncated SU(1,1) Interferometer. *Opt. Express* **2018**, *26*, 391–401.

(400) Pooser, R. C.; Savino, N.; Batson, E.; Beckey, J. L.; Garcia, J.; Lawrie, B. J. Truncated Nonlinear Interferometry for Quantum-Enhanced Atomic Force Microscopy. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2020**, *124*, 230504.

(401) Li, D.; Yuan, C.-H.; Ou, Z.; Zhang, W. The Phase Sensitivity of an SU(1,1) Interferometer with Coherent and Squeezed-Vacuum Light. *New J. Phys.* **2014**, *16*, 073020.

(402) Plick, W. N.; Dowling, J. P.; Agarwal, G. S. Coherent-Light-Boosted, Sub-Shot Noise, Quantum Interferometry. *New J. Phys.* **2010**, *12*, 083014.

(403) Marino, A. M.; Trejo, N. V. C.; Lett, P. D. Effect of Losses on the Performance of an SU(1,1) Interferometer. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2012**, *86*, 023844.

(404) Anderson, B. E.; Schmittberger, B. L.; Gupta, P.; Jones, K. M.; Lett, P. D. Optimal Phase Measurements with Bright-and VacuumSeeded SU(1,1) Interferometers. Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys. 2017, 95, 063843.

(405) Manceau, M.; Leuchs, G.; Khalili, F.; Chekhova, M. Detection Loss Tolerant Supersensitive Phase Measurement with an SU(1,1) Interferometer. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **201**7, *119*, 223604.

(406) Aspachs, M.; Calsamiglia, J.; Muñoz-Tapia, R.; Bagan, E. Phase Estimation for Thermal Gaussian States. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2009**, *79*, 033834.

(407) Kim, T.; Dunningham, J.; Burnett, K. Precision Measurement Scheme Using a Quantum Interferometer. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2005**, 72, 055801.

(408) Rivas, A.; Luis, A. Sub-Heisenberg Estimation of Non-Random Phase Shifts. New J. Phys. 2012, 14, 093052.

(409) Giovannetti, V.; Lloyd, S.; Maccone, L. Quantum Measurement Bounds beyond the Uncertainty Relations. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2012**, *108*, 260405.

(410) Shapiro, J. H.; Shepard, S. R.; Wong, N. W. Ultimate Quantum Limits on Phase Measurement. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1989**, *62*, 2377–2380.

(411) Shapiro, J. H.; Shepard, S. R. Quantum Phase Measurement: A System-Theory Perspective. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **1991**, 43, 3795–3818.

(412) Dowling, J. P. A quantum State of Ultra-Low Phase Noise. *Opt. Commun.* **1991**, *86*, 119–122.

(413) Braunstein, S. L. Some Limits to Precision Phase Measurement. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **1994**, 49, 69–75.

(414) Lee, C.; Oh, C.; Jeong, H.; Rockstuhl, C.; Lee, S.-Y. Using States with a Large Photon Number Variance to Increase Quantum Fisher Information in Single-Mode Phase Estimation. *J. Phys. Commun.* **2019**, *3*, 115008.

(415) Sabapathy, K. K.; Weedbrook, C. On States as Resource Units for Universal Quantum Computation with Photonic Architectures. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2018**, *97*, 062315.

(416) McCormick, K. C.; Keller, J.; Burd, S. C.; Wineland, D. J.; Wilson, A. C.; Leibfried, D. Quantum-Enhanced Sensing of a Single-Ion Mechanical Oscillator. *Nature* **2019**, 572, 86–90.

(417) Johnson, N. L.; Kemp, A. W.; Kotz, S. Univariate Discrete Distributions, 3rd ed.; John Wiley & Sons., 2005.

(418) Borel, E. Sur l'emploi du Théorème de Bernoulli pour Faciliter le Calcul d'une Infinité de Coefficients. Application au Problème de l'attente à un Guichet. *C. R. Acad. Sci.* **1942**, *214*, 452–456.

(419) Tanner, J. C. A Derivation of the Borel Distribution. *Biometrika* 1961, 48, 222–224.

(420) Foss, S.; Korshunov, D.; Zachary, S. An Introduction to Heavy-Tailed and Subexponential Distributions; Springer, 2013.

(421) Zhang, Y. R.; Jin, G. R.; Cao, J. P.; Liu, W. M.; Fan, H. Unbounded Quantum Fisher Information in Two-Path Interferometry with Finite Photon Number. *J. Phys. A: Math. Theor.* **2013**, *46*, 035302.

(422) Boixo, S.; Flammia, S. T.; Caves, C. M.; Geremia, J. M. Generalized Limits for Single-Parameter Quantum Estimation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2007**, *98*, 090401.

(423) Boixo, S.; Datta, A.; Davis, M. J.; Flammia, S. T.; Shaji, A.; Caves, C. M. Quantum Metrology: Dynamics versus Entanglement. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2008**, *101*, 040403.

(424) Choi, S.; Sundaram, B. Bose–Einstein Condensate as a Nonlinear Ramsey Interferometer Operating beyond the Heisenberg Limit. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2008**, 77, 053613.

(425) Roy, S. M.; Braunstein, S. L. Exponentially Enhanced Quantum Metrology. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2008**, *100*, 220501.

(426) Woolley, M. J.; Milburn, G. J.; Caves, C. M. Nonlinear Quantum Metrology Using Coupled Nanomechanical Resonators. *New J. Phys.* **2008**, *10*, 125018.

(427) Napolitano, M.; Mitchell, M. W. Nonlinear Metrology with a Quantum Interface. *New J. Phys.* **2010**, *12*, 093016.

(428) Rams, M. M.; Sierant, P.; Dutta, O.; Horodecki, P.; Zakrzewski, J. At the Limits of Criticality-Based Quantum Metrology: Apparent Super-Heisenberg Scaling Revisited. *Phys. Rev. X* 2018, *8*, 021022. (430) Zwierz, M.; Pérez-Delgado, C. A.; Kok, P. General Optimality of the Heisenberg Limit for Quantum Metrology. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2010**, *105*, 180402.

(431) Luis, A.; Rodil, A. Alternative Measures of Uncertainty in Quantum Metrology: Contradictions and Limits. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2013**, *87*, 034101.

(432) Luis, A. Signal Detection without Finite-Energy Limits to Quantum Resolution. *Ann. Phys.* **2013**, 331, 1–8.

(433) Tsang, M. Ziv-Zakai Error Bounds for Quantum Parameter Estimation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2012**, *108*, 230401.

(434) Giovannetti, V.; Maccone, L. Sub-Heisenberg Estimation Strategies Are Ineffective. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2012**, *108*, 210404.

(435) Berry, D. W.; Hall, M. J. W.; Zwierz, M.; Wiseman, H. M. Optimal Heisenberg-Style Bounds for the Average Performance of Arbitrary Phase Estimates. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2012**, *86*, 053813.

(436) Hall, M. J. W.; Berry, D. W.; Zwierz, M.; Wiseman, H. M. Universality of the Heisenberg Limit for Estimates of Random Phase Shifts. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2012**, *85*, 041802.

(437) Hall, M. J. W.; Wiseman, H. M. Heisenberg-Style Bounds for Arbitrary Estimates of Shift Parameters Including Prior Information. *New J. Phys.* **2012**, *14*, 033040.

(438) Hall, M. J. W.; Wiseman, H. M. Does Nonlinear Metrology Offer Improved Resolution? Answers from Quantum Information Theory. *Phys. Rev. X* **2012**, *2*, 041006.

(439) Jarzyna, M.; Demkowicz-Dobrzański, R. True Precision Limits in Quantum Metrology. *New J. Phys.* **2015**, *17*, 013010.

(440) Ziv, J.; Zakai, M. Some Lower Bounds on Signal Parameter Estimation. *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory* **1969**, *IT-15*, 386–391.

(441) Seidman, L. P. Performance Limitations and Error Calculations for Parameter Estimation. *Proc. IEEE* **1970**, *58*, 644–652.

(442) Chazan, D.; Zakai, M.; Ziv, J. Improved Lower Bounds on Signal Parameter Estimation. *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory* **1975**, *IT-21*, 90–93.

(443) Bellini, S.; Tartara, G. Bounds on Error in Signal Parameter Estimation. *IRE Trans. Commun. Syst.* **1974**, *COM-22*, 340–342.

(444) Weinstein, E. A General Class of Lower Bounds in Parameter Estimation. *IEEE Trans. Inform. Theor.* **1988**, *34*, 388–342.

(445) Górecki, W.; Demkowicz-Dobrzański, R.; Wiseman, H. M.; Berry, D. W. π -Corrected Heisenberg Limit. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2020**, 124, 030501.

(446) Friis, N.; Orsucci, D.; Skotiniotis, M.; Sekatski, P.; Dunjko, V.; Briegel, H. J.; Dür, W. Flexible Resources for Quantum Metrology. *New J. Phys.* **2017**, *19*, 063044.

(447) Rubio, J.; Knott, P.; Dunningham, J. Non-Asymptotic Analysis of Quantum Metrology Protocols beyond the Cramér-Rao Bound. *J. Phys. Commun.* **2018**, *2*, 015027.

(448) Rubio, J.; Dunningham, J. Quantum Metrology in the Presence of Limited Data. *New J. Phys.* 2019, 21, 043037.

(449) Rubio, J.; Dunningham, J. Bayesian Multiparameter Quantum Metrology with Limited Data. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* 2020, 101, 032114.

(450) Lumino, A.; Polino, E.; Rab, A. S.; Milani, G.; Spagnolo, N.; Wiebe, N.; Sciarrino, F. Experimental Phase Estimation Enhanced by Machine Learning. *Phys. Rev. Appl.* **2018**, *10*, 044033.

(451) Cimini, V.; Gianani, I.; Spagnolo, N.; Leccese, F.; Sciarrino, F.; Barbieri, M. Calibration of Quantum Sensors by Neural Networks. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2019**, *123*, 230502.

(452) Demkowicz-Dobrzański, R.; Górecki, W.; Guţă, M. Multi-Parameter Estimation beyond Quantum Fisher Information. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **2020**, 53, 363001.

(453) Lee, C.; Dieleman, F.; Lee, J.; Rockstuhl, C.; Maier, S. A.; Tame, M. Quantum Plasmonic Sensing: Beyond the Shot-Noise and Diffraction Limit. *ACS Photonics* **2016**, *3*, 992–999. (454) Zuloaga, J.; Prodan, E.; Nordlander, P. Quantum Description of the Plasmon Resonances of a Nanoparticle Dimer. *Nano Lett.* **2009**, *9*, 887–891.

(455) Savage, K. J.; Hawkeye, M. M.; Esteban, R.; Borisov, A. G.; Aizpurua, J.; Baumberg, J. J. Revealing the Quantum Regime in Tunelling Plasmonics. *Nature* **2012**, *491*, 574–577.

(456) Halperin, W. P. Quantum Size Effects in Metal Particles. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **1986**, *58*, 533-606.

(457) Halas, N. J.; Lal, S.; Chang, W.-S.; Link, S.; Nordlander, P. Plasmons in Strongly Coupled Metallic Nanostructures. *Chem. Rev.* **2011**, *111*, 3913–3961.

(458) Scholl, J. A.; Koh, A. L.; Dionne, J. A. Quantum Plasmon Resonances of Individual Metallic Nanoparticles. *Nature* **2012**, *483*, 421–427.

(459) Gonçalves, P. A. D.; Christensen, T.; Peres, N. M. R.; Jauho, A.-P.; Epstein, I.; Koppens, F. H. L.; Soljačić, M.; Mortensen, N. A. Quantum Surface-Response of Metals Revealed by Acoustic Graphene Plasmons. *arXiv* 2020, 2008.07613.

(460) Tame, M. S.; Lee, C.; Lee, J.; Ballester, D.; Paternostro, M.; Zayats, A. V.; Kim, M. Single-Photon Excitation of Surface Plasmon Polaritons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2008**, *101*, 190504.

(461) Ballester, D.; Tame, M. S.; Lee, C.; Lee, J.; Kim, M. Long-Range Surface Plasmon-Polariton-Excitation at the Quantum Level. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2009**, *79*, 053845.

(462) Lee, J.-S.; Huynh, T.; Lee, S.-Y.; Lee, K.-G.; Lee, J.; Tame, M.; Rockstuhl, C.; Lee, C. Quantum Noise Reduction in Intensity-Sensitive Surface-Plasmon-Resonance sensors. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2017**, *96*, 033833.

(463) Hofmann, H. F. All Path-Symmetric Pure States Achieve Their Maximal Phase Sensitivity in Conventional Two-Path Interferometry. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2009**, *79*, 033822.

(464) Varcoe, B. T. H.; Brattke, S.; Weidinger, M.; Walther, H. Preparing Pure Photon Number States of the Radiation Field. *Nature* **2000**, 403, 743–746.

(465) Bertet, P.; Osnaghi, S.; Milman, P.; Auffeves, A.; Maioli, P.; Brune, M.; Raimond, J. M.; Haroche, S. Generating and Probing a Two-Photon Fock State with a Single Atom in a Cavity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2002**, *88*, 143601.

(466) Varcoe, B. T. H.; Brattke, S.; Walther, H. The Creation and Detection of Arbitrary Photon Number States using Cavity QED. *New J. Phys.* **2004**, *6*, 97–97.

(467) Waks, E.; Diamanti, E.; Yamamoto, Y. Generation of Photon Number States. *New J. Phys.* **2006**, *8*, 4.

(468) Clausen, J.; Hansen, H.; Knöll, L.; Mlynek, J.; Welsch, D.-G. Conditional Quantum-State Engineering in Repeated 2-Photon Down-Conversion. *Appl. Phys. B: Lasers Opt.* **2001**, *72*, 43–50.

(469) Sanaka, K. Linear Optical Extraction of Photon-Number Fock States from Coherent States. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* 2005, 71, 021801.

(470) Ou, Z. Y. Temporal Distinguishability of an N-Photon State and its Characterization by Quantum Interference. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2006**, *74*, 063808.

(471) Deléglise, S.; Dotsenko, I.; Sayrin, C.; Bernu, J.; Brune, M.; Raimond, J.-M.; Haroche, S. Reconstruction of Non-Classical Cavity Field States with Snapshots of Their Decoherence. *Nature* **2008**, 455, 510–514.

(472) Wang, H.; Hofheinz, M.; Ansmann, M.; Bialczak, R. C.; Lucero, E.; Neeley, M.; O'Connell, A. D.; Sank, D.; Wenner, J.; Cleland, A. N.; Martinis, J. M. Measurement of the Decay of Fock States in a Superconducting Quantum Circuit. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2008**, *101*, 240401.

(473) Hofheinz, M.; Weig, E.; Ansmann, M.; Bialczak, R. C.; Lucero, E.; Neeley, M.; Oconnell, A.; Wang, H.; Martinis, J. M.; Cleland, A. Generation of Fock states in a superconducting quantum circuit. *Nature* **2008**, *454*, 310–314.

(474) Zhou, X.; Dotsenko, I.; Peaudecerf, B.; Rybarczyk, T.; Sayrin, C.; Gleyzes, S.; Raimond, J. M.; Brune, M.; Haroche, S. Field Locked to a Fock State by Quantum Feedback with Single Photon Corrections. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2012**, *108*, 243602.

(475) Uria, M.; Solano, P.; Hermann-Avigliano, C. Deterministic Generation of Large Fock States. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2020**, *125*, 093603. (476) Cosacchi, M.; Wiercinski, J.; Seidelmann, T.; Cygorek, M.; Vagov, A.; Reiter, D. E.; Axt, V. M. On-demand Generation of Higher-Order Fock States in Quantum-Dot-Cavity Systems. *Phys. Rev. Research* **2020**, *2*, 033489.

(477) Groiseau, C.; Elliott, A. E. J.; Masson, S. J.; Parkins, S. Deterministic Single-Atom Source of Quasi-Superradiant *N*-Photon Pulses. *arXiv* **2020**, 2012.00246.

(478) Zapletal, P.; Darras, T.; Jeannic, H. L.; Cavaillès, A.; Guccione, G.; Laurat, J.; Filip, R. Experimental Fock-State Capability of Non-Ideal Single-Photon States. *arXiv* **2020**, 2012.08544.

(479) Barer, R.; Tkaczyk, S. Refractive Index of Concentrated Protein Solutions. *Nature* **1954**, *173*, 821–822.

(480) Peng, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Hu, X.; Yang, Y. Optical Fiber Quantum Biosensor Based on Surface Plasmon Polaritons for the Label-Free Measurement of Protein. *Sens. Actuators, B* **2020**, *316*, 128097.

(481) Zhao, Y.; Peng, Y.; Hu, X.; Xia, F.; Zhao, Q. Beating the Shot-Noise Limit with Optical Fiber Quantum Sensors for Salinity Measurement. *Sens. Actuators, B* **2020**, *320*, 128353.

(482) Razavi, M.; Sollner, I.; Bocquillon, E.; Couteau, C.; Laflamme, R.; Weihs, G. Characterizing Heralded Single-Photon Sources with Imperfect Measurement Devices. *J. Phys. B: At., Mol. Opt. Phys.* **2009**, 42, 114013.

(483) Bashkansky, M.; Vurgaftman, I.; Pipino, A. C. R.; Reintjes, J. Significance of Heralding in Spontaneous Parametric Down-Conversion. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2014**, *90*, 053825.

(484) Lounis, B.; Orrit, M. Single-Photon Sources. Rep. Prog. Phys. 2005, 68, 1129–1179.

(485) Aharonovich, I.; Englund, D.; Toch, M. Solid-State Single-Photon Emitters. *Nat. Photonics* **2016**, *10*, 631–641.

(486) Berchera, I. R.; Degiovanni, I. P. Quantum Imaging with Sub-Poissonian Light: Challenges and Perspectives in Optical Metrology. *Metrologia* **2019**, *56*, 024001.

(487) Chu, X.-L.; Götzinger, S.; Sandoghdar, V. A Single Molecule as a High-Fidelity Photon Gun for Producing Intensity-Squeezed Light. *Nat. Photonics* **2017**, *11*, 58–62.

(488) Grosso, G.; Moon, H.; Lienhard, B.; Ali, S.; Efetov, D. K.; Furchi, M. M.; Jarillo-Herrero, P.; Ford, M. J.; Aharonovich, I.; Englund, D. Tunable and High-Purity Room Temperature Single-Photon Emission from Atomic Defects in Hexagonal Boron Nitride. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8*, 1–8.

(489) Wang, H.; et al. Towards Optimal Single-Photon Sources from Polarized Microcavities. *Nat. Photonics* **2019**, *13*, 770–775.

(490) Schnabel, R.; Mavalvala, N.; McClelland, D. E.; Lam, P. K. Quantum Metrology for Gravitational Wave Astronomy. *Nat. Commun.* **2010**, *1*, 121.

(491) Grote, H.; Danzmann, K.; Dooley, K. L.; Schnabel, R.; Slutsky, J.; Vahlbruch, H. First Long-Term Application of Squeezed States of Light in a Gravitational-Wave Observatory. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2013**, *110*, 181101.

(492) Taylor, M. A.; Janousek, J.; Daria, V.; Knittel, J.; Hage, B.; Bachor, H.-A.; Bowen, W. P. Biological Measurement Beyond the Quantum Limit. *Nat. Photonics* **2013**, *7*, 229–233.

(493) Hoff, U. B.; Harris, G. I.; Madsen, L. S.; Kerdoncuff, H.; Lassen, M.; Nielsen, B. M.; Bowen, W. P.; Andersen, U. L. Quantum-Enhanced Micromechanical Displacement Sensitivity. *Opt. Lett.* **2013**, 38, 1413–1415.

(494) Treps, N.; Grosse, N.; Bowen, W. P.; Fabre, C.; Bachor, H.-A.; Lam, P. K. A Quantum Laser Pointer. *Science* **2003**, *301*, 940–943.

(495) Treps, N.; Andersen, U.; Buchler, B.; Lam, P. K.; Maitre, A.; Bachor, H.-A.; Fabre, C. Surpassing the Standard Quantum Limit for Optical Imaging Using Nonclassical Multimode Light. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2002**, *88*, 203601.

(496) Wolfgramm, F.; Cerè, A.; Beduini, F. A.; Predojević, A.; Koschorreck, M.; Mitchell, M. W. Squeezed-Light Optical Magnetometry. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2010**, *105*, 053601. (497) Otterstrom, N.; Pooser, R. C.; Lawrie, B. J. Nonlinear Optical Magnetometry with Accessible In Situ Optical Squeezing. *Opt. Lett.* **2014**, *39*, 6533–6536.

(498) Fan, W.; Lawrie, B. J.; Pooser, R. C. Quantum Plasmonic Sensing. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2015**, *92*, 053812.

(499) Huck, A.; Smolka, S.; Lodahl, P.; Sørensen, A. S.; Boltasseva, A.; Janousek, J.; Andersen, U. L. Demonstration of Quadrature-Squeezed Surface Plasmons in a Gold Waveguide. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2009**, *102*, 246802.

(500) Holtfrerich, M. W.; Dowran, M.; Davidson, R.; Lawrie, B. J.; Pooser, R. C.; Marino, A. M. Toward Quantum Plasmonic Networks. *Optica* **2016**, *3*, 985–988.

(501) Dowran, M.; Kumar, A.; Lawrie, B. J.; Pooser, R. C.; Marino, A. M. Quantum-Enhanced Plasmonic Sensing. *Optica* **2018**, *5*, 628–633.

(502) Rodrigo, S. G.; Mahboub, O.; Degiron, A.; Genet, C.; García-Vidal, F. J.; Martín-Moreno, L.; Ebbesen, T. W. Holes with Very Acute Angles: A New Paradigm of Extraordinary Optical Transmission through Strongly Localized Modes. *Opt. Express* **2010**, *18*, 23691–23697.

(503) Lin, L.; Roberts, A. Light Transmission through Nanostructured Metallic Films: Coupling between Surface Waves and Localized Resonances. *Opt. Express* **2011**, *19*, 2626–2633.

(504) Blanchard-Dionne, A.-P.; Guyot, L.; Patskovsky, S.; Gordon, R.; Meunier, M. Intensity Based Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensor Using a Nanohole Rectangular Array. *Opt. Express* **2011**, *19*, 15041–15046.

(505) Kaya, S.; Weeber, J.-C.; Zacharatos, F.; Hassan, K.; Bernardin, T.; Cluzel, B.; Fatome, J.; Finot, C. Photo-Thermal Modulation of Surface Plasmon Polariton Propagation at Telecommunication Wavelengths. *Opt. Express* **2013**, *21*, 22269–22284.

(506) Robinson, H. D.; Magill, B. A.; Guo, X.; Reyes, R. L.; See, E. M.; Davis, R. M.; Santos, W. L. Two-Photon Activation of o-Nitrobenzyl Ligands Bound to Gold Surfaces. *Proc. SPIE* **2014**, *9163*, 916336.

(507) Bartczak, D.; Muskens, O. L.; Millar, T. M.; Sanchez-Elsner, T.; Kanaras, A. G. Laser-Induced Damage and Recovery of Plasmonically Targeted Human Endothelial Cells. *Nano Lett.* **2011**, *11*, 1358.

(508) Altewischer, E.; Exter, M. V.; Woerdman, J. P. Plasmon-Assisted Transmission of Entangled Photons. *Nature* **2002**, *418*, 304–306.

(509) Magaña-Loaiza, O. S.; Boyd, R. W. Quantum Imaging and Information. *Rep. Prog. Phys.* **2019**, *82*, 124401.

(510) Moreau, P.-A.; Toninelli, E.; Gregory, T.; Padgett, M. J. Imaging with Quantum States of Light. *Nat. Rev. Phys.* **2019**, *1*, 367–380.

(511) Kumar, A.; Nunley, H.; Marino, A. M. Observation of Spatial Quantum Correlations in the Macroscopic Regime. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2017**, *95*, 053849.

(512) Kumar, A.; Marino, A. M. Spatial Squeezing in Bright Twin Beams Generated with Four-Wave Mixing: Constraints on Characterization with an Electron-Multiplying Charge-Coupled-Device Camera. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2019**, *100*, 063828.

(513) Li, F.; Li, T.; Agarwal, G. S. Temporal Quantum Noise Reduction Acquired by an Electron-Multiplying Charge-Coupled-Device Camera. *Opt. Express* **2020**, *28*, 37538–37545.

(514) Kalashnikov, D. A.; Pan, Z.; Kuznetsov, A. I.; Krivitsky, L. A. Quantum Spectroscopy of Plasmonic Nanostructures. *Phys. Rev. X* 2014, 4, 011049.

(515) Bozhevolnyi, S. I.; Volkov, V. S.; Laluet, E. D. J.-Y.; Ebbesen, T. W. Channel Plasmon Subwavelength Waveguide Components Including Interferometers and Ring Resonators. *Nature* **2006**, *440*, 508–511.

(516) Tassin, P.; Koschny, T.; Kafesaki, M.; Soukoulis, C. M. A Comparison of Graphene, Superconductors and Metals as Conductors for Metamaterials and Plasmonics. *Nat. Photonics* **2012**, *6*, 259–264. (517) Grigorenko, A.; Polini, M.; Novoselov, K. Graphene Plasmonics. *Nat. Photonics* **2012**, *6*, 749–758.

(518) Ozbay, E. Plasmonics: Merging Photonics and Electronics at Nanoscale Dimensions. *Science* **2006**, *311*, 189–193.

(519) Sorger, V. J.; Oulton, R. F.; Ma, R.-M.; Zhang, X. Toward Integrated Plasmonic Circuits. *MRS Bull.* **2012**, *37*, 728–738.

(520) Fang, Y.; Sun, M. Nanoplasmonic Waveguides: Towards Applications in Integrated Nanophotonic Circuits. *Light: Sci. Appl.* **2015**, *4*, No. e294.

(521) Salaita, K.; Wang, Y.; Mirkin, C. A. Applications of Dip-Pen Nanolithography. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2007**, *2*, 145–155.

(522) Leggett, G. J. Light-Directed Nanosynthesis: Near-Field Optical Approaches to Integration of the Top-Down and Bottom-Up Fabrication Paradigms. *Nanoscale* **2012**, *4*, 1840–1855.

(523) Heeres, R. W.; Kouwenhoven, L. P.; Zwiller, V. Quantum Interference in Plasmonic Circuits. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2013**, *8*, 719–722.

(524) Martino, G. D.; Sonnefraud, Y.; Tame, M. S.; Kéna-Cohen, S.; Dieleman, F. Ş. K.; Özdemir Kim, M. S.; Maier, S. A. Observation of Quantum Interference in the Plasmonic Hong-Ou-Mandel Effect. *Phys. Rev. Appl.* **2014**, *1*, 034004.

(525) Fakonas, J. S.; Lee, H.; Kelaita, Y. A.; Atwater, H. A. Two-Plasmon Quantum Interference. *Nat. Photonics* **2014**, *8*, 317–320.

(526) Cai, Y.-J.; Li, M.; Ren, X.-F.; Zou, C.-L.; Xiong, X.; Lei, H.-L.; Liu, B.-H.; Guo, G.-P.; Guo, G.-C. High Visibility On-Chip Quantum Interference of Single Surface Plasmons. *Phys. Rev. Appl.* **2014**, *2*, 014004.

(527) Fujii, G.; Fukuda, D.; Inoue, S. Direct Observation of Bosonic Quantum Interference of Surface Plasmon Polaritons Using Photon-Number-Resolving Detectors. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2014**, *90*, 085430.

(528) Fakonas, J. S.; Mitskovets, A.; Atwater, H. A. Path Entanglement of Surface Plasmons. *New J. Phys.* **2015**, *17*, 023002.

(529) Vest, B.; Shlesinger, I.; Dheur, M.-C.; Devaux, E.; Greffet, J.-J.; Messin, G.; Marquier, F. Plasmonic Interferences of Two-Particle N00N States. *New J. Phys.* **2018**, *20*, 053050.

(530) Dieleman, F.; Tame, M. S.; Sonnefraud, Y.; Kim, M. S.; Maier, S. A. Experimental Verification of Entanglement Generated in a Plasmonic System. *Nano Lett.* **2017**, *17*, 7455–7461.

(531) Nagata, T.; Okamoto, R.; O'Brien, J. L.; Sasaki, K.; Takeuchi, S. Beating the Standard Quantum Limit with Four-Entangled Photons. *Science* **2007**, *316*, 726–729.

(532) Thekkadath, G. S.; Mycroft, M. E.; Bell, B. A.; Wade, C. G.; Eckstein, A.; Phillips, D. S.; Patel, R. B.; Buraczewski, A.; Lita, A. E.; Gerrits, T.; Nam, S. W.; Stobińska, M.; Lvovsky, A. I.; Walmsley, I. A. Quantum-Enhanced Interferometry with Large Heralded Photon-Number States. *npj Quantum Inf.* **2020**, *6*, 89.

(533) Kok, P.; Lee, H.; Dowling, J. P. Creation of Large-Photon-Number Path Entanglement Conditioned on Photodetection. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2002**, *65*, 052104.

(534) Lawrie, B. J.; Lett, P. D.; Marino, A. M.; Pooser, R. C. Quantum Sensing with Squeezed Light. ACS Photonics 2019, 6, 1307–1318.

(535) Hümmer, T.; García-Vidal, F. J.; Martín-Moreno, L.; Zueco, D. Weak and Strong Coupling Regimes in Plasmonic QED. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2013**, *87*, 115419.

(536) Kristensen, P. T.; Hughes, S. Modes and Mode Volumes of Leaky Optical Cavities and Plasmonic Nanoresonators. *ACS Photonics* **2014**, *1*, 2–10.

(537) Lodahl, P.; Mahmoodian, S.; Stobbe, S. Interfacing Single Photons and Single Quantum Dots with Photonic Nanostructures. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **2015**, *87*, 347–400.

(538) Lawrie, B. J.; Kim, K.-W.; Norton, D. P.; Haglund, R. F. J. Plasmon-Exciton Hybridization in ZnO Quantum-Well Al Nanodisc Heterostructures. *Nano Lett.* **2012**, *12*, 6152–6157.

(539) Gonçalves, P. A. D.; Christensen, T.; Rivera, N.; Jauho, A.-P.; Mortensen, N. A.; Soljačić, M. Plasmon-Emitter Interaction at the Nanoscale. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11*, 366. (540) Buckley, S.; Rivoire, K.; Vučković, J. Engineered Quantum Dot Single-Photon Sources. *Rep. Prog. Phys.* **2012**, *75*, 126503.

(541) Aharonovich, I.; Castelletto, S.; Simpson, D. A.; Su, C.-H.; Greentree, A. D.; Prawer, S. Diamond-Based Single-Photon Emitters. *Rep. Prog. Phys.* **2011**, *74*, 076501.

(542) Hatef, A.; Sadeghi, S. M.; Boulais, É.; Meunier, M. Quantum Dot-Metallic Nanorod Sensors via Exciton-Plasmon Interaction. *Nanotechnology* **2013**, *24*, 015502.

(543) Sadeghi, S. M.; Hood, B.; Patty, K. D.; Mao, C.-B. Theoretical Investigation of Optical Detection and Recognition of Single Biological Molecules Using Coherent Dynamics of Exciton-Plasmon Coupling. J. Phys. Chem. C 2013, 117, 17344–17351.

(544) Sadeghi, S. M.; Hatef, A.; Meunier, M. Quantum Detection and Ranging Using Exciton-Plasmon Coupling in Coherent Nanoantennas. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2013**, *102*, 203113.

(545) Qian, Z.; Ren, J.; Zhang, F.; Duan, X.; Gong, Q.; Gu, Y. Nanoscale Quantum Plasmon Sensing Based on Strong Photon-Exciton Coupling. *Nanotechnology* **2020**, *31*, 125001.

(546) Nechepurenko, I. A.; Andrianov, E. S.; Zyablovsky, A. A.; Dorofeenko, A. V.; Pukhov, A. A.; Lozovik, Y. E. Absorption Sensor Based on Graphene Plasmon Quantum Amplifier. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2018**, *98*, 075411.

(547) Kongsuwan, N.; Xiong, X.; Bai, P.; You, J.-B.; Png, C. E.; Wu, L.; Hess, O. Quantum Plasmonic Immunoassay Sensing. *Nano Lett.* **2019**, *19*, 5853–5861.

(548) Mauranyapin, N. P.; Madsen, L. S.; Taylor, M. A.; Waleed, M.; Bowen, W. P. Evanescent Single-Molecule Biosensing with Quantum-Limited Precision. *Nat. Photonics* **2017**, *11*, 477–481.

(549) Nefedkin, N.; Alú, A.; Krasnok, A. Quantum Embedded Superstates. *arXiv* 2020, 2007.13863.

(550) Chen, Y.; Nielsen, T. R.; Gregersen, N.; Lodahl, P.; Mørk, J. Finite-Element Modeling of Spontaneous Emission of a Quantum Emitter at Nanoscale Proximity to Plasmonic Waveguides. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2010**, *81*, 125431.

(551) Jahromi, H. R. Parameter Estimation in Plasmonic QED. Opt. Commun. 2018, 411, 119–125.

(552) Balasubramanian, G.; Chan, I.; Kolesov, R.; Al-Hmoud, M.; Tisler, J.; Shin, C.; Kim, C.; Wojcik, A.; Hemmer, P. R.; Krueger, A.; Hanke, T.; Leitenstorfer, A.; Bratschitsch, R.; Jelezko, F.; Wrachtrup, J. Nanoscale Imaging Magnetometry with Diamond Spins under Ambient Conditions. *Nature* **2008**, *455*, 648–651.

(553) Schirhagl, R.; Chang, K.; Loretz, M.; Degen, C. L. Nitrogen-Vacancy Centers in Diamond: Nanoscale Sensors for Physics and Biology. *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* **2014**, *65*, 83–105.

(554) Dolde, F.; Fedder, H.; Doherty, M. W.; Nöbauer, T.; Rempp, F.; Balasubramanian, G.; Wolf, T.; Reinhard, F.; Hollenberg, L. C. L.; Jelezko, F.; Wrachtrup, J. Electric-Field Sensing Using Single Diamond Spins. *Nat. Phys.* **2011**, *7*, 459–463.

(555) Shalaginov, M. Y.; Bogdanov, S. I.; Lagutchev, A. S.; Kildishev, A. V.; Boltasseva, A.; Shalaev, V. M. On-Chip Single-Layer Integration of Diamond Spins with Microwave and Plasmonic Channels. *ACS Photonics* **2020**, *7*, 2018–2026.

(556) Kim, L.; Choi, H.; Trusheim, M.; Englund, D. Absorption-Based Diamond Spin Microscopy on a Plasmonic Quantum Metasurface. *arXiv* **2020**, 2011.04885.

(557) Arrad, G.; Vinkler, Y.; Aharonov, D.; Retzker, A. Increasing Sensing Resolution with Error Correction. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2014**, *112*, 150801.

(558) Kessler, E. M.; Lovchinsky, I.; Sushkov, A. O.; Lukin, M. D. Quantum Error Correction for Metrology. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2014, *112*, 150802.

(559) Cohen, L.; Pilnyak, Y.; Istrati, D.; Retzker, A.; Eisenberg, H. S. Demonstration of Quantum Error Correction for Enhanced Sensitivity of Photonic Measurements. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2016**, *94*, 012324.

(560) Layden, D.; Zhou, S.; Cappellaro, P.; Jiang, L. Ancilla-Free Quantum Error Correction Codes for Quantum Metrology. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2019**, *122*, 040502. (561) Shettell, N.; Munro, W. J.; Markham, D.; Nemoto, K. Practical Limits of Error Correction for Quantum Metrology. *arXiv* 2021, 2101.02823.

(562) Shettell, N.; Markham, D. Graph States as a Resource for Quantum Metrology. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2020**, 124, 110502.

(563) Ouyang, Y.; Shettell, N.; Markham, D. Robust Quantum Metrology with Explicit Symmetric States. arXiv 2019, 1908.02378.

(564) Consales, M.; Quero, G.; Spaziani, S.; Principe, M.; Micco, A.; Galdi, V.; Cutolo, A.; Cusano, A. Metasurface-Enhanced Lab-on-Fiber Biosensors. *Laser Photonics Rev.* **2020**, *14*, 2000180.

(565) Rodrigo, D.; Limaj, O.; Janner, D.; Etezadi, D.; de Abajo, F. J. G.; Pruneri, V.; Altug, H. Mid-Infrared Plasmonic Biosensing with Graphene. *Science* **2015**, *349*, 165–168.

(566) Heydari, M. B.; Samiei, M. H. V. A Short Review of Plasmonic Graphene-Based Resonators: Recent Advances and Prospects. *arXiv* **2020**, 2011.14767.

(567) Das, S.; Robinson, J. A.; Dubey, M.; Terrones, H.; Terrones, M. Beyond Graphene: Progress in Novel Two-Dimensional Materials and van der Waals Solids. *Annu. Rev. Mater. Res.* **2015**, *45*, 20.1–20.27.

(568) Zeng, M.; Xiao, Y.; Liu, J.; Yang, K.; Fu, L. Exploring Two-Dimensional Materials toward the Next-Generation Circuits: From Monomer Design to Assembly Control. *Chem. Rev.* **2018**, *118*, 6236– 6296.

(569) Mello, L. D.; Kubota, L. T. Review of the Use of Biosensors as Analytical Tools in the Food and Drink Industries. *Food Chem.* **2002**, 77, 237–256.

(570) Kauranen, M.; Zayats, A. V. Nonlinear Plasmonics. Nat. Photonics 2012, 6, 737–748.

(571) Raza, S.; Bozhevolnyi, S. I.; Wubs, M.; Mortensen, N. A. Nonlocal Optical Response in Metallic Nanostructures. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2015**, *27*, 183204.

(572) Zhan, C.; Chen, X.-J.; Yi, J.; Li, J.-F.; Wu, D.-Y.; Tian, Z.-Q. From Plasmon-Enhanced Molecular Spectroscopy to Plasmon-Mediated Chemical Reactions. *Nat. Rev. Chem.* **2018**, *2*, 216–230.

(573) Matsumoto, K. A New Approach to the Cramér-Rao-Type Bound of the Pure-State Model. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 2002, 35, 3111-3123.

(574) Uhlmann, A. The "Transition Probability" in the State Space of a *-Algebra. *Rep. Math. Phys.* **1976**, *9*, 273–279.

(575) Jozsa, R. Fidelity for Mixed Quantum States. J. Mod. Opt. 1994, 41, 2315–2323.

(576) Braunstein, S. L.; van Loock, P. Quantum Information with Continuous Variables. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **2005**, *77*, 513–577.

(577) Weedbrook, C.; Pirandola, S.; Garcia-Patron, R.; Cerf, N. J.; Ralph, T. C.; Shapiro, J. H.; Lloyd, S. Gaussian Quantum Information. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **2012**, *84*, 621.

(578) Marian, P.; Marian, T. A. Uhlmann Fidelity between Two-Mode Gaussian States. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2012**, *86*, 022340.

(579) Giedke, G.; Cirac, J. I. Characterization of Gaussian Operations and Distillation of Gaussian States. *Phys. Rev. A: At., Mol., Opt. Phys.* **2002**, *66*, 032316.

(580) Porat, B.; Friedlander, B. Computation of the Exact Information Matrix of Gaussian Time Series with Stationary Random Components. *IEEE Trans. Acoust., Speech, Signal Process.* **1986**, *34*, 118–130.